
POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Page 1 of 2 

 

 

POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
 
DATE:  December 3, 2025 
TIME:  9:00 a.m. 
PLACE: Polk County Courthouse, Dallas, Oregon 
 

THE LOCATION OF THIS MEETING IS ADA ACCESSIBLE. PLEASE ADVISE THE BOARD OF 
COMMISSIONERS AT (503-623-8173), AT LEAST 24 HOURS IN ADVANCE, OF ANY SPECIAL 

ACCOMMODATIONS NEEDED TO ATTEND OR TO PARTICIPATE IN THE MEETING VIRTUALLY. 

 
PAGE:         AGENDA ITEMS 
 
  1. CALL TO ORDER AND NOTE OF ATTENDANCE 

  
2. ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
(a) Regular meetings of the Board of Commissioners are held on Tuesday and Wednesday each week. Each meeting 

is held in the Courthouse Conference Room, 850 Main Street, Dallas, Oregon. Each meeting begins at 9:00 a.m. and 
is conducted according to a prepared agenda that lists the principal subjects anticipated to be considered. Pursuant 
to ORS 192.640, the Board may consider and take action on subjects that are not listed on the agenda.  The Board 
also holds a department staff meeting at 9:00am on every Monday in the Commissioners Conference Room at 850 
Main Street, Dallas, Oregon. 
 

(b) The Grand Ronde Sanitary District Board is meeting on December 17, 2025 at 9:15 a.m. The meeting will take place 
in the Polk County Courthouse, 850 Main Street, Dallas, OR, 97338. 
 
 

 
 

  3. COMMENTS (for items not on this agenda and limited to 3 minutes. We encourage all community 
members to engage with public comments to the Board of Commissioners.  However, out of 
respect for our audience and a general sense of decorum please refrain from vulgar, 
threatening or inappropriate language.) 

  4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA  

  5. APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM November 26, 2025   

  6.  APPROVAL OF CONSENT CALENDAR 

  7. VSO UPDATE – Brent DeMoe & Joe Bell 

   

 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

        
a) Polk County Contract No. 25-210, State of Oregon 

(Dean Bender, Emergency Management Manager) 
 

b) Polk County Contract No. 25-211, State or Oregon 
(Dean Bender, Emergency Management Manager) 
 

c) Polk County Contract No. 25-212, Yamhill County Care Organization, Inc. 
(Rosana Rivera, Health Services) 
 

d) Polk County Contract No. 25-213, Oregon Health Authority 
(Rosana Rivera, Public Health) 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                       
                              THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS WILL MEET IN EXECUTIVE SESSION 

 PURSUANT TO ORS 192.660. 



POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
Page 2 of 2 

 

 

 
  ADJOURNMENT 
 

  POLK COUNTY PUBLIC MEETINGS AND PUBLIC HEARINGS 

GUIDELINE FOR CITIZENS 
***************************** 

REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 
 

Regular meetings of the Polk County Board of Commissioners convene at 9 a.m. each Wednesday morning. Any 
person wishing to bring a matter before the Board at one of these meetings may do so by mailing or delivering 
written notice, concisely describing the nature of the item, to the Board of Commissioners, Polk County Courthouse, 
Dallas, Oregon 97338, by noon on the preceding Thursday. Unless otherwise announced, meetings are held in the 
Main Conference Room of the Courthouse. 

***************************** 

APPEARANCE OF INTERESTED CITIZENS 
 

The Board sets aside a time at each regular meeting for comment by the public on subjects not appearing on the 
Agenda. Individuals may come forward and make any statement they wish, but not to exceed three (3) minutes in 
length, except as is required to give concise answers to questions from Board members. If the subject will require 
a lengthier presentation, or merits inclusion as an item on the Agenda of a future meeting, the Board shall schedule 
it accordingly. 

***************************** 
PUBLIC HEARING FORMAT 

Land Use 
 
1. Chairman opens hearing. 
 a. Reading of hearing request or appeal statement. 
 b. Call for abstentions (ex parte contact or conflict of interest). 
2. County staff presents background, summary and its recommendation (20-minute limit). 
3. Applicant (Appellant) presents his/her case (15-minute limit). 
4.  Public testimony. Note that all testimony and evidence must be directed toward the applicable factual and 

legal criteria as identified in the record and/or during this hearing. Do not repeat previous testimony. Simply 
note for the record that you are in agreement with that earlier testimony. Your time to present testimony is 
limited. FAILURE TO RAISE AN ISSUE IN THIS HEARING, IN PERSON OR BY LETTER, OR FAILURE 
TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE SPECIFICITY TO AFFORD THE BOARD AN OPPORTUNITY TO RESPOND 
TO THE ISSUE MAY PRECLUDE LATER APPEAL TO LUBA ON THAT ISSUE. 

 a. Individuals in favor of the application or appeal. 
 b. Individuals against the application or appeal. At the discretion of the Chairman, an attorney, 

consultant, or other designated representative of two or more individuals may be allowed the 
combined time for each represented individual who does not speak, not to exceed 20 minutes. The 
Chairman may require proof of designation. 

5. Rebuttal by Applicant (Appellant) (10-minute limit). 
6. Questions from Board (discussion limited to individuals questioned by the Board).  
 a. Staff. 
 b. Applicant (Appellant). 
 c. Individuals testifying. 
7. Chairman closes hearing and announces closing of Record. 
8. Chairman announces date for deliberation and decision. 
9. The Board's decision is deemed the final decision of Polk County. It may be appealed to LUBA within 21 

days of its issuance in written form. The address and phone number of LUBA may be obtained from the Polk 
County Community Development Department and will also appear on the Notice of Decision which will be 
mailed to all persons who testify, submit comments, or print their name and address on the hearing 
attendance sheet at the back of the hearing room. 

 

 



 

POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 
MINUTES November 26, 2025  
 
1. CALL TO ORDER & ATTENDANCE 

At 9:00 a.m., Commissioner Pope declared the meeting of the Polk County Board of Commissioners 
to be in session. Commissioner Mordhorst and Commissioner Gordon were present. 
 
Staff present: Greg Hansen, Administrative Officer 
  Matt Hawkins, Administrative Services Director 
          
2. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

Regular meetings of the Board of Commissioners are held on Tuesday and Wednesday each week. 
Each meeting is held in the Courthouse Conference Room, 850 Main Street, Dallas, Oregon. Each 
meeting begins at 9:00 a.m. and is conducted according to a prepared agenda that lists the principle 
subjects anticipated to be considered. Pursuant to ORS 192.640, The Board may consider and take 
action on subjects that are not listed on the agenda. The Board also holds a department staff meeting 
at 9:00 a.m. on every Monday in the Commissioners Conference Room at 850 Main Street, Dallas, 
Oregon.  
 
The Polk County Board of Commissioners will be meeting with the Marion County Commissioners on 
December 2, 2025 at 3:00 p.m. located at 555 Court Street NE Salem in the Commissioners Board 
Room. Please contact Nicole Pineda if you have questions at pineda.nicole@co.polk.or.us 
 

 
3. COMMENTS 

John Swanson introduced himself to the Board and stated he wanted to make a comment in 
regards to him running for the Commissioner #2 Position. Mr. Swanson wanted to address the 
Board about funding uncertainty we are seeing from the State and wanted to report that there 
are over 150,000 signatures so far to petition the Transportation Bill that was just passed in 
Oregon.  
 
E.M. Easterly provided public comment in regards to him trying to appeal a planning file 8 days 
ago and was unsuccessful and explained why. Mr. Easterly stated that he contacted Director 
McGuigan but has not received a response. He is asking that the Commissioners review the 
items in the planning file that he believes are incorrect. Mr. Easterly provided them with a 
handout to review.  
 
Steve Anderson was present to provide a public comment in regards to the planning file that 
was approved last week for a transfer station. Mr. Anderson wanted to share his concerns of 
this approval and why he is against it. Mr. Anderson read aloud a prepared statement.  

 
 

 
4. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 

MOTION:  COMMISSIONER GORDON MOVED, COMMISSIONER MORDHORST 
SECONDED, TO APPROVE THE AGENDA. 

 
    ALL VOTED YES. 
    MOTION PASSED BY UNANIMOUS VOTE OF THE BOARD.  
 
 
 
5. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF November 12, 2025 
 

MOTION:  COMMISSIONER MORDHORST MOVED, COMMISSIONER GORDON 
SECONDED, TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF November 12, 2025. 

      
     ALL VOTED YES. 
    MOTION PASSED BY UNANIMOUS VOTE OF THE BOARD.  



November 26, 2025 
Page 2 

 

  

 
 
 
 
6. APPROVAL OF CONSENT CALENDAR 
 

MOTION:  COMMISSIONER GORDON MOVED, COMMISSIONER MORDHORST 
SECONDED, TO APPROVE THE CONSENT CALENDAR. 

   
     ALL VOTED YES.    
    MOTION PASSED BY UNANIMOUS VOTE OF THE BOARD. 
 
 

 
 
7. PLANNING COMMISSION INTERVIEW 

Anthony Blosser applied to be on the Polk County Planning Commission and was present 
to answer a set of questions on the record. Commissioner Pope asked Mr. Blosser to 
introduce himself to the Board and the public before beginning the questions and he 
responded with some background information on himself. Next, the Commissioners took 
turns asking the interview questions. Commissioner Pope asked a follow up question to 
question #3 and asked if he has seen changes in other states to compare to Oregon and 
SB100 and Mr. Blosser answered his question. The Commissioners continued the list of 
questions. Commissioner Pope asked a follow up question about what are his feelings 
about ADUs, housing expansions, drinking water and sewage/septic hookups and the 
impacts those are having on cities and Mr. Blosser answered his question. The 
Commissioners thanked him for his time. 

 
 
 
 
8. RECLASSIFICATION OF AN EMPLOYEE 

Matt Hawkins, Admin Services Director, is requesting the reclassification of an employee 
from an HS Administrative Specialist III to an HS Administrative Analyst I. Should the 
reclassification be approved, it would be effective December 1, 2025 and would have an 
approximate impact to the FY25-26 budget of $3,600 including PERS contribution should 
it be for 12 months. 

 
 APPROVED BY CONSENSUS OF THE BOARD. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



November 26, 2025 
Page 3 

 

  

The following items were approved by Motion under 5. APPROVAL OF CONSENT CALENDAR: 
 
 

a) Polk County Contract No. 25-204, Oregon Health 
Authority 
(Rosana Rivera, Public Health) 
 

b) Declaration of Surplus 
(Todd Whitaker, Public Works Director) 
 

c) Polk County Contract No. 25-207, Liberty House 
(Aaron Felton, District Attorney) 
 

d) Polk County Contract No. 25-208, Bicoastal 
Psychological & Consultation Services, LLC 
(Rosana Rivera, Behavioral Health) 

 
 

 
 
 
There no need for an executive session and Commissioner Pope adjourned the meeting 
at 9:23 a.m.  
 
 
 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
POLK COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

 
       

        

 Craig Pope, Chair   
 
 

                                                       
    Jeremy Gordon, Commissioner 

        
                 
         
         Lyle Mordhorst, Commissioner 
 
 
 
 
Minutes: Nicole Pineda  
Approved: December 3, 2025 



-(; . Lto

Pox CouNrY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

To:

From:

Date:

Subject:

820 S.w' ASH STREET * DALLAS, Onrcox 97338-2112
(503) 623-071s * FAx (s03) 623-6819

Polk County Board of Commissioners

L. Dean Bender, Emergency Manager

November 24,2025

Lease Agreement with State of Oregon - Eagle Crest Tower Site rols lrr (,.,ns.e,,+

RECOMMENDATION:

Accept and approve the new "Lease Agreement" with the State of oregon to allow the State of
Oregon though their Department of Transportation, Wireless Communications Section to lease
tower and building space at the polk county Eagle crest rower site.

Lease agreement includes in-building space to house electronic equipment as well as
antenna/dishes to co-locate on the County tower that is ouflined in this agreement.

This agreement also provides a way to recoup additional electricity costs that the State of
Oregon uses at this tower site.

ISSUE:

Should Polk County agree to this new "Lease Agreement" with the State of Oregon to co-locate
on the Eagle Crest Tower site and allow themlo have tower space and interior space in the
communications building bunker building?

BAGKGROUND:

Back in 2004, Polk County and the State of Oregon began a partnership to share tower
resources that benefited both entities in order to establish iommunication type equipment at
each other's locations to offset any cost to the other entity. This site sharing was topsiCed with
the State using much more space in the buildings and on ihe tower however this was offset with
significant investments to the Eagle Crest Tower site to improve the facilities by the State ofOregon. _Thole agreements have all since expired and it is time to formally sign a new
agreement that follows the published rental rates.

The State and Polk Emergency Management have spent countless hours documenting what
each entity has at each other's tower locations and have followed the rental rate sheet to come
up with this new agreement going forward. This agreement for the Eagle Crest Tower site will
generate rental income to the County of $41 ,641.10 for year 1 with an automatic 3% increase
each year going fonrvard. ln addition, the State will reimburse Polk County for any and all fees or
other related costs and expenses assessed upon the County which are attributible to oDOT's
equipment like the annual power usage charge assessed by the County each year according to
the meter readings.



ALTERNATIVE:

1. Decline lease agreement which would have a significant impact to State, County
and City residents from State agencies that use our tower location for communications
purposes.
2. Decline lease agreement amendment and look for alternative sources of revenue
to help off-set the maintenance and power cost for the Polk County radio system.

FISCAL IMPAGT:

None.
For year 1, this will generate $41,641.10 in revenue for the County. This will increase 3% yearly
each year. This agreement is for a S-year term with an option to extend for two additional 5-
year terms with the State of Oregon.



6-ZtO
INTERGOVERNMENTAL COLOCATION AGREEMENT

Eagle Crest

THIS TNTERGOVERNMENTAL COLOCATION AND CIRCUIT USE AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is

effective as of January 1,2026 ("Effective Date"), by and between Polk County, a political subdivision of

the State of Oregon, acting by and through its elected, appointed, designated or delegated officials,

hereinafter referred to as (iPolk"), and the State of Oregon, acting by and through its Department of

Transportation, Wireless Communications Section ("ODOT') each a "Party" and, collectively, the "Parties".

1. RECITALS

A. By the authority granted in Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 190.110 and 283.110, a unit of local

government or a state agency of this state may cooperate for any lawful purpose, by agreement or

6therwise, with a unit of local government or a state agency of this or another state, or with the

United States, or with a United States governmental agency, or with an American lndian tribe or an

agency of an American lndian tribe. State agencies may enter into agreements with units of local

government or other state agencies for the performance of any or all functions and activities that a
party to the agreement, its officers, or agents have the authority to perform.

B. Polk owns a tower and adjacent improvements including buildings, and related structures ("Polk

Facilities") on property it owns located at;

Eagle Crest located at Latitude 44.98325, Longitude -123.14308, Section NW % 11, Township

75, Range 4W, Willamette Meridian, County of Polk, State of Oregon ("Site").

C. ln 2010 the Parties recognized the opportunity to share resources and partner for mutual benefit and

have each made material contributions to the Site. ODOT purchased and installed a second 12'x32'

shelter ("Additional puilding") and Polk purchased and installed a 1201240 generator for the Additional

Building. ODOT trahsferedownership of the Additional Building to Polk by Bill of Sale dated January 13,

2015.

D. polk and ODOT agree the period between October 26,2020 and the Effective Date of this Agreement

shall be a holdover tenancy with the same terms as the lntergovernmental Agreement and

Communications Site Lease agreement dated October 27,2010, which expired on October 26,2020.

E. ODOT desires to colocate in a portion of the Site and Polk Facilities for its communications purposes,

and polk is willing to authorize the right to colocate in a portion of the Site and Polk Facilities as identified

in the Colocation and Circuit Authorization ("Authorized Space"), (Exhibit A), and in accordance with this

Agreement.

F. Polk has circuit use on the State microwave network for public safety interoperability provided by

ODOT as identified in the Colocation and Circuit Authorization ("Authorized Circuit"), (Exhibit A), and in

accordance with the lntergovernmental Colocation and Circuit Use Agreement for Bald Mountain

effective July 1 ,2025.

G. Polk and ODOT are currently parties to the following agreements ("Existing Agreement(s)") related to

this Site:

1. lntergovernmental Agreement and Communications Site Lease Agreement dated Oclober 27,

2010

2. Master lntergovernmental Agreement to Collocate At Multiple Wireless Communications Sites

agreement dated June 10, 2013.

H. Polk and ODOT desire to terminate the Existing Agreements. This Agreement shall supersede and

replace Existing Agreements, and their exhibits, addendums and subsequent amendment(s), in their

entirety. Existing Agreements will terminate as of the Effective Date, upon the execution of this

Agreement.



NOW THEREFORE, the premises being generally as in the foregoing Recitals and in consideration of the

mutual obligations provided in this Agreement, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

2. TERM OF AGREEMENT

The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and expires on December 31, 2031

(,,lnitial Term"), on rihich date this Agreement automatically terminates unless terminated earlier in accordance

with Section 11 or renewed by a fully executed amendment.

ODOT may request that this Agreement be extended for up to two (2) additional five (5) years ("Renewal

Term") by providing written request to Polk at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement.

ODOT must not be in default or in breach of any of the Agreement terms. Fee amount applicable to each

Renewal Term will be established at the time of renewal. Renewal of the Agreement is dependent on securing

any necessary authorizations related to the agreement or lease between Polk and the landowner or facility

o*n"r. Any RenewalTerm shall be on the same terms as the then current Term or RenewalTerm. The lnitial

Term and the RenewalTerm are jointly referred to as the "Term".

3. COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT TERMS

A. ODOT shall pay Polk an annual fee (January 1 through December 31) in the amount of Forty One

Thousand Six Hundred Forty and 10/100 Dollars ($41,641.10) ("Base Rent"). Base Rent is

comprised of the sum total, excluding the Authorized Circuit, of all fees on Exhibit A which

represents reimbursement of operations and maintenance, diesel attributable to ODOT

equipment, of the Site and Authorized Space. Base Rent shall be pro-rated beginning the

Effective Date. Base Rent shall be amended and/or prorated as necessary for revised

Colocation and Circuit Authorizations amending Exhibit A as specified in Section 8.

B. The Base Rent shall each increase annually by three percent (3%).

C. ODOT agrees to reimburse Polk for any and allfees or other costs and expenses assessed upon
polk which are attributable solely to ODOT's equipment or uses at the Site ("Other Charges").

Polk shall send an invoice to ODOT for Other Charges, if any, and an annual invoice for power

usage based on ODOT's equipment due within forty five (45) days of receipt of invoice from Polk.

D. ODOT shall send all payments required under this Agreement to the address shown on the invoice

from sent within torty five (45) days of receipt of invoice from the other Party. Any delay or failure of the
parties in invoicing ior Circuit Fee, Base Rent, or Other Charges shall not constitute a waiver of or in

any way impair the obligation of the Parties to pay Circuit Fee, Base Rent, or Other Charges.

4. AUTHORIZED USE

ODOT is authorized:

A. Use of Authorized Space for the installation, maintenance, operation, and repair of ODOT owned

communications equipment that has been authorized by Polk as shown on Exhibit A. Exhibit A

which cannot be amended, modified, or revised unless done in writing, submitted for review by
polk and signed by the ODOT Wireless Communications Manager and an authorized agent of
polk with the appropriate authority. Such signed authorizations shall then be incorporated as an

amended Exhibit A to this Agreement as provided in Section 8.

B. Use of a port on Polk's dual-pole microwave dish located approx 65' on the tower for microwave

between the Site and Northern Command Center.

C. Reasonable access twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week so that ODOT or

their contractor may perfoim authorized activities. ODOT will make a best effort to provide Polk

with reasonable advance notice prior to accessing the Site by either calling the Dan Apperson at

(503) 807-3036, or via e-mail at dan@radiodanllc.com. ln accordance with Section 22, ODOT

will be responsible for the acts or omisiions of all who access the Site on ODOT's behalf. ODOT

2



5.

does not warrant any access to the Site and ODOT acknowledges its responsibility to arrange for

access across property owned by others. Any right of access Polk has by permit, license,

easement or lease may or may not be extended to other parties.

D. Use of Authorized Space without interference with Polk, other occupants or anyone authorized at

the Site. Any use of unmanned aerial systems (S) at the Site shall be in accordance with all

applicable regulations and requires notification by ODOT to Polk, including but not limited to when

use is near or within the path of any Polk owned communications equipment at the Site.

Notification shall be given by calling Dan Apperson at (503) 807-3036, or via e-mail at

dan@radiodanllc.com.

E. Subject to Polk approval, perform or obtain studies, tests or reports for the purpose of determining

wheiher the Authorized Space meets the requirements of ODOT for use in accordance with (1)

ODOT's submitted design, engineering, operations and maintenance specifications, and (2)

applicable existing or proposed governmental approvals. Such studies, tests or reports may

inituOe without limitation, surveys, engineering procedures, environmental investigations or other

tests or reports on, and over, the Authorized Space. ODOT is responsible for applicable or

proposed governmental licenses and approvals of its Microwave System at ODOT's sole

expense.

F. lf upgrades or other changes to the Site and/or Polk Facilities are to be completed, including but

not'limited to power systems, the Parties willwork cooperatively. Upgrades or other changes will

include analysis of equipment and power that may result in required changes to equipment and/or

power sources. Should such changes be required Polk will assess and amend associated fees.

The upgrades will be completed by Polk at Polk's expense unless the upgrades were requested

by ODOT.

RESPONSIBLITIES OF THE PARTIES

ln addition to any other responsibilities of the Parties provided in this Agreement, each Party shall:

A. Agree that it will not, by its act or omission to act, cause a default under the Master Lease. ln

furtherance of the foregoing, the Parties confirm, each to the other, that it is not practical in this

Agreement to enumerate all of the rights and obligations of the various parties under the Master

Lease and to specifically allocate those rights and obligations in this Agreement.

B. To the extent permitted by Oregon law, be responsible for compliance with any and all environmental

and industrial hygiene laws, including any regulations, guidelines, standards, or policies of any

governmental authorities regulating related to that Party's activity conducted in or on the Site. The

Iepresentations and warranties set forth in this Section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other

representations or warranties provided by the Parties.

C. ODOT's Responsibilities

ln addition to any other responsibilities of ODOT provided in this Agreement, ODOT shall:

1. Pay charges invoiced by Polk as described in Section 3.

2. Test any new equipment installed by ODOT to ensure there is not interference with other

existing user's equipment at the Site.

3. Responsible for correcting radio interference problems if such interference is created by its

equipment. Upon written or electronic notice by Polk, the Party responsible for interference

will be required to shut down offending equipment and start corrections within fifteen (15)

days or suspend use of offending equipment if interference cannot be resolved.

4. Responsible for removal of unused equipment, cable and other personal property or

impiovements from Authorized Space during the Term of this Agreement, at ODOT'S sole

3



expense. Removal is expected within thirty (30) days of discontinued use but shall be

completed within thirty (30) days of the date of any notice from Polk.

S. Provide a copy of the FCC license for frequencies described in Exhibit A to the Polk, upon

request.

6. Acquire and pay all costs associated with all governmental licenses, permits, approvals or

other relief, including without limitation, applications for zoning variances, zoning ordinances,

amendments, special use permits, and construction permits ("Government Approvals")

required by any regulatory body or deemed necessary or appropriate by ODOT for its use of

the Authorized-Space pursuantto Section 4. ODOT's use of Authorized Space is contingent

upon its suitability and ODOT's ability to obtain and maintain Government Approvals.

T. ODOT will be fully responsible for and will assume all risk of loss of its equipment, personal

property, furniture, fixtures, equipment, and furnishings located in Authorized Space.

L Maintain and repair ODOT's communications equipment as authorized in Exhibit A at ODOTs

expense. Once approved, installation shall be at the discretion and option of ODOT, at its sole

expense. Such installation shall be completed as to avoid hazard or damage to the Site and

Polk Facilities or injury to Polk employees, agents, suppliers or the public. Any necessary

additional protective devices will be provided by ODOT, at its sole expense.

g. Keep Authorized Space and ODOT communications equipment in good order, repair and

condition throughout the Term of this Agreement and to promptly and completely repair all

damage beyond excepted reasonable wear and tear to the Site, Polk Facilities, or both,

caused by ODOT.

10. At the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, ODOT will remove its
communications equipment and ODOT's personal property from the Authorized Space in a
neat and orderly manner, and repair all damage caused by such removal at ODOT's sole

expense. Any equipment or other property not so removed within thirty (30) days_after the

expiration or t,ermlnation will be deemed abandoned and the property of Polk. ODOT will be

liable for all costs incurred by Polk from removing the ODOT's communications equipment

and repairing the site, Polk Facilities, or both as a result thereof.

D. Polk'sResponsibilities

ln addition to any other responsibilities of Polk provided in this Agreement, Polk shall:

1. pay the utility provider all charges for commercial electric service. Polk shall not be held

responsible for electric service interruption.

2. provide ODOT with thirty (30) day advance notice of any planned construction activities that

Polk is aware of at the Site.

3. polk authorizes ODOT to prepare, execute and file all required applications to obtain

Governmental Approvals for ODOT's Authorized Use under this Agreement and agrees to

reasonably assist ODOT with such applications and with obtaining and maintaining the

Government ApProvals.

4. Maintain the Site and Polk Facilities in good condition, reasonable wear and tear, and damage

from the elements excepted. Polk shall maintain and repair the access within its control

thereto, in good condition, subject to reasonable wear and tear and damage from the

elements.

6. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
polk and ODOT each acknowledge and represent to the other that it is duly organized, validly

existing and in good standing and has the right, power and authority to enter into this

Agreerient and Sind itself hereto through the authorized individual set forth as signatory for

the Party below.

4

A.



B. ODOT represents and warrqnts to Polk that:

1. The individual(s) signing this Agreement has been authorized to enter into and execute this

Agreement on behalf of ODOT, and to legally bind ODOT.

2. The making and performance by ODOT of this Agreement (a) have been duly authorized by

ODOT, (b) does not and will not violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation,

or order of any court, regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any
provision of ODOT's charter or other organizational document and (c) does not and will not

result in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other
agreement or instrument to which ODOT is party or by which ODOT may be bound or affected.

No authorization, consent, license, approval of, or filing or registration with, or notification to

any governmental body, or regulatory, or supervisory authority is required for the execution,

deiivery or performance by ODOT of this Agreement, other than those that have already been

obtained.

3. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by ODOT and constitutes a legal, valid

and binding obligation of ODOT enforceable in accordance with its terms.

4. The representations and warranties set forth in this Section are in addition to, and not in lieu

of, any other representations or warranties provided by ODOT.

5. ODOT certifies, at the time this Agreement is executed, that sufficient funds are available and

authorized for expenditure within ODOT's current appropriation or limitation of the current

biennial budget at levels sufficient, in ODOT's reasonable administrative discretion to perform

its obligations under this Agreement.

C. Polk reoresents and warrants to ODOT that:

1. (i) lt controls the Site by deed, lease, license or other legal agreement; (ii) as long as ODOT

is not in default, then Polk grants to ODOT quiet enjoyment of the Authorized Space from the

lawful claims of all persons'claiming by or through Polk, subject to the provisions of this

Agreement; and (iii) Polk's execution and performance of this Agreement does not violate any

laws, ordinances, covenants or the provisions of any mortgage, lease or other agreement

binding on Polk.

2. To the best of Polk's knowledge, the Site is in full compliance with applicable state and federal

environmental laws and regulations affecting it'

3. The representations and warranties set forth in this Section are in addition to, and not in lieu

of, any other representations or warranties provided by each Party.

7. NOTICES, AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES AND CONTACT INFORMATION

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any notices to be given relating to this

Agreement must be given in writing by email, personal delivery, or postage prepaid mail, to a Party's

Authorized Representative at the physical address or email address set forth in this Agreement, or to

such other addresses as either Party may indicate pursuant to this Section. Any notice so addressed

and mailed becomes effective five (5) days after mailing. Any notice given by personal delivery

becomes effective when delivered. Any notice given by email becomes effective upon the sender's

receipt of confirmation generated by the recipient's email system that the notice has been received by

the recipient's email system.

A. Polk's Authorized Representative is:

Dean Bender, Emergency Manager
850 Main Street
Dallas, OR 97338
503-623-9251

5



Bender.dean@co. polk.or. us

24 HOUR EMERGENCY CONTACT:
Dan Apperson
RadioDan LLC
dan@r,adiodanllc.com
(503) 807-3036

B. ODQT'9 Authorized Representative is:

ODOT Wireless Communications Section Manager, or designee
455 Airport Rd. SE, Building C
Salem, OR 97301-5375

24 HOUR EMERGENCY CONTACT:
WCS Network Operations Center
WirelessWorkOrderDesk@odot.oregon. gov
(503) e86-2e11

A Party may designate a new Authorized Representative by written notice to the other Party

8. AMENDMENTS
:

Except as provided in this Section, this Agreement cannot be amended, modified, or revised unless done in

writing and signed by an authorized agent of Polk and an authorized agent of ODOT. No provision may be

waived except in writing signed by both Parties,

ANy changes to equipment listed in Exhibit A shall be done on the Colocation and Circuit Authorization Form

and submirted for review and approval by Polk PRIOR to installation of equipment. Once approved by Polk

and signed by the ODOT Wireless Communications Manager and an authorized agent of Polk with the

approfriate authority it shall amend Exhibit A, replacing the previous related authorization, and shall be

incorporated into this Agreement.

9. INSURANCE

Each Party shall provide insurance or self-insurance as described below:

A. ODOT is self-insured under ORS 30.282(2) up to the limits described in ORS 30.269 to 30.273. ln

addition, the ODOT has qualified for self-insurance under ORS 806.130 of the Oregon Vehicle Code

up to the limits as set forth in ORS 806.070. Upon request by the Polk, the ODOT shall provide written

proof of self-insurance to Polk.

B. 'Polk shall, at its own cost and expense, either (1) secure and maintain a policy of insurance from a

qualified insurance company(s) through the term of this Agreement, or (2) provide similar type

protection through an Administrative Trust commonly known as City County lnsurance Services or

bpecial Districts-of Association of Oregon (SDAO) insurance. ln either case, Polk shall secure liability

piotection with respect to its operations and operations of its officers, employees, and agents including

volunteers acting within the scope of their employment or duties arising out of a governmenta! or

proprietary function, equivalent to the limits identified in the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30'260

through 30.300.

C. All employers, that employ subject workers who work under this Agreement in the State of Oregon

shall comply with ORS 656.017 and provide the required Workers' Compensation coverage unless

suctr empioyers are exempt under ORS 656.126. Employers Liability insurance with coverage limits of

not less than $500,000 must be included. Both Parties shall ensure that each of its contractors or

subcontractors complies with these requirements.

D. The insurance certificates will be located in each Party's flles and will be made available upon request

6



by any of the Parties,

10. CONTRIBUTION

A. lf any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging a tort as now

or hereaftei OetineO in ORS 30.260 (a "Third Party Claim") against ODOT or Polk with respect to

which the other Party may have liability, the notified Party shall promptly notify the other Pafty in

writing of the Third party Claim and deliver to the other Party, along with the written notice, a copy

of thJclaim, process, and all legal pleadings with respect to the Third Party Claim' Each Party is

entiled to participate in the deiense of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim

with counsel of its own choosing. Receipt by a Party of the notice and copies required in this

paragraph and a meaningful oppbrtunity for the Party to participate in the investigation, defense

and setlement of the Third Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions precedent

to that party's contribution obligation under this Section and that Party's liability with respect to

the Third Party Claim.

B. With respect to a Third Party Claim for which ODOT is jointly liable with Polk (or would be if joined

in the Third party Claim), ObOf shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including attorneys'

fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid

or piy'rOte by Poik in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of ODOT on the

one hand ,nO of Polk on ihe other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such

expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable

considerationslme relative fault of ODOT on the one hand and of Polk on the other hand shall

be determined by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access

to information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses,
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. ODOT's contribution amount in any instance is capped

io the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon Tort

Ctaims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if ODOT had sole liability in the proceeding.

C. With respect to a Third Party Claim for which Polk is jointly liable with ODOT (or would be if joined

in the Third party Claim), Polk shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including attorneys'

fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid

or p6y'uOf" by ODOT in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Polk on the

one hand anO of ODOT on ine other hand in connection with the events that resulted in such

expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable

considerationslme relative fault of Polk on the one hand and of ODOT on the other hand shall

be determined by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access

to information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses,
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. Polk's contribution amount in any instance is capped to

the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon Tort Claims

Act, oRS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability in the proceeding.

D. The parties shall attempt to resolve any dispute arising out of this Agreement in good faith. ln

addition, the parties may agree to utilize a jointly selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding

arbitration) to resolve the dispute short of litigation.

,11. TERMINATION

This Agreement may be terminated without penalty or further liability, as follows:

A. Upon sixty (60) days prior written notice, if the other Party remains in default under Section 15 of

this Agreement after the applicable cure periods'

B. Upon three hundred sixty five (365) days prior written notice by Polk to ODOT.

C. Upon ninety (90) days notice by either Party to the other Party, for any reason.

D. lmmediately upon written notice to the other Party, if federal or state laws, rules, regulations or

guidelines ire modified or interpreted in such a way that the Party sending notice performance under

'7



this Agreement is prohibited or that Party is prohibited from paying for such performance from the
planned funding source.

E. lmmediately upon written notice to the other Party, if that other Party fails to perform or to pursue the
work as to endanger performance of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, and after receipt of
written notice fails to correct such failures within ten (10) days or such longer period as may authorized

in writing.

F. !f for any reason the Master Lease or any other agreement affecting control of the Site is terminated;

however, good faith efforts shall be used to keep such agreements in effect.

G. lmmediately upon written notice to ODOT, if that ODOT fails to provide payment of Base Rent or Other

Charges outlined in Section 3 of this Agreement.

H. By written consent of both Parties at any time.

l. As othenruise expressly provided in this Agreement.

ODOT's property listed in Exhibit A, may be removed by ODOT, at its option, at any time during the Term

with notification to Polk. Within forty-five (45) days of the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement,

the Master Lease or any other authorization related to Polk's control of the Site, ODOT shall remove its

communications,equipmentfrom the Authorized Space shall be done in a neat and orderly manner,

reasonable wear and tear and loss by casualty or other causes beyond its control excepted. ODOT shall

repair all damage caused by such removalat ODOT's sole expense. Any property not so removed within

forty-five (45) days after the expiration or termination will be deemed abandoned and the property of Polk.

ODOT will be liable for all costs incurred by Polk from removing the ODOT's communications equipment and

repairing the Site, Polk Facilities, or both as a result thereof.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, Polk shall have no obligation to refund prepaid fees should

ODOT exercise any rights granted in this Agreement.

Any termination of this Agreement shall not prejudice any rights or obligations accrued to the Parties prior to

termination

12. NONAPPROPRIATION

ODOT's obligation to pay any amounts and othenruise perform its duties under this Agreement is conditioned

upon receiving funding, appropriations, limitations, allotments, or other expenditure authority sufficient to allow

ODOT, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative discretion, to meet its obligations under this Agreement.

Nothing in this Agreement may be construed as permitting any violation of Article Xl, section 7 of the Oregon

Constitution or any other law limiting the activities, liabilities or monetary obligations of ODOT.

13. GOVERNING LAW, CONSENT TO JURISDICTION

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon,

withouiregard to principles of conflicts of laws. Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim")

between the ODOT and Polk that arises from or relates to the Agreement shall be brought and conducted

solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Polk County for the State of Oregon; provided, however, if a

Claim must be brought in a federal forum, then unless othenruise prohibited by law, it shall be brought and

conducted solely and exclusively within the United States District Court for the District of Oregon. Polk

HEREBY CONSENTS TO THE IN PERSONAM JURISDICTION OF SAID COURTS AND WAIVES ANY

OBJECTION TO VENUE IN SUCH COURTS, AND WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN

INCONVENIENT FORUM. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the ODOT's sovereign or
governmental immunity, whether derived from the Eleventh Amendment to the United States Constitution or

othenruise, or of any defenses to Claims or jurisdiction based thereon. This provision survives termination of

the Agreement.

,14. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

The Parties should attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute arising out of this Agreement. This may be

8



done at any management level, including at a level higher than persons directly responsible for administration

of the Agreement. in addition to other processes to resolve disputes arising under the Agreement, either Party

may notify the other that it wishes to engage in a more guided dispute resolution process. Upon such

notification, the Parties rnay agree to utilize a jointly selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding arbitration)

to resolve the dispute. lf the Parties do not reach agreement as a result of the non-binding discussion, the
parties may agree to consider further appropriate dispute resolution processes, including binding arbitration.

The rights bnd:r.emedies set forth in this Agreement are not intended to be exhaustive and the exercise by

either party of any right or remedy does not preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies at law or in

equity.

15. DEFAULT AND REMEDTES

A. The following shall be deemed a default by ODOT and a breach of this Agreement:

1. Non-payment of amounts invoiced if such remains unpaid for more than thirty (30) days after
,the date of written notice from Polk of such failure to pay.

2. Fallure to perform, and/or to correct such failures, of any other term or condition under this

Agreement within forty-five (45) days after the date of written notice from Polk, or such longer
period as Polk may authorize in writing.

3. lf ODOT remains in default beyond any applicable cure period.

4. Any representation, warranty or statement made by ODOT in this Agreement or in any

documents or reports relied upon by Polk is proven untrue in any material respect.

5. ODOT (a) applies for or consents to the appointment of, or taking of possession by, a receiver,

custodian, trustee, or liquidator of itself or all of its property, (b) admits in writing its inability,

or is generally unable, to pay its debts as they become due, (c) makes a general assignment

for the benefit of its creditors, (d) is adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, (e) commences a

voluntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect), (f) files a
petition seeking to take advantage of any other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency,

reorganization, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of debts, (g) fails to controvert in a

timely and appropriate manner, or acquiesces in writing to, any petition filed against it in an

involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code, or (h) takes any action for the purpose of

effecting any of the foregoing.

B. The following shall be deemed a default by Polk and a breach of this Agreement:

1. Polk fails to perform, observe or discharge any of its covenants, agreements, or obligations

under this Agreement within forty-five (45) days after the date of written notice from ODOT'

2. lf Polk remains in default beyond any applicable cure period.

3. Any representation, warranty or statement made by Polk in this Agreement or in any

documents or reports relied upon by ODOT is untrue in any material respect.

C. ln the event a Par1y is in default, the other Party may, at its option, pursue any or all of the

remedies available to it under this Agreement and at law or in equity, including, but not limited to:

1. Termination of this Agreement.

2. lnitiation of an action or proceeding for damages, specific performance, or declaratory or

injunctive relief related to the Project or Site.

3. These remedies are cumulative to the extent the remedies are not inconsistent, and Parties

may pursue any remedy or remedies singly, collectively, successively or in any order

whatsoever.

The rights and remedies set forth in this Agreement are not intended to be exhaustive and the exercise by

eitherFarg of any right or remedy does not preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies at law or in

equity.

9



This provision suryives termination ol the Agreement.

16. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

EXCEPT FOR LIABILITY ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO SECTION 10, NEITHER PARry WILL BE

LIABLE FOR INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL , OR OTHER INDIRECT DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR

RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE LIABILIry CLAIM IS BASED IN

CoNTRACT, TORT (|NCLUD|NG NEGLTGENCE), STRICT LlABlLlry, PRODUCT LlABlLlrY OR

OTHERWISE. NEITHER PARry WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES OF ANY SORT ARISING
SOLELY FROM THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TERMS.

17. SURVIVAL

All rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement will cease upon termination of this Agreement,

other than the rights and obligations arising under Sections 6, 9, 10, 11, 12,1 3, 15, 17 and 21 hereof and those
rights and obligations that by their express terms survive termination of this Agreement; provided, however,

that termination of this'Agreement will not prejudice any rights or obligations accrued to the Parlies under this

Agreement prior to termination.

18. OPTION TO PURCHASE / RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL

Polk agrees that if Polk abandons the Site, or decides to sell the property on which the Site is located,
and/or the tower(s), buildings or other improvements on the Site, County shall offer the land, tower(s),
building(s) or other improvcments to ODOT at the then current fair market value of the property or
improvements. The then current fair market value of the land, towers(s), building(s) or other
improvements must be supported by an independent third-party appraisal. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, if Polk abandons the Site or decides to sell the Additional Building, Polk shall transfer
ownership of the Additional Building to ODOT at no cost to ODOT.

19. SEVERABILITY

The Parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction

to be illegal oi in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions will not be affected,

and the rights and obligations of the Parties will be construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not contain

the particular term or provision held to be invalid.

20. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts all of which when taken together shall constitute

one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories to the same

counterpart. Each copy of this Agreement so executed shallconstitute an original. This provision survives

termination of the Agreement.

21. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The Parties shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, regulations, executive orders and ordinances

applicable to the work under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions of ORS 2798.220,

2798.225, 279P..230, 279P.235 and 279B..270 incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Parties expressly agree to comply with (i) Title Vl of Civil

Rights Act of igO+; (ii) Title V and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973; (iii) the Americans with

Diiabilities Act of 1990, as amended, and ORS 659A.142; (iv) all regulations and administrative rules

established pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (iv) all regulations and administrative rules established

pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other applicable requirements of federal and state civil rights and

rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations.

l0



22. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

The parties agree and acknowledge that their relationship is that of independent contracting parties and that

Polk is not an-bfficer, employee, oi agent of the State of Oregon as those terms are used in ORS 30.265 or

otherwise. Each Party shall remain solely responsible for its own employees and related benefits. At no time

will Polk's employees who provide services under this Agreement be considered an employee of ODOT, nor

will any ODOi employee who prwides services under this Agreement be considered an employee of Polk.

23. CONTRATORS

A. Polk shall require its contracto(s) and subcontractor(s) that are not units of local government as

defined in ORS 190,003, if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the State of Oregon,

Oregon'Transportation Commission and its members, Department of Transportation and its

officers, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages,

losses,,or expenses, including attorneys' fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in

ORS 30.260, caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts

or omissions of Polk's contractor or any of the officers, agents, employees or subcontractors of
the contraotor ("Claims"). lt is the specific intention of the Parties that State shall, in all instances,

except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the State, be

indemnified by the contractor and subcontractor from and against any and all Claims.

B. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Polk's contractor and subcontractor nor

any,attorney engaged by Polkrs contractor and subcontractor shall defend any claim in the name

of ifre State of-Oregon or any agenoy of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal

representative of ttrJstate of OreEon or any of its agencies, without the prior written consent of

the Oregon Attorney General. The State of Oregon may, at any time at its election assume its

own de6nse and settlement in the event that it determines that Polk's contractor is prohibited

from defending the State of Oregon, or that Polk's contractor is not adequately defending the

State of Oregon's interests, or that an important governmental principle is at issue or that it is in
the best intelests of the State of Oregon to do so. The State of Oregon reserves all rights to
pursue claims it may have against Polk's contractor if the State of Oregon elects to assume its

own defense.

C. ODOT may contract any portion of installation, maintenance or repair of its colocated

communicaiions equipment contemplated by this Agreement to an approved entity competent to
perform such work. lf either Party's communications equipment is damaged or disrupted by a
ifrird party permitted at the Site by the other Party ("Authorizing Party"), the Authorizing Party

shall: (a) require the third party to indemnify the other Party for the work performed by the third

party; (b; ensure the third party is insured for the contractual indemnity required hereunder; and
(c) 6ause the third party to mitigate the damages or disruption and ensure the equipment is

restored to its condition prior to the damage or disruption.

24. FORCE MAJEURE

Neither party is responsible for any failure to perform or any delay in performance of any obligations under this

Agreement 
-caused 

by fire, civil unrest, labor unrest, natural causes, or war, which is beyond that Party's

rJasonable control. Each Party shall, howeVer; ffiok€ all reasonable efforts to remove or eliminate such cause

of failure to perform or delay in performance and shall, upon the cessation of the cause, diligently pursue

performance of its obligations under this Agreement. ODOT may terminate this Agreement upon written notice

to polk after reasonabiy determining that the failure or delay will likely prevent successful performance of this

Agreement.

25. RECORDS MAINTENANCE AND ACCESS

Each party shall maintain allfinancial records relating to this Agreement in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles. ln addition, the Parties shall maintain any other records, books, documents, papers,

plans, rec6rds of.shipments and payments and writings of the Parties, whether in paper, electronic or other

ll



form, that are pertinent to this Agreement in such a manner as to clearly document the Parties performance.

Allfinancial records, books, documents, papers, plans, records of shipments and payments, writings and other

records of the parties, whether in paper, electronic or other form, that are pertinent to this Agreement, are

collectively referred to as "Records."

Each party acknowledges and agrees that ODOT and the Oregon Secretary of. State's Office, the federal

gou"rnrent, and their duly auth-orized representatives shall have access to all Records specific to this

Agreement ior the purpose bf making audit, examination and make excerpts and transcripts. The Parties shall

relain and keep accessible all Records for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required

by applicablellaw, following final payment, completion of Project, and/or termination of this Agreement as

abptilbOte, or until the coiclusion of any audit, controversy or litigation arising out of or related to this

ngi""r"nt, whichever date is later. Subjeit to foregoing minimum records retention requirement, ODOT shall

miintain Records in accordance with the records retention schedules set forth in OAR Chapter 166.

26. INTENDED BENEFICIARIES
polk and ODOT are the only parties to this Agreement and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms.

Nothing in this Agreement piovides, is intended to provide, or may be construed to provide any direct or indirect

benefit-or right t-o third persons unless such third persons are individually identified by name herein and

expressly discribed as intended beneficiaries of this Agreement. This provision survives termination of the

Agreement:

27. ASSIGNMENT AND SUCESSORS IN INTEREST

Neither party may assign or transfer its interest in this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other
party and any attbmpt io assign or transfer interest in this Agreement without such consent will be void and of

no force or effect. Consent to issignment or transfer of its interest in this Agreement will not relieve the Parties

of any of thier duties or obligatioris under this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement will be.binding

upon and inure to the benefiiof the Parties hereto, and their respective successors and permitted assigns.

28. SUBLEASE

ODOT shall not, without Polk's.prior written consent, enter into any subleases for use of the Site or Polk

Facilities. polk's consent to any sublease will not relieve ODOT of any of its duties or obligations under this

Agreement.

29. MERGER, WAIVER

This Agreement and attached exhibits constitute the entire agreement between the Parties on the subject

matter hereof. There are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified

herein regarding this Agreement, No waivei consent, modification or change of terms of this Agreement shall

bind either par[Tunless"in writing and signed by both Parties and all necessary approvals have been obtained.

Sucrr waiver, consent, modificalion or Change; if made, shall be effective only in the specific instance and for

the specific purpose give-n. The failure of Potk to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not constitute a

waiver by pol( of thlt or any other provision. EACH PARry, BY SIGNATURE oF ITS AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE, HERE.BY RiTUOWI-EDGES THAT IT HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT'

UNDERSTANDS IT, AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY ITS TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

30. HEADINGS

The headings and captions to sections of this Agreement have been inserted for identification and reference

purposes only and may not be used to construe the meaning or to interpret this Agreement.

31. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts all of which when taken together shall

constitute one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories to

t2



the same counterpart. Each copy of this Agreement so executed shall constitute an original

32. AGREEMENTDOCUMENTS

This Agreement and attached exhibits constitute the entire agreement between the Parties on the subject

matter hereof. There are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified

herein regarding this Agreement. No waiver, con$ent, modification or change of terms of this Agreement shall

bind either Party unless in writing and signed by both Parties and all necessary approvals have been obtained.

Such waiver, consent, modification or change, if made, shall be effective only in the specific instance and for

the specific purpose given. The failure of Polk to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not constitute a

waiver by Polk of that or any other provision.

[he remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]

('IC NATURE PAGE FOLLOWS)

l3



SIGNATURES

Electronic Signatures. The Parties agree that signatures showing on PDF documents, including but not limited

to pDF .opi"r of the Agreement ind amendmenls, submitted or exchanged via email are "Electronic

Signaturesli under ORS Chapter 84 and bind the signing Party and are intended to be and can be relied upon

by"the parties; polk reserves the right at any time to require the submission of the hard copy originals of any

documents

THE PARTIES, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that their signing representatives have

read this Agreement, understand it, and agree to be bound by its terms and conditions.

Polk County, a political subdivision of the State of
Oregon, acting by and through its elected,
appointed, designated or delegated otficials

STATE OF OREGON, bY and through its
Department of TransPortation

By
By Joe Messman, ODOT Wireless Section Manager

Printed name, Title Date

Reviewed
Date

Dianne Majors,, Lands & Administration Manager

List of Exhibits which,a{e,atlached hereto and bv this reference made a part of this Aoreement.

Exhibit A - Colocation Authorization Form

l4



EXHIBIT A

COLOCATION AUTHORIZATION FORM

l5



or Gxhlbh tolt euthorlz€d, thlr form wlll be u8ed qt I slto

requ[es aacurate,rquency inlormatlon and mdulallo0 bandwrdlhs Please 6nlacl us fo' g(ldanca il you have any queslions

Wlrele66OregonAgency NameDate Of Requeat
SE, Bulding C

oR 97301 5375Nelwork Operalions Centerlnlo

301-3209

Chek apprqrbro b(

Polk CountyEagle CreslSlle Namc

"123 14308a
Source at glte

formfulnl€FmodulalionanaIysiswillbepedolmedpriorloinslailatonolanynew
quipment which rcqu[€s accorat€ ftquency iofornalion and modulalion bandwldlhs

BoLDrsvl6lon6lfam€ndlnqaprlorau!hoilEllq!

Call slgnl (lf any) TX RX aolh Bandwldth OulPul
{watls)

WPTZ796 WOUV683 Transmlt
76S.46875
769.91875
17D.66475
770.55625
111.53125
773_24125
773.53125
773.78125
774.05625
774.58125

799-46875
799.91875
800.86875
800.95625
801.53125
803.28125
803.53125
803.78125
804.05625
80458125

1?.5 KHz 25W 134.9 W

ilPNt609 I 1215.00000000

i375.14000000

i226.89000000

1 1485.00000000

3585.00000000

3207.12000000

1 1465.00000000

Annual FeeB:

$308.48

$352.65

!308.48

$814.16

$&6.85

$897.28

$814 16

$814.16

$814.16

$234.75

$2il.75

$30,582.20

$4,61802

$41,640.10

$0.00

$0.00

ar.&0,10

lf necessary, allach additional installation delaIs,

Model Numbor Slre DeEcdptlon Leg Helght
admulh
to-36001

DS7AO8F36U-D 6.6', Omnl Dkeclional Transmit antanna 1 10'

dB SDecta D57C1OF36U.D 6.6' Omnl Direcllonal Recelve antenna 153

dB Specta ps7TMD31-S 9"x21.25' Tower Mount€d Ampllfiet

E€lipse HPX6-1078 mlcrowave anlenna lo ARC 66' 1 16.8

Ecllpse UHX6-5SL 6' microwave anlenna lo wlpper 12D 152.2

Eclipse HPX6.1O7E 6'. microwave anteDna to Prospecl Maln 142' 174

Ec'ipse PAR6.5g 6' microwave antenna lo Bald Min 70' 236.52

Eclips6 PL4-59 6' Diversily mlcrowave anlenna lo Bald [lh 50' 236 92

Ecllpse PAR6"59W 6' mlcrowave antenna lo Doan Creok 55' 214.86

Eclhse VHLP2-11W 2 microwave anlenna to DPSST 40 123.S8

MD Airmux400LP 11 8'x11 8',x3.9'
microwave anlenna lo ulegon Slale

38' 104.96

cabinols ar€ nol spacs eflrciant and wll nol b€ anowdComplelo AIi equipmtrl must be rack mounlable
BOLD revlslons {oqulpmsnt addlllons and replacements) lf amendlng a pilor aulhoilallon.

Manutaciure. Model Numb6r D!5cilpllon (Volls / Amp6)

Load
(BTU /

Aase Slallon

oower svstem wilh 8 reclifiers

C8O Technoloqies

Clrcult Typ6

Clrcutt Hormatlon -

Provlded by ODOT to Polk Co{nty - 8ee Bald IGA Elhernel

AVE NETI

Bandwldth

:UIT

HopB Odglnaling Sll6 Termlnallng Slle

1.544 Faqle Cresl Bald Mln

Dolk Counly will mainlain lhe Slle and generators

ODOT Aulhorized Slgnor:

Polk County Authorlzed Signor:

inslallatlon details below
aboul lhe amounl

NOTE.
lnclud6 power and backup

ol 48 hall a racl would lake 24
proposed equlpment. ll necessary, provide

I in use

Annual Back

Colocallon

Mllch Hodges &

batieries 6/5/25 11 rack spaces are
racks. Polk County will
agreemenl accordinglY.

wilh111512025the
81 wilhConlflnd Confkmd4t20t25 Hayden - SageonKudConfkmed ChaodlerBY: Hayd€n

44"x25.in baUerylo ODOT,Main21 80 c80 cellIechnologies sel
1 I baltery pilathe

lhelheal Shouldusage

l6



z{'Ltl

Porr CouNrY EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

POLK C UNTY

To:

From:

Date:

Subject:

820 S,W. ASH STREET * DALLAs, Onrcox 97338-2112
(s03) 623-07rs * FAX (s03) 623-6819

Polk County Board of Commissioners

L. Dean Bender, Emergency

November 24,202s

Lease Agreement with State of Oregon - Bald Mt Tower Site ,zlslrt
RECOMMENDATION:

1"9"p! and approve.fhe.1ew "Lease Agreement" with the State of Oregon to lease space at theBald Mt. Tower site that is managed by the Department of iransportation, wireless
Communications section

Lease agreement includ.es in-building space to house electronic equipment as well as
antenna/dishes to co-locate on the tower that is ouflined in this agreement.

This agreement also provides critical microwave path access to this remote tower site which is
also managed by the State of Oregon.

ISSUE:

Should Polk County agree to this new "Lease Agreement" with the State of Oregon to co-locate
on the Bald Mt Tower site and have interior lpace in the communications building bunker
building?

BACKGROUND:

Back in 2004, Polk County and the State of Oregon began a partnership to share tower
resources that benefited both entities in order to establish tommunication type equipment at
each other's locations to offset any cost to the other entity. This site sharing was lopsided with
the State using much more space in the buildings and on ihe tower however this was offset with
significant investments to the Eagle Crest Tower site to improve the facilities by the State ofOregon. _Those agreements have all since expired and it is time to formally sign a new
agreement that follows the published rental rates.

The State and Polk Emergency Management have spent countless hours documenting what
each entity has at each other's tower locations and have followed the rental rate sheet to come
up with this new agreement going foruvard. This agreement for the Bald Mt Site will cost the
County $11,289.96 for year 1 with an automatic 370 increase each year going forward. This
additional cost will be passed along to the polk County system users of ouriysiem.

ALTERNATIVE:

1- Decline lease agreement which would have a negative impact to our first
responder agencies (Law, Fire, and PW) being served by tower location by removing our
equipment from this site.



zt.Ltl
INTERGOVERNMENTAL COLOCATION AND CIRCUIT USE AGREEMENT

Bald Mountain
TH|S TNTERGOVERNMENTAL COLOCATION AND CIRCUIT USE AGREEMENT ("Agreement") is

effective as of January 1,2026 ("Effective Date"), by and between the STATE OF OREGON, acting by and

through its Department of Transportation, Wireless Communications Section ("ODOT') and the Polk

Courrty, a political subdivision of the State of Oregon, acting by and through its elected, appointed,

designated or delegated officials, hereinafter referred to as ("Polk"), each a "Party" and, collectively, the
"Partieg".

1. RECITALS

A. By the authority granted in Oregon Revised Statute (ORS) 190.110 and 283.110, a unit of local
government or a state agency of this state may cooperate for any lawful purpose, by agreement or

otherwise, with a unit of local government or a state agency of this or another state, or with the

United States, or with a United States governmental agency, or with an American lndian tribe or an

agency of an American lndian tribe. State agencies may enter into agreements with units of local
government or other state agencies for the performance of any or all functions and activities that a
party to,the agreement, its officers, or agents have the authority to perform..

B. ODOT owns a tower and adjacent improvements including buildings, and related structures ("ODOT

Facilities") on property it leases from Hampton Lumber ("Hampton") ("Master Lease") located at;

Bald Mountain located at Latitude 44.797100, Longitude 123.543170 Section SEyo, Section 9,

Township 9 South, Range 7 West, Willamette Meridian, County of Polk, State of Oregon ("Site").

C. Polk desires to colocate in a portion of the Site and ODOT Facilities for its communications purposes,

and ODOT is willing to authorize the right to colocate in a portion of the Site and ODOT Facilities

("Authorized Spacet) as identified in the Colocation and Circuit Authorization, (Exhibit A), and in

accordance with this Agreement.

D. Polk desires circuit use on the State microwave network for public safety interoperability and ODOT is

wilting to provide this circuit use as identified in the Colocation and Circuit Authorization ("Authorized

Circuit"), (ExhibitA), and in accordance with this Agreement.

E. ODOT and Polk are currently parties to the following agreements ("Existing Agreement(s)") related to

this Site:

1. lntergovernmentalAgreement and Site Lease Agreement dated October 27,2010.

2. Master lntergovernmental Agreement to Collocate At Multiple Wireless Communications Sites

agreement dated June 10,2013.

F. ODOT and Polk desire to terminate the Existing Agreements. This Agreement shall supersede and

replace Existing Agreements, and their exhibits, addendums and subsequent amendment(s), in their

entirety. Existing Agreements will terminate as of the Effective Date, upon the execution of this

Agreement.

NOW THEREFORE, the premises being generally as in the foregoing Recitals and in consideration of the

mutual obligations provided in this Agreement, the Parties hereby agree as follows:

2. TERM OF AGREEMENT

The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and expires on December 31,2031
("lnitial Term"), on which date this Agreement automatically terminates unless terminated earlier in accordance

with Section 11 or renewed by a fully executed amendment.

Polk may request that this Agreement be extended for up to two (2) additional five (5) year lerms ("Renewal

Term") by providing written request to ODOT at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement.



polk must not be in default or in breach of any of the Agreement terms. Fee amount applicable to each Renewal

Term will be established at the time of renewal based on current ODOT rates. Renewal of the Agreement is

dependent on securing any necessary authorizations related to the agreement or lease between ODOT and

the landowner or faciliiy owner. Any Renewal Term shall be on the same terms as the then current Term or

Renewal Term. The lnitial Term and the Renewal Term are jointly referred to as the "Term".

Notwithstanding the Term of this Agreement, the authorization for Polk's equipment in ODOT Facilities at the

Site, and allthe rights of the Parties under it are subject and subordinate to the Master Lease.

3. COMPENSATION AND PAYMENT TERMS

A. Polk shall pay ODOT an annual fee (January 1 through December 31) in the amount of Seven

Thousand Seven Hundred Seventy Five and 441100 Dollars ($7,775.44) ("Base Rent"). Base

Rent is comprised of the sum total, excluding the Authorized Circuit, of all fees on Exhibit A which

represents reimbursement of operations and maintenance, including electricity and diesel

attributable to Polk equipment, of the Site and Authorized Space. Base Rent shall be pro-rated

beginning the Effective Date. Base Rent shall be amended and/or prorated as necessary for
revised Colocation and Circuit Authorizations amending Exhibit A as specified in Section 8.

B. Polk shall pay ODOT an annual fee (January 1 through December 31) for use of Authorized Circuit

in the amount of Three Thousand Five Hundred Fourteen and 521100 Dollars ($3,514.52) ("Circuit

Fee"). The Circuit Fee shall be pro-rated beginning the first day of the month following the

Effective Date. The Circuit Fee shall be amended and/or prorated as necessary for revised

Colocation and Circuit Authorizations amending Exhibit A as specified in Section 8.

C. The Base Rent and Circuit Fee annualtotal shall be Eleven Thousand Two Hundred Eighty Nine

and g6/100 Dollars ($1 1,289.96) and each shall increase annually by three percent (3%).

D. Polk agrees to reimburse ODOT for any and allfees or other costs and expenses assessed upon

ODOfwhich are attributable solely to Polk's equipment or uses at the Site ("Other Charges")'

ODOT shall send an invoice to Polk for Other Charges, if any, due and owing within forty five (45)

days of receipt of invoice from ODOT.

E. Polk shall send all payments required under this Agreement to the address shown on the invoice from

ODOTand sent within forty five (45) days of receipt of invoice. Any delay or failure of the Polk in

invoicing for Circuit Fee, Base Rent, or Other Charges shall not constitute a waiver of or in any way

impair the obligation of the Polk to pay Circuit Fee, Base Rent, or Other Charges.

4. AUTHORIZED USE

Pursuant to the Master Lease, Polk is authorized:

A. Use of Authorized Space for the installation, maintenance, operation, and repair of Polk owned

communications equipment and use of the Authorized Circuit to support its public safety wireless

communications that has been authorized by ODOT as shown on Exhibit A. Exhibit A cannot be

amended, modified, or revised unless done in writing, submitted for review by ODOT and signed

by the ODOT Wireless Communications Manager and an authorized agent of Polk with the

appropriate authority. Such signed authorizations shall then be incorporated as an amended

Exhibit A to this Agreement as provided in Section 8'

B. Authorized Circuit does not constitute an assignment or transfer of ODOT microwave licenses. The

Authorized Circuit is subject to the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and

regulations of the Federal Communications Commission ("FCC").

C. Reasonable access twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week so that Polk or their

contractor may perform authorized activities. Polk will make a best effort to provide ODOT with

reasonable advance notice prior to accessing the Site by either calling the Network Operations

Center at (503) 986-2911, or via e-mail at WirelessWorkOrderDesk@odot.oregon.gov. ln

accordance with Section 22, Polk will be responsible for the acts or omissions of all who access

2



5.

the Site on polk's behalf. ODOT does not warrant any access to the Site and Polk acknowledges

its responsibility to arrange for access across property owned by others. Any right of access

ODOT has by permit, lice-nse, easement or lease may or may not be extended to other parties'

D. Use of Authorized Space without interference with ODOT, other occupants or anyone authorized- 
at the Site, Any use of unmanned aerial systems (UAS) at the Site shall be in accordance with

all applicable regulations and requires notiiication by Polk to ODOT, including but not limite_d to

when use is n"ui or within the paih of any ODOT owned communications equipment at the Site.

Notification shall be given by calling the Network Operations Center at (503) 986-2911, or via e-

mail at WirelessWorkOrderDesk@odot.oreqon.qov.

E. Subject to ODOT approval, perform or obtain studies, tests or reports for the purpose of

determining whether ihe Authorized Space meets the requirements of Polk for use in accordance

with (1) pol-k's submitted design, engineering, operations and maintenance specifications, and (2)

apptitante existing or propoied governmental approvals. Such studies, tests or reports may

inctuOe without limitation, surveys, engineering procedures, environmental investigations or other

tests or reports on, and over, the Authorized Space. Polk is responsible for applicable or proposed

governmental licenses and approvals of its Microwave System at Polk's sole expense.

F. lf upgrades or other changes to the Site and/or ODOT Facilities are to be completed, including

but:nbt limited to power syltems, the Parties will work cooperatively. Upgrades or other changes

will include analysis of equipment and power that may result in required changes to equipment

and/or power rburces. 
.should 

such changes be required OD9]_will assess and amend

associated fees. The upgrades will be completed by ODOT at ODOT's expense unless the

upgrades were requested bY Polk.

RESPONSIBLITIES OF THE PARTIES

ln addition to any other responsibilities of the Parties provided in this Agreement, each Party shall:

A. Agree that it will not, by its act or omission to act, cause a default under the Master Lease. ln

fu-rtherance of the foiegoing, the Parties confirm, each to the other, that it is not practical in this

Agreement to enumerate all of the rights and obligations of the various parties under the Master

LJase and to specifically allocate those rights and obligations in this Agreement.

B. To the extent permitted by Oregon law, be responsible for compliance with any and all environmental

and industrial hygiene liws, including any regulations, guidelines, standards, or policies of 9ny
governmental aitlhorities regulating retated to that Party's activity conducted in or on the Site. The

iepresentations and warranties set torttr in this Section are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other

representations or warranties provided by the Parties.

C. Polk's Responsibilities

ln addition to any other responsibilities of Polk provided in this Agreement, Polk shall:

1. Use the Authorized Space in compliance with the terms and conditions in the Master Lease (Exhibit

D) as it maY be amended.

2. Pay charges invoiced by ODOT as described in Section 3'

3. Comply with Oregon Department of Transportation Wireless Communications Section -

Communication Slte Antenna and Tower Mounted equipment lnstallation Standards (Exhibit

B) the ODOT WCS Site Shelter Equipment lnstallation Standards (Exhibit C), , as may be

amended, and test any new equipment installed by Polk to ensure there is not interference

with other existing user's equipment at the Site.

4. Restrict use of the Authorized Circuit to permissible activities allowed under FCC rules.

S. provide a copy of the FCC license for frequencies described in Exhibit A to the ODOT, upon

request.

3



O. Responsible for correcting radio interference problems if such interference is created by its

equipment. Upon written or electronic notice by ODOT, the Polk will be required to shut

down offending equipment and start corrections within fifteen (15) days or suspend use of

offending equipment if interference cannot be resolved.

7. Responsible for removal of unused equipment, cable and other personal property or

impiovements from Authorized Space during the Term of this Agreement, at Polk's sole

expense. Removal is expected within thirty (30) days of discontinued use but shall be

completed within thirty (30) days of the date of any notice from oDoT.

8. Acquire and pay all costs:associated with all governmental licenses, permits, approvals or

other relief, including without limitation, applications for zoning variances, zoning ordinances,

amendments, special use permits, and construction permits ("Government Approvals")

required by any iegulatory body or deemed necessary or appropriate by Polk for its use of the

Auihorized Space pursuant to Section 4. Polk's use of Authorized Space is contingent upon

its suitability and Polk's ability to obtain and maintain Government Approvals.

g. Polk will be fully responsible for and will assume all risk of loss of its equipment, personal

property, furniture, fixtures, equipment, and furnishings located in Authorized Space.

l0.Maintain and repair Polk's communications equipmentas authorized in Exhibit A at Polk's

expense. Once approved, installation shall be at the discretion and option of Polk, at its sole

expense. Such installation shall be completed as to avoid hazard or damage to the Site and

ODOT Facilities or injury to ODOT employees, agents, suppliers or the public. Any necessary

additional protective devices will be provided by Polk, at its sole expense.

11. Keep Authorized Space and Polk communications equipment in good order, repair and

condition throughout the Term of this Agreement and to promptly and completely repair all

damage beyond excepted reasonable wear and tear to the Site, ODOT Facilities, or both,

caused by Polk.

12. Atthe expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, Polk will remove its communications

equipment and personal property from the Authorized Space in a neat and orderly manner,

and repair all damage caused by such removal at Polk's sole expense. Any equipment or

other property not so removed within thirty (30) days after the expiration or termination will be

deemed abandoned and the property of ODOT. Polk will be liable for all costs incurred by

ODOT from removing the Poik's communications equipment and repairing the Site, ODOT

Facilities, or both as a result thereof.

D. ODOT's Responsibilities

ln addition to any other responsibilities of ODOT provided in this Agreement, ODOT shall:

1. ODOT shall not be held responsible for electric service interruption.

Z. provide polk with thirty (30) day advance notice of any planned construction activities that

ODOT is aware of at the Site. .

3. ODOT agrees to permit Polk use of Authorized Circuit to support its public safety wireless

communications as identified in the Colocation and Circuit Authorization ("Authorized Circuit"),

(Exhibit A), and in accordance with this Agreement.

4. Subject to the limitations in the Master Lease, ODOT authorizes Polk to prepare, execute and

tite 
'att 

required applications to obtain Governmental Approvals for Polk's Authorized Use

under this Agreement and agrees to reasonably assist Polk with such applications and with

obtaining and maintaining the Government Approvals.

S. Maintain the Site and ODOT Facilities in good condition, reasonable wear and tear, and

damage from the elements excepted. ODOT shall maintain and repair the access within its
control thereto, in good condition, subject to reasonable wear and tear and damage from the

elements.

4



6. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

A. Polk and ODOT each acknowledge and represent to the other that it is duly organized, validly
existing and in good standing and has the right, power and authority to enter into this

Agreement and bind itself hereto through the authorized individual set forth as signatory for
the Party below.

A. Polk reoresents and warrants to ODOT that:

1. Polk is a duly organized, validly existing, in good standing and has the power and authority to enter

into and perform the obligations of this Agreement.

2. Polk certifies that the individual(s) signing this Agreement has been authorized to enter into

and execute this Agreement on behalf of Polk, under the direction or approval of its governing

body, commission, board, officers, members or representatives, and to legally bind Polk.

3. The making and performance by Polk of this Agreement (a) have been duly authorized by

Polk, (b) does not and will not violate any provision of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or

order of any court, regulatory commission, board, or other administrative agency or any
provision of Polk's charter or other organizational document and (c) does not and will not result

in the breach of, or constitute a default or require any consent under any other agreement or

instrument to which Polk is party or by which Polk may be bound or affected. No authorization,
consent, license, approval of, or filing or registration with, or notification to any governmental

body, or regulatory, or supervisory authority is required for the execution, delivery or
performanceby Polk of this Agreement, other than those that have already been obtained.

4. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Polk and constitutes a legal, valid

and binding obligation of Polk enforceable in accordance with its terms.

5. The representations and warranties set forth in this Section are in addition to, and not in lieu

of, any other representations or warranties provided by Polk.

B. ODOT represents and warrants to Polk that:

1. ODOT represents and warrants that: (i) it controls the Site by lease, license or other legal

agreement; (ii) as long as Polk is not in default, then ODOT grants to Polk quiet enjoyment of

thL Authorized Space from the lawful claims of all persons claiming by or through ODOT,

subject to the provisions of this Agreement; and (iii) ODOT's execution and performance of

this Agreement does not violate any laws, ordinances, covenants or the provisions of any

mortgage, lease or other agreement binding on ODOT.

2. To the best of ODOT's knowledge, the Site is in full compliance with applicable state and

federal environmental laws and regulations affecting it'

3. The representations and warranties set forth in this Section are in addition to, and not in lieu

of, any other representations or warranties provided by each Party.

4. ODOT certifies, at the time this Agreement is executed, that sufficient funds are available and

authorized for expenditure within ODOT's current appropriation or limitation of the current

biennial budget at levels sufficient, in ODOT's reasonable administrative discretion to perform

its obligations under this Agreement.

7. NOTICES, AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES AND CONTACT INFORMATION

Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any notices to be given relating to this

Agreement must be given in writing by email, personal delivery, or postage prepaid mail, to a Party's

Authorized Representative at the physical address or email address set forth in this Agreement, or to

such other addresses as either Party may indicate pursuant to this Section. Any notice so addressed

and mailed becomes effective five (5) days after mailing. Any notice given by personal delivery

becomes effective when delivered. Any notice given by email becomes effective upon the sender's

receipt of confirmation generated by the recipient's email system that the notice has been received by

5



the recipient's email system,

A. Polk's Authorized Representative is:

Dean Bender, EmergencY Manager
850 Main Street
Dallas, OR 97338
503-623-9251
Bender.dean@co.polk.or.us

24 HOUR EMERGENCY GONTACT:
Dan Apperson
RadioDan LLC
dan@radiodanllc.com
(503) 807-3036

B. ODOT's Authorized Representative i,s:

ODOT Wireless Communications Section Manager, or designee
455 Airport Rd. SE, Building C

Salem, OR 97301-5375
24 HOUR EMERGENCY GONTACT:
WCS Network OPerations Center
WirelessWorkOrderDesk@odot.oregon.gov
(503) e86-2e11

A party may designate a new Authorized Representative by written notice to the other Party.

8. AMENDMENTS

Except as provided'in this Section, this Agreement cannot be amended, modified, or revised unless done in

writing and'signed by an authorized ageni of ODOT and an authorized agent of Polk. No provision may be

waived except in writing signed by both Parties.

ANy changes to equipment listed in Exhibit A shall be done on the Colocation and Circuit Authorization Form

and subm'rrted for reui"* and approval by ODOT PRIOR to installation of equipment. Once approved by

ODOT and signed by the OOOIWireless Communications Manager and an authorized agent of Polk with

the appropriaie authority it shallamend Exhibit A, replacing the previous related authorization, and shall be

incorporated into this Agreement.

9. INSURANCE

Each Party shall provide insurance or self-insurance as described below:

A. ODOT is setf-insured under ORS 30.282(2) up to the limits described in ORS 30.269 to 30.273. ln

addition, the ODOT has qualified for self-insurance under ORS 806.130 of the Oregon Vehicle Code

up to the limits as set forth in ORS 806.070. Upon request by the Polk, the ODOT shall provide written

proof of self-insurance to Polk.

B. polk shall, at its own cost and expense, either (1) secure and maintain a policy of insurance from a

qualified insurance company(s) ihrough the term of this Agreemenl or (2) provide similar type

protection through an Administiative Trust commonly known as City County lnsurance Seruices or

bpecial Districts-of Association of Oregon (SDAO) insurance. ln either case, Polk shall secure liability

piotection w1h respect to its operationJ and operations of its officers, employees, and agents including

volunteers acting within the scope of their employment or duties arising out of a governmental or

proprietary funct-ion, equivalent io the limits identified in the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260

through 30.300.

6



C. All employers, that employ subject workers who work under this Agreement in the State of Oregon

shall cbmp! with ORS 656.017 and provide the required Workers' Compensation coverage unless

such empioyers are exempt under ORS 656.126. Employers Liability insurance with coverage limits of

not less than $500,000 must be included. Both Parties shall ensure that each of its contractors or

subcontractors complies with these requirements'

D. The insurance certificates will be located in each Party's files and will be made available upon request

by any of the Parties.

10. CONTRIBUTION

A. lf any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging a tort as now

or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 ("Third Party Claim") against ODOT or Polk with respect to

which the other Party may have liability, the notified Party shall promptly notify the other Party in

writing of the Third P-arty Ctaim and deliver to the other Party a copy of the claim, process, and all

legal pleadings with respect to the Third Party Claim. Each Party is entitled to participate in the

de-fense of a mird Party Claim, and to defend a Third Party Claim with counsel of its own

choosing. Receipt by a Party of the notice and copies required in this paragraph and a meaningful

opportunity for the Party tolparticipate in the investigation, defense and settlement of the Third

Rarty Ctaim with counsel of its own choosing are conditions precedent to that Party's contribution

obligation under this Section and that Party's liability with respect to the Third Party Claim.

B. With respect to a Third Party Claim for which ODOT is jointly liable with Polk (or would be if joined

in the Third Party Claim ), CjOOt shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including attorneys'

fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid

or piyable by Polk in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of ODOT on the

one hand anO of Polk on the other hand in connection with the events which resulted in such

expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable

considerati6nsl tne relative fault of ODOT on the one hand and of Polk on the other hand shall

be determined by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access

to information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses,
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. ODOT's contribution amount in any instance is capped

io tne same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon Tort

Claims Act, ORS 30.260 to 30.300, if ODOT had sole liability in the proceeding.

C. With respect to a Third Party Claim for which Polk is jointly liable with ODOT (or would be if joined

in the Third Party CIaim), Polk shall contribute to the amount of expenses (including attorneys'

fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred and paid

or piy'ante by ODOT in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of Polk on the

one hand and of ODOT on the other hand in connection with the events that resulted in such

expenses, judgments, fines or settlement amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable

considerationslThe relative fault of Polk on the one hand and of ODOT on the other hand shall

be determined by reference to, among other things, the Parties' relative intent, knowledge, access

to information and opportunity to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses,
judgments, fines or settlement amounts. Polk's contribution amount in any instance is capped to

the same extent it would have been capped under Oregon law, including the Oregon Tort Claims

Act, oRS 30.260 to 30.300, if it had sole liability in the proceeding.

D. The Parties shall attempt to resolve any dispute arising out of this Agreement in good faith. ln
addition, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-binding

arbitration) to resolve the dispute short of litigation'

11. TERMINATION

This Agreement may be terminated without penalty or further liability, as follows:

A. Upon sixty (60) days prior written notice, if the other Party remains in default under Section 15 of
this Agreement after the applicable cure periods.

7



B. Upon ninety (90) days prior written notice by either Party to the other Party, for any reason.

C. lmmediately upon written notice to the other Party, if federal or state laws, rules, regulations or

guidelines ire hodified or interpreted in such a way that the Party sending notice performance under

Ihis Agreement is prohibited or tnat Party is prohibited from paying for such performance from the

planned funding source.

D. lmmediately upon written notice to the other Party, if that other Party fails to perform or to pursue the

work as to endanger performance of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, and after receipt of

written notice fails to correct such failures within ten (10) days or such longer period as may authorized

in writing.

E. lf for any reason the Master Lease or any other agreement affecting control of the Site is terminated;

however, good faith efforts shall be used to keep such agreements in effect.

F. lmmediately upon written notice to the other Party, if that other Pafi fails to provide payment of Base

Rent or Other Charges outlined in Section 3 of this Agreement.

G. By written consent of both Parties at any time'

H. As otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement.

polk's property listed in Exhibit A, may be removed by Polk, at its option, at any time during the Term with

notification to bOOf. Within forty-five(45) days of the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement, the

Master Lease or any other authorization related to ODOT's control of the Site, Polk shall remove its

communications equipment from the Authorized Space shall be done in a neat and orderly manner,

reasonable wear and'tear and loss by casualty or other causes beyond its control excepted. Polk shall repair

all damage caused by such removal at Polk's sole expense. Any property not so removed within forty-five

(a5) dayJ after the expiration or termination will be deemed abandoned and the property of ODOT. Polk will

ne fiabte for all costs incurred by ODOT from removing the Polk's communications equipment and repairing

the Site, ODOT Facilities, or both as a result thereof.

Notwithstanding anything contained herein, ODOT shall have no obligation to refund prepaid fees should

Polk exercise any rights granted in this Agreement'

Any termination of this Agreement shall not prejudice any rights or obligations accrued to the Parties prior to

termination.

12. NONAPPROPRIATION

ODOT's obligation to pay any amounts and otherwise perform its duties under this Agreement is conditioned

upon receiviig funding, ippropriations, limitations, allotments, or other expenditure authority sufficient to allow

ODOT, in the-exercise of its reasonable administrative discretion, to meet its obligations underthis Agreement.

Nothing in this Agreement may be construed as permitting any violation of Article Xl, section 7 of the Oregon

Constitution or any other law limiting the activities, liabilities or monetary obligations of ODOT.

13. GOVERNING LAW, CONSENT TO JURISDICTION

This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon,

withouiregard to principbl of conflicts of laws. Any claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, "Claim")

between the ODOT and Polk that arises from or relates to the Agreement shall be brought and conducted

solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County for the State oj Oregon; provided, however, if

a Ctjim must be brought in a federal forum, then unless othenruise prohibited by law, it shall be brought and

conducted solely andexclusively within the United States District Court for the District of Oregon' Polk

HEREBY coNSENTS To THE iN PERSoNAM JURISDIcTIoN oF SAID COURTS AND WAIVES ANY

OBJECTION TO VENUE IN SUCH COURTS, AND WAIVES ANY CLAIM THAT SUCH FORUM IS AN

INCONVENIENT FORUM. Nothing herein shall be construed as a waiver of the oDoT's sovereign or

governmental immunity, whether derived from the Eleventh Amendment to the United States Constitution or

5therwise, or of any defenses to Claims or jurisdiction based thereon. This provision survives termination of

the Agreement.

8



,14. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

The Parties should attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute arising out of this Agreement. This may be

done at any management level, including at a level higher than persons directly responsible for

administration of the Agreement. ln addition to other processes to resolve disputes arising under the
Agreement, either Party may notify the other that it wishes to engage in a more guided dispute resolution
process. Upon such notification, the Parties may agree to utilize a jointly selected mediator or arbitrator (for

non-binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute. lf the Parties do not reach agreement as a result of the non-

binding discussion, the Parties may agree to consider further appropriate dispute resolution processes,

including binding arbitration. The rights and remedies set forth in this Agreement are not intended to be

exhaustive and the exercise by either Party of any right or remedy does not preclude the exercise of any

other rights or remedies at law or in equity.

15. DEFAULT AND REMEDIES

A. The following shall be deemed a default by Polk and a breach of this Agreement:

1. Non-payment of amounts invoiced if such remains unpaid for more than thirty (30) days after

the date of written notice from ODOT of such failure to pay.

2. Failure to perform, and/or to correct such failures, of any other term or condition under this
Agreement within forty-five (45) days after the date of written notice from ODOT, or such

longer period as ODOT may authorize in writing.

3. lf Polk remains in default beyond any applicable cure period.

4. Any representation, warranty or statement made by Polk in this Agreement or in any
documents or reports relied upon by ODOT is proven untrue in any material respect.

5. Polk (a) applies for or consents to the appointment of, or taking of possession by, a receiver,
custodian, trustee, or liquidator of itself or all of its property, (b) admits in writing its inability,
or is generally unable, to pay its debts as they become due, (c) makes a general assignment
for the benefit of its creditors, (d) is adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent, (e) commences a

voluntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in effect), (f) files a

petition se.eking to,take advantage gl 
"ny 

other law relating to bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorgantzation, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of debts, (g) fails to controvert in a

timely and appropriate manner, or acquiesces in writing to, any petition filed against it in an

involuntary case under the Bankruptcy Code, or (h) takes any action for the purpose of

effecting any of the foregoing,

B. The following shall be deemed a default by ODOT and a breach of this Agreement:

1. ODOT fails to perform, observe or discharge any of its covenants, agreements, or obligations
under this Agreement within forty-five (45) days after the date of written notice from Polk.

2. lf ODOT remains in default beyond any applicable cure period.

3, Any representation, warranty or statement made by ODOT in this Agreement or in any

documents or reports relied upon by Polk is untrue in any material respect.

C. ln the event a Party is in default, the other Party may, at its option, pursue any or all of the
remedies available to it under this Agreement and at law or in equity, including, but not limited to:

1. Termination of this Agreement.

2. lnitiation of an action or proceeding for damages, specific performance, or declaratory or
injunctive relief related to the Project or Site.

3. These remedies are cumulative to the extent the remedies are not inconsistent, and Parties
may pursue any remedy or remedies singly, collectively, successively or in any order

whatsoever.

The rights and remedies set forth in this Agreement are not intended to be exhaustive and the exercise by

9



either party of any right or remedy does not preclude the exercise of any other rights or remedies at law or in

equity.

This provision survives termination of the Agreement.

16. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY

EXCEPT FOR LIABILIry ARISING UNDER OR RELATED TO SECTION 10, NEITHER PARry WILL BE

LIABLE FOR INCIDENTAL, CONSEQUENTIAL , OR OTHER INDIRECT DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR

RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER THE LIABILITY CLAIM IS BASED IN

CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING TNEGLIGENCE), STRICT LlABlLlry, PRODUCT LlABlLlry OR

OTHERWISE. NEITHER PARTY WILL BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES OF ANY SORT ARISING

SOLELY FROM THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TERMS.

17. SURVIVAL

All rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement will cease upon termination of this Agreement,

othelthan the rights and obligations arising under Sections 6, 9, 10, 11, 12,13, 15, 17 and 20 hereof and those

rights and obligitions that by their express terms survive termination of this Agreement; provided, however,

thlt termination of this Agrebment will not prejudice any rights or obligations accrued to the Parties under this

Agreement prior to termination.

18. SEVERABILITY

The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction

to be illegal oi in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and provisions will not be affected,

and the ri-gfrts anO obligations of the Parties will be construed and enforced as if the Agreement did not contain

the particular term or provision held to be invalid.

19. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts all of which when taken together shall constitute

one a{i"ement biniing on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories to the same

countJrpart. Each copy of this Agreement so executed shall constitute an original. This provision survives

termination of the Agreement.

20. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

The polk shall comply with all federal, state, and local laws, regulations, executive orders and ordinances

applicable to the worli under this Agreement, including, without limitation, the provisions of ORS 2798'220'

2798.225, 2798.230, 2798.235 aiA Zlgg.Z70 incorporated herein by reference and made a part hereof

including, without limitation, the provisions of ORS 279B..220,2798.225,2798..230,2798.-235 and 279B-270

incorporited herein by reference and made a part hereof. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
parties expressly agree to comply with (i) Title Vl of Civil Rights Act of 196a; (ii) Title V and Section 504 of the

Rehabititation Act of 1973; (iii) the nmeiicans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, and ORS 659A'142;

(iv) all regulations and administrative rules established pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (iv) all regulations

and administrative rules established pursuant to the foregoing laws; and (v) all other applicable requirements

of federal and state civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations'

21. INDEPENDENTCONTRACTORS

The parties agree and acknowledge that their relationship is that of independent contracting parties and that
polk is not an officer, employee, oi agent of the State of Oregon as those terms are used in ORS 30.265 or

otherwise. Each party shall remain sotely responsible for its own employees and related benefits. At no time

will polk's employees who provide services under this Agreement be considered an employee of ODOT, nor

will any ODOi employee who provides services under this Agreement be considered an employee of Polk.

l0



22. CONTRACTORS

A. Polk shall require its contracto(s) and subcontractor(s) that are not units of local government as

defined in ORS 190,003; if any, to indemnify, defend, save and hold harmless the State of Oregon,

Oregon Transportation Commission and its members, Department of Transportation and its
officbrs, employees and agents from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages,

losses, or expenses, including attorneys'fees, arising from a tort, as now or hereafter defined in
ORS 30.260, caused, or alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts

or omissions of Polk's contractor or any of the officers, agents, employees or subcontractors of
the contractor, ("Claims"). lt is the specific intention of the Parties that State shall, in all instances,

except for Claims arising solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the State, be

indemnified by the contractor and subcontractor from and against any and all Claims.

B. Any such indemnification shall also provide that neither Polk's contractor and subcontractor nor

any attorney engaged by Polk's contractor and subcontractor shall defend any claim in the name

of 
-the 

State of Olegon or any agency of the State of Oregon, nor purport to act as legal

representative of the-State of Oregon or any of its agencies, without the prior written consent of

the Oregon Attorney General. The State of Oregon may, at any time at its election assume its

own defbnse and settlement in the event that it determines that Polk's contractor is prohibited

from defending the State of Oregon, or that Polk's contractor is not adequately defending the

State of Oregon's interests, or that an important governmental principle is at issue or that it is in
the best interests of the State of Oregon to do so. The State of Oregon reserves all rights to
pursue claims it may have against Polk's contractor if the State of Oregon elects to assume its
own defense.

C. Polk may contract any portion of installation, maintenance or repair of its colocated

communications equipment contemplated by this Agreement to an approved entity competent to
perform such work. lf either Partyrs communications equipment is damaged or disrupted by a
inirO party permitted at the Site by the other Party ("Authorizing Party"), the Authorizing Party

shall: (a) require the third party to indemnify the other Party for the work performed by the third

party; (b1 ensure the third party is insured for the contractual indemnity required hereunder; and

(c) caus6 the third party to mitigate the damages or disruption and ensure the equipment is

restored to its condition prior to the damage or disruption.

D. ODOT consent to any subcontract (or other delegation of duties) does not relieve Polk of any of

its duties or obligations under this Agreement.

'*l*",:ff:=tr$::J':: any raiture to perrorm or any detay in perrormance or any obtigations under this

Agreement taused by fire, civil unrest, labor unrest, natural causes, or war, which is beyond that Party's

reasonable control. Each Party shall, however, make all reasonable efforts to remove or eliminate such cause

of failure to perform or delay in performance and shall, upon the cessAtion of the cause, diligently pursue

performance of its obligations under this Agreement. ODOT may terminate this Agreement upon written notice

to polk after reasonably determining that the failure or delay will likely prevent successful performance of this

Agreement.

24. RECORDS MAINTENANCE AND ACCESS

polk shall maintain all flnancial records relating to this Agreement in accordance with generally accepted

accounting principles. ln addition, Polk shall maintain any other records, books, documents, papers, plans,

records ofshipments and payments and writings of Polk, whether in paper, electronic or other form, that are

pertinent to this Agreement in such a manner as to clearly document Polk's performance. All financial records,

books, documenti, papers, plans, records of shipments and payments, writings and other records of Polk,

whether in paper, electronic or other form, that are pertinent to this Agreement, are collectively referred to as
"Records."

Polk acknowledges and agrees that ODOT and the Oregon Secretary of State's Office, the federal

government, and their duly authorized representatives shall have access to all Records specific Agreement for

ll



the purpose of making audit, examination and make excerpts and transcripts. Polk shall retain and keep

accessible all Records for a minimum of six (6) years, or such longer period as may be required by applicable

law, following flnal payment, completion of Project, and/or termination of this Agreement as applicable, or until

the conclusion of any audit, controversy or litigation arising out of or related to this Agreement, whichever date

is later. Subject to foregoing minimum records retention requirement, Polk shall maintain Records in

accordance with the records retention schedules set forth in OAR Chapter 166.

25, INTENDED BENEFICIARIES

ODOT and Polk are the only parties to this Agreement and are the only parties entitled to enforce its terms.

Nothing in this Agreement provides, is intended to provide, or may be construed to provide any direct or indirect

benefiior right [o third persons unless such third persons are individually identified by name herein and

expressly described as intended beneficiaries of this Agreement. This provision survives termination of the

Agreement

26. ASSIGNMENT AND SUCESSORS IN INTEREST

polk may not assign or transfer its interest in this Agreement without the prior written consent of ODOT and

any attempt by Polk to assign or transfer its interest in this Agreement without such consent will be void and of

no force or efiect. ODOT's-consent to Polk's assignment or transfer of its interest in this Agreement will not

relieve polk of any of its duties or obligations under this Agreement. The provisions of this Agreement will be

binding upon and- inure to the benefii of the Parties hereto, and their respective successors and permitted

assigns.

27. SUBLEASE
polk shall not, without ODOT's prior written consent, enter into any subleases for use of the Site or ODOT

Facilities. ODOT's consent to any sublease will not relieve Polk of any of its duties or obligations under this

Agreement.

28. MERGER, WAIVER

This Agreement and attached exhibits constitute the entire agreement between the Parties on the subject

matter hereof. There are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified

herein regarding this Agreement. No waivei conient, modification or change of terms of this Agreement shall

bind eithJi party unbsJin writing and signed by both Parties and all necessary approvals have been obtained.

Such waiver, consent, modification or change, if made, shall be effective only in the specific instance and for

the specific purpose given. The failure of ODOT to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not constitute

a walver by'ODOT oJ tnat or any other provision, EACH PARry, BY SIGNATURE OF ITS AUTHORIZED

REPRESENTATIVE, HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT,

UNDERSTANDS IT, AND AGREES TO BE BOUND BY ITS TERMS AND CONDITIONS.

29. HEADINGS

The headings and captions to sections of this Agreement have been inserted for identification and reference

purposes only and may not be used to construe the meaning or to interpret this Agreement.

30. COUNTERPARTS

This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts all of which when taken together shall

constitute one agreement binding on all Parties, notwithstanding that all Parties are not signatories to

the same counterpart. Each copy of this Agreement so executed shall constitute an original.

31. AGREEMENTDOCUMENTS

This Agreement and attached exhibits constitute the entire agreement between the Parties on the subject

matter hereof. There are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified

I2



herein regarding this Agreement. No waiver, consent, modification or change of terms of this Agreement shall

bind either Party unlessin writing and signed by both Parties and all necessary approvals have been obtained.

Such waiver, congent, modiflcation or change, if made, shall be effective only in the specific instance and for

the specific purpose given. The failure of ODOT to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not constitute

a waiver by ODOT of that or any other provision.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]

(s tG NATU R E PA G E FOL LO WS)

t3



SIGNATURES

Electronic Signatures. The Parties agree that signatures showing on PDF documents, including but not limited

to PDF copies of the Agreement and amendments, submitted or exchanged via email are "Electronic

Signatures'; under ORS Chapter 84 and bind the signing Party and are intended to be and can be relied upon

Oylne Parties. ODOT reserves the right at any time to require the submission of the hard copy originals of any

documents.

THE PARTIES, by execution of this Agreement, hereby acknowledge that their signing representatives have

read this Ajreement, understand it, and agree to be bound by its terms and conditions.

Polk Gounty, a political subdivision of the State of
Oregon, acting by and through its elected,
appointed, designated or delegated officials

STATE OF OREGON, bY and through its
Department of TransPortation

By By
Joe Messman, ODOT Wireless Section Manager

Date
Printed name, Title

Reviewed
Date

Dianne Majors,, Lands & Administration Manager

APPROVED FOR LEGAL SUFFICIENCY

X NA Does not meet threshold ORS 291.047,
oAR 137-045-0030(3)

List of Exhibits whiqh are attached hereto and bv this reference made a part of this Aoreement'

Exhibit A - oDoT wcs colocation and circuit Authorization Form

Exhibit B - ODOT WCS - Communication Site Antenna and Tower Mounted equipment lnstallation

Standards

Exhibit C - ODOT WCS Minimum Site Shelter Equipment lnstallation Standards

Exhibit D - Master Lease - FlamptOn Lease (Radio Communications Site Lease - Bald Mountain dated

August 11,2006,lntent to Renew dated June 3,2024, and General Assignment and Assumption

Agreement dated Augusl 1 6, 2023)

t4



EXHIBIT A

ODOT WCS COLOCATION AND CIRCUIT AUTHORIZATION FORM

l5



bandwidths. Please conlacl us for guidance lf you have any queslionsreqlfes accutale fioquency infomation andequipment

Agency Name Polk Counly
Date Of Riquest

SW Ash Sl.

oR.97338Srrrs,hour Contact lnto
BenderDan@radiodanllc.com

Ch*k appropilale bor

Hampion TimberBald Mountalnglt6 Nsme

Polk couniy

xxltat Slt€

10

11

12

13

n.estolhlsform'AninleFmodul3iionanalysiswillbepeflormedpnorlonslananonoIanynew

equipmenl which reqlres amurale fretluerey iniomalion and modllallon bandwidths. BoLD

r€vl6lon6 ll amendlng q prior aulhorilallon . ,

Call Slgnr (ifany) Frequ€ncy TX RX Both Bandwidth Oulpul
Power ERP

(Watl3)

151.1375 X

163.9800 Y 10 15

WOFP332 154.2350 10 15

woFP332 154.8750 Y 10 15

wPX1436 155.0325 x 10 15

wPxt438 155 2500 10 15

WOFP332 lss 8050 X 10

155 6700 X

155 9850 x

156 1100 X

158 AaOO X

159.4725 X

Annual Fees:

complered by oDoT
wcs

$176.32

$176.32

$2.S94.40

$4,428.40

$7,775,44

$3,s I4.s2

$3,5'14.52

,11,289.50

Complete ALL informatlon, Be as doscriptive ss po$ible wilh equipment, anlenn6, teed Fnei{aveguide, ice shield and dipole delails. lf necessary, anach addilional installslion details, drawings

IMPORTANT: lnclude fre azmlth for antenna inslallalion.
goLO revi6ions addlllgf,6 and replacemenbl lt amendhg a prlor authorizatlon.

Mod6l Number Slto 0gEcrlptlon Log Holght
kimuth

Sinclair sc281 22' Big Collinear 50 112" LDF

Sinclair sc281 22', Big Collinear 70 112'LDF

Complot€ALLlnlormailon. Allequipmenlmustberackmountable. Equipmentcabin€barenolspsceefllcienlandwillnotbeallowed,
BOLD revisions (€qulpm€nt sddltlons 6nd rep16com€nt6) lf amendlnO a prlor authori26tlon'

Manufactur0r Model Number De6cJiption (Volls / Amps)

g6 .peqlllc aboul lhe smount of rack 6pace r€quest€d. lnaludo powor and backup Powor Gourcea for
altach drawings and/or piaiures NOTE: A slandard 7 fool rack has a tolal

proposed squlpmenl, lf necessary, provrd€ additional inslallation details below and

ot 48 unhs, half a rackwould take up 24 rack unils.

Colocalion Subtotal

Tottl Annu.l P.lment:

ODOT Approval:

Agency Authorized signor:

Generator FeeAhnual Power &

T6rminaling SitoHop6 Originatlng SItoCircull Typs Bandwldth

Bab Mtr
1 Eagle CrestElhemet 1.U4

Provlded by ODOI to Polk County
Clrcult lnlormatlon -

Circuit

over the next s€veral years. ODOT willat siles yet to be nolice and

sites idertlfied.affectedwith
CreslCncuiilwilhDSl Easb3t25t25 EmailJohnIGA lor $0 rolo 10NoteslKS

Site MgmlS6s Exhibit
lhatsllached change9-KessingerlheJohnBY:REVIEWEO

ODOTlo lhis charcedODOTLisled

NOTICE: ODOT has an 8070 tower load maximum ODOT is conveiling power systems lo

l6



EXHIBIT B

Oregon Department of Transportation Wireless Gommunications Section -

Communication Site Antenna and Tower Mounted equipment lnstallation Standards

The purpose of this document is to adopt standards for the installation of antennas or other equipment

on Communication site tower.s and facilities. All ODOT and OSP equipment is required to be installed

to this standard. Any other agency, cooperator, or tenant that has equipment installed at an ODOT

owned communications facility is also required to meet this standard.

For the purposes of this document, "approved" means reviewed and confirmed as acceptable by an

authorized member of the ODOT Wireless Communications Section.

Goordination of lnstallations:

- lnstqllations will be scheduled with the Wireless Area Radio Specialist and coordinated through

the ODOTWireless Work Order Desk.

- All tower work will be coordinated with the Wireless Area Radio Specialist and the Wireless

Work Order Desk, at least 2 regular business days prior to the scheduled work, to allow for
proper notification of radio system users that could be affected by the work.

- Emergency work requests will be handled on a case-by-case basis.

- A Wireless Area Radio Specialist will be assigned as a Project Liaison and Quality Control point

for a specific installation location.

- lnstalls requiring antenna or coax replacements that will disrupt functionality or operations of a

state-owned radio system will require a developed work plan prior to beginning work, to

minimize the out of service time for the affected radio system. The Wireless Section will
participate in developing the work plan.

- lnstalls requiring antenna or coax replacements that will disrupt functionality or operations of a

state-owned radio system will require coordination with ODOT Wireless, at least two regular

business days prior to work beginning, to allow for notification to system users.

Land Mobile Radio:

Antenna and Equipment Mounting:

- Antenna(s) and mounts shall be installed per manufacturer instructions using the manufacturer's

recommended brackets.

- Re-use of old mounting hardware is not allowed.

- All mounts, brackets, hardware, and braces shall be hot galvanized, stainless steel, or other

approved rust resistant materials.

- All antennas will be mounted in the vertical polarity unless otherwise stated and will be plumb in

all planes.

- Excluding top mounted antennas, any antenna exceeding fifteen feet in length shall have an

RF-transparent top brace (such as CommScope DB5004s-MTD) installed, unless antenna

manufacturer indicates use of top support is unnecessary. Sites with extreme weather
conditions may require top bracing of antennas, regardless of manufacturer's recommendation.

These sites will be identified as such in the statement of work.

- Omni directional antennas mounted below the top of a tower shall be mounted on a minimum 3'

standoff mount with stiff-arm attachment. All standoff mounts shall be rated to exceed the

antenna weight, wind, and ice load ratings of the antenna(s) being installed.

- Antennas located on a sloping leg shall be installed with a tapered pipe mount to allow for

vertical mounting.

l7



- All hardware shall be tightened to manufacturers torque specifications.

- All antennas, brackets, and mounting hardware shall be mounted in a manner that ice or wind

loading will not twist the mounting system'

- lf ice shields are required, then manufacturer specifications for installation are to be adhered to.

Coaxial Cable support and grounding:

- All exterior coaxial cable shall be 100% shielded construction such as Andrew Heliax or

approved equivalent.

- RF connectors will be DIN type unless specified otheruvise by ODOT Wireless.

- All coaxes will be supported by rubber cushions using proper hardware (i.e. Valmont cushions

with stainless steel hose clamps and hardware).

- Round (i.e., stainless steel hose clamps), angle clamps, or other required adapters will be used

where cables cannot be routed on the cable ladder'

- Maximum distance between hangers shall be 4 feet. Shorter spacing may be required for

smaller coax to prevent drooping or sagging.

- All vertical runs of coax on the tower will be on cable ladder, unless specified by Wireless

. Section.

- The portion of coax runs not on a cable ladder shall be located on the underside of tower

members, or in a manner to provide maximum protection from icefall, falling items, being

stepped on, abrasions, and other hazards.

- All coaxes shall be hoisted with the use of a cable hoist grip or similar method. ln no event shall

a coax be hoisted bY a connector.

- Radius bends exceeding manufactures specifications, kinks, dents, and compromised coax
jacketing are not accePtable.

- Cushions that support multiple runs of coax are recommended for all installs.

- Coax shall be grounded near the antenna, where the line sweeps to the horizontal at the base

of the tower, and at tl're buitding entry port'

lf the vertical run of coax is longer than seventy feet, additional ground kits shall be installed at

regular intervals. Maximum distance between grounds is 70 feet.

- The coax ground kit at the antenna and any mid-point of the coax run shall be connected to the

tower by a stainless steel or galvanized angle adapter.

- The coax ground kit at the tower base will be connected to a copper bus bar if equipped or by a

stainless steel or galvanized angle adapter'

- The ground kits at the building entry port will be connected to the copper entry port ground bus.

- All ground bus wiring shall be routed towards the ground (downwards) with no sharp corners,

bends, or looPs.

- All coax between the tower and the building will be routed under and protected by an ice bridge.

- Any site where the tower is bolted to or directly adjacent to the building without an ice bridge will

have a "Drip Loop" to allow moisture to drain before the entry port.

- Any threaded rod, bolts, or strut material (uni-strut) used shall be galvanized or stainless steel.

All associated haidware will be stainless steel, nylon, aluminum, or hot-dip galvanized steel.

- All transmission line and antenna grounding shall be in compliance with the Harris Site

Grounding and Lightning Protection Guidelines'

- All ground kits on the building entry port will use 3/8" two-hole lugs with no-ox compound

betireen the lug and copper bus bar. Polyolefin heat-shrink tubing will be installed over the

l8



crimp area and extend one inch past exposed wire onto the insulation.

- All ground kits on the tower will have single-hole 3/8 lug with polyolefin heat-shrink tubing over

the crimp area extending one inch over the insulated wire.

- All lugs used on ground kits will be tin-plated copper.

- Ground kits shall be Andrew CSG78-12B2U or CSG12-1282U, or approved equivalent.

- Any ver.tical wraps of eiectrical tape should be applied so the final outer layer covers the entire

area, starting from the bottom and ending at the top.

- Cable ties, or Ty-Raps, are only approved for securing jumper cables from antennas to the main

coax. All cable ties shall be UV rated, and have a minimum breaking strength of 150 lbs.

Microwave Antqnna Svstems:

Antenna and Equipment Mounting:

- Microwave dishes shall be installed in accordance with manufacturer specifications.

- Hurricane brace/stiff arm mounted in a horizontal plane will be installed on all dish antennas.

Large antennas may require additional bracing.

- All microwave antenna bracing shall be connected to a horizontal girt or opposing tower leg. lf a

horizontal girt is not available,l girt shall be added. Diagonal tower members shall not be used

for microwave antenna bracing.

- Re-use of old mounting hardware is not allowed'

- All mounts, brackets, hardware, and braces shall be hot galvanized, stainless steel, or other

approved rust resistant materials,

- All antenna feedhorns shall be mounted in the specified polarity, ensuring the feedhorn is level.

- Antennas located on a tapered leg shall be installed with a tapered pipe mount to create a

plumb antenna mounting PiPe.

- All hardware shall be tightened to manufacturers torque specifications.

- All antennas, brackets, and mounting hardware shall be mounted in a manner that ice or wind

loading will not twist the mounting system.

- Microwave antenna ice shields, when specified, shall be assembled, and installed, to ice shield

man ufacturer's sPecifications.

- lce shield cabling shall be installed in a manner that prevents ice shield rotation and/or

excessive rotational stress on the mount or tower leg.

- Upper ice shield cables shall be attached to appropriate leg anchors and/or horizontal girts to

provide a minimum 4S-degree cable angle for support.

Waveguide support and grounding:

- All Waveguide shall be jacketed.

- Waveguide shall be supported using Valmont Structures P\N: SREW63-K, UPC: 888063450525

waveg=uide cushions (6GHz; or specific Valmont waveguide cushions for other frequency

waveguides (11 GHz, 18 GHz, etc.). No clips or snap-ins allowed'

- Round (i.e., stainless steel hose clamps), angle clamps, or other required adapters shall be

used where waveguides cannot be routed on the cable ladder.

- Maximum distance between hangers shall be 4 feet for waveguide.

- All vertical runs of Waveguide on the tower shall be on cable ladder, unless specified by

Wireless Section.

t9



- The portion of waveguide runs not on a cable ladder shall be located on the underside of tower
members, or in a manner to provide maximum protection from icefall, falling items, being
stepped on, abrasions, and other hazards.

- The portion of waveguide extending from the tower leg to the antenna feedhorn shall be
protected from icefall damage by installing shielding above waveguide.

- All Waveguide shall be hoisted with the use of a cable hoist grip or similar method. ln no event
shall a waveguide be hoisted by a connector.

- Radius bends exceeding manufactures specifications, kinks, dents, and compromised
Waveguide jacketing are not acceptable.

- Cushions that support multiple runs of Waveguide are recommended for all installs.

- Waveguide shall be grounded near the antenna, where the line sweeps to horizontal at the base
of the tower; and at the building entry port.

- lf the vertical run of coax is longer than seventy feet, additional ground kits shall be installed at

regular intervals. Maximum distance between grounds is 70 feet.

- The waveguide ground kit at the antenna and any mid-point of the waveguide run shall be

connected to the tower by a stainless steel or galvanized angle adapter.

- The waveguide ground kit at the tower base will be connected to a copper bus bar if equipped
or by a stainless steel or galvanized angle adapter.

- The ground kits at the building entry port will be connected to the copper entry port ground bus.

- All ground bus wiring shall be routed towards the ground (downwards) with no sharp corners,
bends, or loops, Any threaded rod, bolts, or strut material (uni-strut) used shall be galvanized or

stainless steel. All associated hardware will be stainless steel, nylon, aluminum, or hot-dip
galvanized steel.

- All ground kits on the building entry port will use 3/8" two-hole lugs with no-ox compound
between the lug and copper bus bar. Polyolefin heat-shrink tubing will be installed over the
crimp area and extend one inch past exposed wire onto the insulation.

- All ground kits on the tower will have single-hole 3/8 lug with polyolefin heat-shrink tubing over
the crimp area extending one inch over the insulated wire.

- All lugs used on ground kits will be tin-plated copper.

- Allwaveguide between the tower and the building shall be routed under and protected by an ice

bridge.

Other Tower mounted equipment:

Equipment Mounting:

- Equipment shall be installed in accordance with manufacturer specifications.

- Re-use of old mouhting brackets is not allowed.

- All moLtnts, brackets, hardware, and braces shall be hot galvanized, stainless steel, or other
approved rust resistant materials.

Miscellaneous Cabling support and grounding;

- All exterior cabling (Ethernet, POE, Power, fiber, etc.) shall be rated for exposed outdoor
environmental conditions. For special installations, the Wireless Section will provide additional
specifications.

- Shielded cable is recommended where practical.

- All cable will be supported by rubber cushions using proper hardware.

20



Maximum distance between hangers shall be 4 feet. Shorter spacing may be required for
smaller coax to prevent drooping or sagging.

All vertical runs of cable on the tower shall be on cable ladder, unless specified by Wireless

Section.

The portion of coax runs not on a cable ladder shall be located on the underside of tower

members, or in a manner to provide maximum protection from icefall, falling items, being

stepped on, abrasions, and other hazards.

All cable shall be hoisted with the use of a cable hoist grip or manufacturer approved method.

ln no event shall a cable be hoisted by a connector.

Radius bends exceeding manufactures specifications, kinks, dents, and compromised cable
jacketing are not acceptable.

Shielded cabling will be grounded near the device connection, where the cable sweeps to the
horizontal at the base of the tower, and at the building entry port'

AC cabling over 75 volts shall be run in metal conduit and supported by proper mounts.

Electricaltape, ty-raps, and hose clamps are NOT allowed for securing cable to towers.

2l



EXHIBIT C

Oregon Department of Transportation Wireless Communications Section
UINIMUU SITE SHELTER EQUIPMENT INSTALLATION STANDARDS

DTSCLATMER: The Sife Sfandards described below are minimum standards and are
intended to provide guidance for pyspssed rnsfa llations. Actual site conditions may
necessifa te additio n al restricti o n s.

General Requiremenfs

o Post a copy of the FCC license or National Telecommunications and Information
Agency (NTIA) authorization on each transmitter. lnclude the name, address, and

teiephone number of the person responsible for the operation of that transmitter.

lndicate transmit and receive frequencies as well as tone control frequencies.

o Control stations and "inverted pairs" on FCC-designated repeater channels are

generally not allowed at sites.

. lnstall only FCC type-accepted transmitters for the station type being used (for example

base station, control station, etc.) at a site. Where applicable, olly equipment type

accepted per FCC Part 15 for RF radiation and noise is acceptable for installation at a

site.

Cabling and Connectors

. Table 7, below, contains specifications for cabling and connectors used at sites.

o Applrclnoru Caelrlro oR CoNNEcroR TvPea

o RF cabling between equiPment
within a rack.

o Double-shielded (such as RG-
214, RG-142, or RG-400) or solid
outer conductor coaxial cable.

o RF cabling between racks lo
connect combining equiPment and
antenna feed-through ports.

o Solid outer conductor coaxial
cable or double shielded coaxial cable
providing a minimum of 98.5% shield
coverage.

. Receive lines within the
shelter.

o /+ in. diameter solid-shield
flexible cable, similar to Andrews
FSJl-50A.

o Transmit lines wifhin the
shelter.

. /, in. diameter solid-shield
flexible cable, similar to Andrews
FSJ4-50B.

Feed lines oufside the shelter.a

. /. in. diameter (or larger as
needed) solid-shield cable similar to
Andrews LDF4-50A HELIAX.

22



a Applrcnrroru a CaeLrNo oR CottruecroR TYPr

o RF connectors on transmit
cables

. Use type "N" connectors
wherever possible. lf the
manufacturer's equipment has another
type of connector installed, that
connector is acceptable. Adapters are
discoura ed

RF connectors on receive
cables

o Type "BNC" is allowed,
however type "N" is recommended.
Again, use the same tyPe connector
as the manufacturer's equiPment if
another type is installed. Adapters are
discou

a Connectors for braided coaxial
cables

. Silver-plated connector bodies
and, where available, gold-plated
contact pins. Do nof use other types
of plated connectors or

Table 1

lM Suppression

o Notch-type duplexers must include a band-pass cavity (BPC) in the transmit leg that

meets the requirements in Tabte 2, below. The BPC must be between the transmitter
output and the duplexer input port.

o Additional filters, BPCs, isolators, and other hardware may be required at the tenant's
expense to correct site problems as a result of the tenant's installation.

o Each transmitter operating within the band limits in Table 2, below, require the use of a
protective isolator, low-pass harmonic filter, and a BPC that meets the minimum

attenuation levels shown betow in Table 2. The isolator and harmonic filter must
precede the BPC in the transmit path. The low-pass filters must provide a minimum of

30-dB attenuation above 70 MHz. The low-pass filter used must be a true low pass

filter. Do not use harmonic notch filters, which certain vendors manufacture and claim

to be "low-pass filters." These filters do not meet the intent of this specification.

FneOUETCY BAND

lsomtoR
Revense lsolRtlott

BPC ATTeNUATION AT FREQUENCY

FRON,I GERRIER

29.7-54 MHz 15 dB 20 dB at t 600 kHz

72-76 MHz 25 dB 20 dB at t 600 kHz

136-174 MHz 25 dB 30 dB at+ 2MHz

220425 MHz 25 dB 30dBat+3MHz

406-512 MHz 25 dB 15dB at+2MHz

806-960 MHz 25 dB 20 dB at t 10 MHz

Table 2

23



. Microwave equipment operating above 960 MHz does not require the use of an isolator,

harmonic filter, and band pass cavity. Transmitters operating below 29.7 MHz must

include,a low-pass filter with an attenuation level of at least 70 dB at 54 MHz.

Lightening, Surge Suppress ion and Grounding

. Most sites have lightning and surge protection systems installed, including lightning

arrestor mounting panels. Newer systems may have a passthrough plate with a
provision for placement of a lightning suppressor just inside of the plate. All

transmission lines must enter and exit the building via one of these entry panels or an

approved entry (see Anfe nnas, Feed Lines and cable Entries)

. Connect equipment to the site's ground system using compression fittings, bolted joints

or Cadwelding (exterior or in-ground) for connection. Do not use "split-bolt" connectors

as junctions. Cable runway trays above the equipment rack usually include a ground

pigtail.

. Remove from the site all coaxial cable that serves no purpose or is abandoned.

Properly terminate and protect all coaxial cables that are spare equipment or dedicated

but inaCtive. Terminate both ends of the cable with, at least, a 2 watt 47-ohm resistor
(only inside the building if the antenna has not been removed).

tnside Equipment

. Use only transmitters, receivers, and related equipment designed for use in a high-RF,

multi-user environment. This includes power supply equipment, rectifiers, control

equipment, alarm units, etc. This generally means that equipment must have additional
filtering on input and output leads, and has additional physical shielding installed on the

equipment. The equipment specifications will usually be higher than those encountered

for use in a mobile radio or desktop base station environment.

. ln the event Radio lnterference occurs and the above standards are complied with,

additional isolators, filters, cavities, etc. may be required to correct specific problems.

The need for additional filtering equipment will be determined on a case-by-case basis.

o Systems involved, not in full compliance with these standards, will be asked to comply

immediately. Users, who remain non-compliant with these standards, after formal

notification, are at risk of having their site use agreement(s) terminated.

o Sites are designed to accommodate equipment housed in 7' (84") racks.

o Fasten racks to the floor with an approved anchor. Also, use an approved method to

connect racks to an overhead cable runway tray. For example, using a 14-inch length

of Chatsworth 11450-001 framing channel and "J-bolt" kits to fasten a rack to the cable

runway tray is acceptable . Do not drill holes into existing cable runway trays.

o lnstall seismic bracing on equipment and mounting frames.

o All cables/wires are to be securely and neatly routed, bypassing any potentially

hazardous areas such as heat, sharp objects or human interference. All wires are to be

labeled or have written documentation on site that identifies the use of the cable/wire.

Antennas, Feed Lines and Cable Entries

o All antennas to tower mounting hardware shall be purchased from the tower
manufacturer.

. Feed lines shall be no less than /z" heliax (See Table 1 above).

24



o Feed line ground kits shall be installed at antenna, transition from tower to ice bridge,

and at entry port,

. Microflect cushion assemblies shall be used to attach feed lines to the tower (Leg

clamps may be r,equired on some towers).

. Use the provided cable entry or, if none available, use a Microflect 8.220 entry.

. All installations shall be cleared by the ODOTWireless Group and installations shall be

performed with ODOTpersonnel present.

o Feed-through lightning protectors should be used on all coaxial cable connections to

equipment encldsures. Gas, Gap and MOV (Metal Oxide Varistor) protectors should be

used on Control, Audio, Telephone and Power connections. All feed line entering the

building must be terminated, even when not in use.

o Transmission lines between the equipment building and tower structure shall be

secured to a messenger wire or anchored to an approved ice bridge. lf it becomes

necessary to bury a transmission line it shall be placed inside PVC conduit, with a

minimum diameter of 3" and buried to a depth of no less than 12" below the surface of
the ground. The ends, where the transmission line enters and/or exits, shall be sealed

in ahanner that prevents moisture from entering and being trapped within the PVC

conduit.

. All loose wire or metal objects are to be removed from the tower and site. This is to

include unused antennas and transmission lines.

M i sce I la neous Req u i remenfs

. ln no case shall 120 VAC power equipment come into contact with ODOT racks

containing microwave or base band equipment.

. Extension cords are not permissible as a permanent power connection.

o A system interference test (desense) shall be performed before and after the installation

of new equipment to ensure the existing ODOT radio system(s) integrity.

. All books and spare parts are to be kept in neat order, floors clean, and all debris

removed after each site visit.

. Each site will have a site log, with the following minimum information logged during

each visit: Date and arrival time, names and contact information of all persons at the

site, purpose of visit, time left site.

General Site Lease Guidelines

. Amateur radios will be allowed only if sponsored by a governmental entity.

. Preferably any amateur radios allowed will be associated with either R.A.C.E.S
(Radio Amateur Communications Emergency Service) or A.R.E.S. (Amateur Radio

Emergency Service.

. lnitial request and subsequent agreements will be with the governmental entity'

. Keys will be issued to and controlled by the governmental entity.

. "For Profit" entities are generally not allowed space in ODOT shelters'

. Private "not-for-profit" entities may be considered.

. Sites are to be used primarily for Public Safety services'

25



a

a

. Maintaining site security is'a major consideration in decision making process'

Site Use Requirements:

. Equipment installation must meet or exceed ODOT Site lnstallation Standards.

. All antennas are to be mounted on the tower structure in the assigned locations' No

antennas will be mounted to the buildings without prior written approval from ODOT.

. Radio equipment must be rack mounted. Equipment cabinets are no allowed.

. Key use and control must comply with ODOT Key lssuance requirements. Keys are

issued to governmental entities and they hold the responsibility for proper use and

control.

. Current site fee charges will apply to all users.

. A Technical'Data Sheet is to be submitted for each RF unit.

. A prior intermodulation/frequency analysis must be completed and approved.

. lnfrastructure of site must be robust enough to support the additional equipment.

. Space for one (1) rack must be reserved for ODOT expansion.

. Any sharing of ODOT battery power will only be with State agencies. Non-state

users must supply their own battery power.

Other considerations:

. User may be asked to pay for a tower loading and/or intermodulation study

. The initial request is to be made on an ODOT co-location application which will be

reviewed and is subject to approval before proceeding with a lease agreement

. ODOT may own radio facilities that it does not occupy but reserves the right to lease

these facilities to any entity deemed appropriate.

26



EXHIBIT D

MASTER LEASE

27



( Agreernent No. F72702-A

RADIO COMMUNICATIONS SITE LEASE
BALD MOUNTAIN

TH;S LEASE, dated August 11, 2006, ls made by and between MERIWETHER NORTHWEST OREGON

LAND & TIMBER LLC, ; Delaware limlted liablllty company ("Lessor") and the STATE.OF OREGON

acgng by and through its Department of State Police ("Lessee"), Contact persons for the partles,

changeable wlth notice to the other party, are as follows:

.Partles: LESSOR Meriwether Northwest Oregon Land and Tlmber LLC
c/o Forest Capital Partners LLC
450 Paclfic Avenue North
Monmouth, Oregon 97361
ATTN: Land Use SPeclallst
Phone: 503-Bg8-6938, Fax: 503'B38-6907

August 1 ,2006 through August 10,2007

Radlo Communloallons Slte Lease - tii$i

LESSEET 
fftil|Tfili$:5"iE?t''T'"",
Salem, OR 97301
ATTN: Carla Ploedorer or successor
Phone: 503 378-3725; Fax: 503 378-2360

Lessor hereby leases to Lessee and Lessee heroby leases from Lessor the Slte together wlth any

appurtonances thereto, descrlbed as follows:

Site: Approxlmately 40 feet by 40 feet in size, to be fenced by Lessee, locatsd in the Southeast Quarter

of tfre Sbutl'twest Quarter (SEi/4SW1/4) of Sectlon 9, Townshlp I South, Range 7 West, Wlllamette

Merldlan, sltuated ln Polk bounty, Oregbn, ln the approxlmate location shown on the attached map

marked Exhlblt A ("Slte"),

The terms of this Lease are as follows:

1, Gra4t of Use. Lessor hereby grants to Lessee the exclusive right, subjeot only to Lessor's retained

rtghtil;de-graph 7, to use a portion of the slte for radlo and mlorowave communications faclllty and

nii.rowuv" comm-unlbatlons equipment and other uses lncldental thereto which conslsts of one bulldlng

containing electronic equlpment,'emergency dieselgenerator ln the bulldlng, fuel tank, one self-standing

antenna t6wer shucture about 100 feet in helght, lncluding mlcrowave antennas, and allnecessary
appurtenances (Equlpment) looatod in tho centei of tho slte, and other lawful purposes including but not

timiteO to functlons rdlat"C io the conduct of Lessee's business as a state agency for the purpose of

operating thereon the Equipment, subJect to all terms conditions, and llmitations contalned ln thls Lease.

r,io aaOit"ionul:equipment'shall be placbd on the slte by Lessee nor_shall any other structures be built on

the blte by the Lessee wlthout the expross, prior wrltt6n consent of Lessor, such consent not to be

unreasonably withheld,

Lessee shall be responsible for obtainlng any necessary consent of thlrd parties for use of the power

source to whlch Lessee lntends to connect the Equipment'

2, Term, The term of thls Lease shall commonce on the date this Lease ls fully executed, and shall

termlnaie August 10, 2008 unless otherwlse extended.

g. Rent. Lessee shall pay Base Rent annually ln advanoe by the 1Oth day of August each year. The

ear;-R"nt for any parilai y6arshall be prorateci on a per dlem basis. The annual Base Rent shall be per

the following rent schedule:

August 11,20A7 through August 10,2008

28



4, Option to Extend. lf Lessee is not in default, l-essee shall have the optlon to extend this Lease for
tnree@-n?-textenslontermsofflve(5)yearseach.Noticeexerclsingtheextenslonoptionshall
be delivered to Lessor ln wrltlng not less than slxty (60) days prior to the explration of the then current

term, Unless otherwlse agreed in wrlting, if such notlce ls given, all terms and condltlons of this Lease,

other than the rent, shallapply durlng the extenslon term,

S. Road..Gate an$ Sltg AcceSs, Lessee shall have unlimited access to the Site, Lessee's buildings,

tower, antennas, wires, communloatlons llnes and other equipment, subJect to the rules Lessor
estabilshes for the Sitefrom tlme to tlme, whlch rules shall be consistent with appllcable federal, State

and local regulations, No change ln such rules shall be effectlve as to Lessee untll Lessor notlfles Lessee

in wrltlng ofiuch change, Lessbr,shall provlde Lessee wlth a key or comblnation to the locked gate(s) on

the access road to the Site, Lessee shall have no responsibility for malntainlng access to the Site, Lessee

shall always secure the gate upon entering and/or exiting the Site.

Lessee shall have the rlght to use Lessot's road network 24 hours a day, seven days. per week, 365 days

a year for lngress and egress, whether currently exlstlng or subsequently constructed, and. construct and

uje an aoceis road from sald Lessor's road network to Lessee's site on a route approved by Lessor, The

foregoing grant of rights ls subJect to any restrictlon or prohibition contained in any easements, permits, or

llceises giantlng Lelsor the rlght to utlll2e such roadways, lncluding but not limlted to absolute prohibition

against alslgnmlnt, if any, hauling fees, traffic regulations, maintenance costs, construction costs, or

other restrlctions.

Lessee shall not cohstruct any additional roads on Lessor's lands wlthout prior written consent of Lessor,

such consent not to be unreasonably wlthheld

6. Termtnatlon. ln the event Lessee ls unable to secure the necessary approvals, permits, llcenses, or

runo@tolnstallandmalntalnthedesiredradioandmlcrowavecommunlcationsfacllitles,orlf
such approvalsi permlts, llcenses, or funds are otherwlse withdrawn or terminated by governmental

authorlty so that Lessee wlll be unable to use the Slte for lts intended purpose, Lessee shall have the

rlght to ierminate this Lease, Notlce of the right to terminate shall be given to Lessor ln writlng by certified

m?ll, return receipt requested, and shall be elfective fourteen (14) days from.recelpt of such notlce' Any

advance rents pdid by'Lessee shall be refunded on a psr dlem basis for the then current term, Upon

termin'ation, thi's Lease shall become null and vold, and all the partles shall have no further obllgations to

the other, pr:ovided, however, thls Lease shall not be termlnated untllLessee has completed removal of
Its equipment and restored the Site to as good condltion as exlsted prior to this Lease, reasonable wear

the' tear excepted, as follows:

Lessee, upon terminatlon of thls Lease, shall wlthin 30 days remove its personal property and fixtures and

restore thb Site to lts original conditlon, reasonable wear and tear excepted, unless Lessor allows

Lessee's personal property or fixtures to be left behlnd. lf such tlme for removal causes Lessee to remain

on the Sitb after teimination of thls Lease, Lessee shall pay rent at the annual rate set for the last annual

payment before termlnatlon, on a month to month basls, untll such time as the removal of personal

property and flxtures is completed.

Lessor may terminate thls Lease with a thirty (30) day wrltten notice to Lessee in the event Lessee fails to

perform any of lts obllgatlons hereunder; pr6vided, however, Lessor may not terminate this Lease lf the

hature of L6ssee's default is such that more than thirty (30) days are reasonably requlred for cure and

Lessee commences such cure wlthln lhe 30 day perlod and dillgently pursues such cure to completion,

T. Gonstructlon by Lessor,, Lessorhereby expressly reserves the rlght to attach non'lnterfering

comffiessortsownu6e,andtolnstall,build,erect,orconstructradio-equipment,
cables, telephone llnes, power lines, or other facilltles over and across the Site, Lessor shall not use the

Site foi anypurpose inconsistent wlth the use made by Lessee under this Lease. With respect to.any

access eaidments or power llne easements granted to Lessee under this Lease, Lessor may,.without

cost and notwithstanding the fact lt may be inconslstent with the rlghts granted to Lessee herein, cross

Radlo Communlcatlone Slte Lease - Bald Mtn.
Page 2

29



and ro-cross such easements for any purpose deomed reasonably necessary or desirable by Lessor'

lncluding wlthout llmitatlon, to use the easemonts ln connectlon wlth the ptotoction,.admlnlstration,

manag""m"nt, and utlllzation of Lessor's lands or resourcss now or hereafter owned or controlled by

Lessol. Lossor may asslgn all or any part of lts rlghts hereln to thlrd parties or permlt thlrd partles to

exeroise the rlghts of Lessor herein. 
:

B. parklno. Lessee, lts employees, and contractors shall have the rlght to park ln the parklng area at

ttre 5ii6-in connectionlwlth lnitaliation, malntenanco, oporation, and removal of Lessee's equlpmont'

g. Legsor's Govenants. Lessor covenants thal Lessor has th.e rlght to make thls Leass and to lease

tne Sffiffi6ffiIp-ossesslon of the Slte wlll be dellvered to Lessse free of other tenants and of

confllctlng clalmsl'and on paying the rent and porformlng lts covenants of thls Lease, Lessee may enJoy

tne rlgnts"granteO' ny this Leaselree from righiful lnterference by any third party. Lessor fu.rther covenants

ttrat: ii) tnJ Stte ls served by a publlc road; or (ll) an unquallfled right of access from a publlc road to the

Slte ln'the form of an oasement or irrevocablo-llbense has been granted to Lsssor and whlch oasement or

friuvo.aUf" lbense authorlzos use of such access by Lessee during the torm of this Lease free from

ilghtful lnterferonce by any thlrd party, Lessor shall provlde a copy of any easement or license grantlng

such access, lf requested by Lessee.

{0, lmBriovqfnents and Alterattong, Lesseo may place and malntain personal property, including' but

nott@bo'sexpense,lnandontheSlte.Lessgemayp1acewiresor
communlcatibn lhei oh tn" tower and bulldlng to connect equipment on the tower to Lessee's equlpment

localed in the bulldlng. Lessee will retain ownershlp of all personal property placed ln the Slte by Lessee.

11. Malntenance. Lessor shall perform, at Lessot's sole cost and expense, all necessary ordinary

mainGffince of the access roads to the Site. Each party wlll be responslble for their share of above'

oioinuiy:muintenance and repairs bf the access roads t6 tne slte ln proportlon to thelr havlng created the

need for such above.ordlnary malntenance and repalrs, For purposes of thls paraglaph, ordinary

m"tnt"nun"" ls descrlbed as that malntenance neiessary to put a road ln condltion for hauling and to

pi"i".t raiU road from wlnter weather. Lessee, at its solacost and expense shall repalr.and maintain lts
'equlpment 

ln good working order and condltion and shall keep the Site and any power line or access

ea'sements provided for hereln free from rubblsh or othsr debrls caused by Lessee's use.

12. Operaflon bv Lessee/Lessor. Lessor warrants that all communlcatlons equlpment Lessor lnstalls on

tne@legovernmentrulesandregulatlons,lncludlngbutnotllmltedtothoso
of the Federal Communlcatfon Commlsslon (FCC) and FederalAvlation Admlnlstration (FAA), Lessor

rfruif fnrtuff,' ioordlnate, operate and malntain lts radio communications equipmont ln accordance with

appiicaUfe f'aws and regut'aflons so as not to intorfere wlth the oporatlons of Lessee. Lesseo shall install,

ofbrate and maintain ils radio communicatlons equlpment in accordance with appllcable laws and

regulations and in a manner so as not to cause lnieiFerence wlth any other radio or television transmitting

oriecelving equlpment located adJacent to the Site. Lessor will not allow any thlrd party to locate

"quipm"ntin 
dr irn the Site withoui a non-interference clause such that lf the third party equlpnent

inderferes wlth Lessor or Lessee's equlpment, the thlrd party wlll coase operation and use of lts equlpment

has satisfactoryfllters or other alterailons made so that alllnterference ls ellminated.

13. Lessor,s lndemnlflcatlon. Lessor shall lndemnlfy, defend and hoid harmless Lessoe, lncludlng its

ornc@ployees,fromallclaims,sults,oractionsofanynatureresultingfromthe
negtigent acts or om'isslons of Lessoi, its offlcers, contractors, employees or agents under this Lease.

14,@Lesseeshallberesponsibleforanydamageorthirdpartyllability
wrrt@cupancyanduseoftheSite,subJecttothelimitatlonsandconditionsof
tne Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS g0,ZOO-through 30,300, an! fhe Oregon Cons.titu.tlon, Artlcle Xl, Section

i,lo tnJ"it"niof iliOttity arislng out of the nogllgence of the State, The State shall not be required to

fndumnify or defend Lesior from any liabillty artslng out of the wrongful acts of offlcers, employees,

contraotors, or agonts ofLessor'

Radlo Communlcatlons Slte Lease' Bald Mtn.
Page 3

30



lb. Statement of Self, The State of Oregon ls self-insured for lts property and llabillty

exposures, as subJeCt to the Oregon Tort Claims Act, ORS 30.260 through 30.300,

:

16. Casualtv Damaoe. lf the Site or improvements thereon are damaged or destroyed. by fire or other
cas@'degtee:thattheSlteiiunsuitableforlhopurpo8eleased,andifrepalrscannot
reasonably be mado wlthln 90 days, either party may elect to oancel thls Lease. lf thls occurs, any
prepaid rent must be rofunded to Lessee on a pro rata basls,

17. Asslonment and Sublettlno. Lessee shall not asslgn or allow any thlrd party to utlllze any of
tes@ithoutfirstprovldingtoLessoracopy^of.anyproposed.asslgnmentor
sublease document and obtalnlng the prlor written consent of Lessor, whlch consent shall not be

unreaeonably wlthheld, condltloned, or delayod. Lossor is not requlred to oonsent to any subleaso or

asslgnment that does not requlre the sub-lessee or asslgnee, as the cas€ may be, to lnd.emnlfy Lessor

agai-nst claims arlslng from tlie sub-lessee's or asslgnee's negllgence, lf Lessoe enters into an approved

silblease of all or a portlon of the Slte, Lessee shall pay to Lessor 30% of the excess of ths gross recelpts

recelved by Lessee'for the sublease ovsr the Base Rent, Lossee wlll not allow "froe" third party uso nor

wlllLessee allow third party use ln exchange for llke'kind work.

18. F.undinq, Lessor acknowledges lhat rental and other chargos to Lessee under thls Lease are to be

paid ontyfro-m funds derlved by leglslatlve approprlatlon or budge.t llmitatlon. The partles mutually
irnderstind that thls Lease is maOe'Uy Lessee ln'lts offloial capaclty as a state agency and not by its

officers as indlvlduals.

19. Ngn-anoroprlatlon.
ti sufi&niffiGn-ave not beon provided in the legislatlvely approved budget of Lessee, State of Oregon,

actlng by and through its Department of State Pollce, to permit Lessee ln the exerclse of lts reasonablo

admiils[ralve dlscr6tion to continue thls Lease, Lessee may terminate thls Lease wlthout further llability

to Lessor wlth not less than ono hundrsd twonty (120) days prior written notice to Lessor. During such

iermlnatlon notlco perlod, Lessee may negotlat-e with Lessor for contlnuod occupancy ln a portlon of tho

Slte at a reduced rent, lf:contlnuod occupancy ls not feasible on mutually acceptablo terms, then the

LeaSe shall terminate as notifled, ln deteimining the availabillty of funds to Lessee, Lessee wlll use the

budgetapproved by the Oregon State Leglslature or acls of the Leglslative Emergency Board.

lf by a specific leglslatlve act, Lessee as named horein ls abolished or lts funotlons absorbed into other

stafe ag'ency or igencles, Lessee may terminate thls Lease, wlthout further llabllity to Lessor except for

site olean ub and restoratlon, wlth not less than 120 days prlor writton notlce to Lessor.

lf any of the foregolng occurs wlth respect to an agency/dlvlsion occupylng ol!.y a.portion of the Site,

Less'ee shall havJ thjrlght to terrninat6 as to that portlon of the Site. Rent will not be proportionately

reduced or refunded.

20, Taxes, Lessee shall pay, prior to delinquency, all taxes assessed upon trade equipmont, and all

othe-r personal property oi tesiee mainlained on the Site or elsewhere. Lessor shall pay when due all

reat ploperty ta'xes' an,i all other fees and assessments attributable to the Site, However, Lessee shall
pay,'as'aOOftionat rent, any increase in real property taxes levled against the Slte whlch is directly

attiibutable to Lessee's use of the Slte, and Lessor agrees to furnlsh proof of such inoease to Lessee.

21. Subordlnatlon/Attornment Lease. Lessee wlll respond to Lessor's reasonable request for

suoldedsuchdooumentshallclearlystatothatanysuccessorin
lnterest to Lessor under thls Leaseihall assume and perform all the responsibilitles and obligations of

Lessor under this Lease,

22. Notlces, Notices betweon the parties shall be in writing, effeotive when porsonally lelivered to the
-OOffip-d"lfied 

hsreln under "Parties" on Page 1 , or lf malled, effectlve forty-eight (48) hours following

malllng to'the address for such party specified hereln or such other address as either party may speclfy

by notice to the other.

Radlo Communloatlons Slle Lease " Bald Mtn'
Page 4

3l



t

23, COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAW:
(1 ),

(a e underslgned, under

Lessornamed hereln, that I have au and knowled
Lessor ls, to the best of my knowledge, not ln vlolatlon of any Oregon tax laws,

(b) For the purposes of thls certlflcate, "Oregon tax laws" means the state Inherltance tax, glft tax,

persbnallncome tai, wlthholdlng tax, corporatlon lncome and exclse taxes, amusement devlce tax,

ilmber taxes, clgaretie tax, otheitobacco tax, 9-1-1 emergency communlcatlons tax, Elderly Rgtt?t. . .

Asslstance Prodram and local taxes admlnlstered by the Department of Revenue (Lane Translt Dlstrict

Tax, Tri-Metropolltan Translt Dlstrlct Employer Payroll Tax, and Trl-Metropolltan Translt Dlstrict

Self-Employment Tax),

(c) lf thls Lease ls amended, Lessor shall execute a "Certlflcate of Gompllance.wlth Oregon Tax
Lawl,i Such a form ls attached [o thls Lease for the Lessor's use. Lessor may make copies of thls form

as needed,

Radlo Communlcallone Slte Lease - Bald Mtn,
Pago 5

of perjury that I am authorlzed to act ln behalf of
ge regardlng the payment of taxes, and that

(2). pt"operty TaXes. Lessor certlfles that Lessor ls not currently dellnquent on any appllcable

propeitiiExeqGtleilbn the Slte and that Lessor wlll durlng the term of thls Lease pay all such taxes

bef6re [he taxes become dellnquent by law, or by May 1Sth of each ypar, whlchever comes sooner'

Notwlthstandlng any other provislons 6f this Leaie, ln case Lessor ls found dellnquent on property taxes,

Lessee may at-its s'ole optlbn termlnate thls Lease wlth thlrty (30) days prlor wrltten notlce to Lessor.

shall comply wlth ORS 656;017, whlch requlres "subJect employers" to provlde Oregon workers'

compensitl-on coverage that conforms to Oregon law for all of thelr "subJect workers", unless exempt

under ORS 656,126.

24. NO PRESUMPTION AGAINST DRAFTER! Lessor and Lessee understand, acknowledge, and agree

tnat:atedbybothpartles;anoJp)ln.anycontroversy,dlspute,or
conteit over the meanlng, lnterpreiatlon, valldlty, or enforceablllty of thls Lease or any of lts terms or

condltlons, there shall be no lnference, presumptlon, or concluslon drawn whatsoever agalnst elther party

by vlrtue of that party havlng drafted thls Lease or any portlon thereof.

25,UERGER.

Thls Lease oonstltutes the entlre agreement between the partles. No walver, consent, modlflcatlon, or

change of terms of thls Leasewlll blnd elther party unless ln wrltlng and slgned byb_oth partles. Such

walvelr, consent, modlflcatlbn, or change, lf made, wlll be effectlve only ln the speclflc lnstance and for the

speclflc purpose glven. There are no understandlngs, agreemenls, o1 representatlons., oral or wrltten, not

sfecfiied ln'the L6ase regardlng thls Lease. Lessor and Lessee, by the slgnatures below. by the

r6spectlve, authorlzed representatlve, hereby acknowledge that each party has read thls Lease,

understands lt, and agrees to be bound by lts terms and condltlons'

Lessor and Lessee agree to comply wlth allfederal, state, and local laws, rules, regulatlons, executlve

orders and ordlnances appllcable to thls Lease, whlch are lncorporated hereln by reference,

Thls Lease shall not become effectlve and shall not be blndlng upon the State of Oregon or any agency of

the State untll thls Lease has been executed, ln the slgnature spaces provlded below, by all parties to thls

Lease, lncludlng those whose approval ls requlred,

26. PARAGRAPII TITLES. Paragraph tltles are added for convenlence only and are not lntended to

32



llmll lnterpretatlon of any provlslon of this Lease,

The parlles have executed thls Lease the day of

LESSOR:
MERIWETHER NORTHWEST OREGON LAND & TIMBER LLC,
a Delaware llmlted llablllty company

By

Tax

/^fu-

,2007,

Radlo Communloallons Slte Lease. Bald Mln.
Page 6

20:1626787-.

LESSEE:
STATE OF OREGON aotlng by and through lts
Deparlmont of State lce

Attachments:

Exhlblt A - Map showlng locatlon of the Slte

-ts



(

TO:

RE; Lessee: Department of State Police

Site: , Bald Mbuntaln; Polk County, Oregon

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH OREGON TAX LAWS

l, the underslgned, hereby certlfy under ponalty of perjury: (Check one)

X that I am authorlzed to act ln behalf of the Lessor, as named below, that I have

ffiority and knowledge regardlng the payment of taxes, and that Lessor is, to the best of
my knowledge, not in violation of any Oregon tax laws.

For the purposes of this ceftificate, "Oregon tax laws" means the state inheritance tax, gift

tax, personal income tax, withholdlng tax, corporation lncome and excise taxes, amusement

Oevii;e tax, timber taxes, cigarette tax, other tobacco tax, 9.1'1 emergency communications

tax, Elderly Rental Assistaice Program and local taxes administered by the Department of
Revenue (tane Transit District Tai, Trl-Metropolitan Translt District Employer Payroll Tax,

and Tri-Motropolitan Transit District Self'Employment Tax),

lrl* iu:z-|-Aer tlor*/,lt Zsf 6r land 4'n;l'. LLc

Slgnature

Oreqon State Police
255tapltol St NE 4rh Floor
Salem, OR 97301
Attn: Facillties Speclalist

Pursuant to the'Lease provisions on "CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH OREGON

TAX LAWS" and as required by the Oregon Department of Revenue's Administrative Rule,

OAR 1b0-405,385(6)-(B), the following Certlficate is submitted on the annual basis on or 
_ /..

about the anniversary dite of thls Lease, Thls Certlflcate is for the lease year beginning -{/r
,zoo*b-to re1f242s!/o p o'a/,

Radlo Communloallons Slte Lease - Bald Mln.
Pago 7

Printed J^"f (u^ kl-

34



Tltle Date: 9*'"r*, a/, aoa zT a

Radlo Communloallons Slte Lease - Bald Min,
Page B

35



i

1500

36



I:ur;re3,2024

Hampton Timber, LLC

PO Box 2315
Salem, OR 97308-2315

subject: BALD MTN COMMUNICATIONS SITE INTENT TO RENEW

To: Amy Davidson, CorPorate Council

please accept the undersigned, as the State of Oregon, by and through its Department of

Transportation, under a certain Lease known as the Radio Communications Site Lease Dated

August L!,2OO6,as amended on March 2,701!; October 13,2O1't; and May t2,2015 (Lease),

forthe lease of a portion of the property located at Bald Mountain, and more particularly

described as: Approximately 40 feet by 40 feet in size, to be fenced by Lessee, located in the

Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter (SE1/4SW1 /4 of Section 9, Township 9 South,

Range 7 West, Willamette Meridian, situated in Polk County, Oregon

We, the Oregon Department of Transportation, hereby seeking to extend the term of the said

Agreement for the first of two, five-year extensions, commencing on August II,2024, and

running thorough and including August LL,2029.

It is further provided, however, that all other terms of the Lease shall continue during this

extended term as if set forth herein.

Sincerely,

,(^rr "*9{rrr"-
Shannon Hance
Realty Program Coordinator
Oregon Department of Transportation
Wireless Communications Section
Shannon. Hance@odot. oregon. gov
97t.301.3283

31



HnnnproN Lumnnn

August 3L,2023

Leah Homer, Assistant Director, Operations

Oregon Department of Transportation

State of Oregon

Wireless Communications Section

455 Airport Road, Building C

Salem, Oregon 9730L

Re Radio Communications Site Lease Dated August LL,2006, as amended

Bald Mountain, Polk County, Oregon

Dear Ms. Homer:

I write to inform you that l-lampton Timber, LLC (Hampton) is the new Lessor of the Radio

Communications Site Lease Dated August L!,20A6, as amended on March 2,20tt; October L3,

20tL; and May L2,2At5 (Lease), forthe lease of a portion of the property located at Bald

Mountain, and more particularly described as:

Approximately 40 feet by 40 feet in size, to be fenced by Lessee, located in the

Southeast Quarter of the Southwest Quarter (SE1/4SW1 /al of Section 9, Township 9

South, Range 7 West, Willamette Meridian, situated in Polk County, Oregon

Enclosed for your infor:mation is the Special Warranty Deed recorded on August t6,2023, which

transfetred ownership of the property from AP Timber, LLC to Hampton. The parcel of property

subJect to the Lease is included as parcelS in the deed. Also enclosed is a copy of the General

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated August t6,2023, in which AP Timber, LLC

transferred all of its interests in real property leases (including this Lease) to Hampton.

All of the terms and conditions of the Lease remain in fullforce and effect. The rights and

obligations of the State of Oregon, by and through the Oregon Department of Transportation,

as Lessee are unchanged.

9600 SW Barnes Road

Sulte 200
Portland, Oregon 97225-6666

Telephone 503,297-7691
Fax 503.203-6618
www,HamptonLumber.com

38



Please dlreet all future lease payments to thls address:

Hampton Tlmber, LLC

Po Box 23Ls

Salem, OR 97308-2315

Should you have any questions, please contact me at (5031297'769t or at.

a mydavidson @ham pton lum ber,com.

Sincerely,

0ttlw
Amy Davldson

Corporate Counsel

Enclosures

39



GNNERAI, ASSIGIIMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

THIS GENERAL ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT (this
,'Assignment") is made and entered into as ofAugust 16 , 2023,by and between AP TIMBER,

LLC, aDelaware limited liability company ("Assignor"), and HAMPTON TIMBER, LLC, an

Orogon limited liability company (3'Assignee"). This Assignment is entored into as required to.

effeituate the olosing of tfre purchase and sale transaction pursuant to that certain Purchase and

Sale Agreement dated June 23, 2023 ("Purchase Agreement'n), by and betweel Assignor, as

Seller, ind Assignee, as Purchaser. Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used in

this Assignment shall have ths meanings asoribed to them in the Purchase Agreement.

SECTION 1. ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTION

To the extent transforable under applicable law and applicable to the Property, Assignot

hereby transfers, sells and assigns to Assignee all of Assignor's rightn title and interest in and to

the Personal Property, Unrecorded Agreements, Real Property Leases, Forestry Permits, Assumed

Condenrnations,- and the Continuing Obligations (tho "Assigned Interests'). To the extent

transferable under applicable law and applioable to the Property, Assigneo -hgreby 
acoepts the-

foregoing transfer and assignment and alreos to assume and pelform all of the_obligations of
nssignoiunder tho Assigned Interests first occurring and arising fi'om and after the Effective Date.

SECTION 2. INDEMNITY

Assignor hereby agrees to defond, indemnis, and hold Assignee harmless from and against

any and ail losses, claims, demands, liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses (including, without

limitation, reasonable attorneys' and accountants' fees, court costs, and expert witnesses' fees)

first occurring and arising under any ofthe Assigned lnterests prior to the date of this Assignment.

Assignee hereby agrees io defend, indemnify, and hold Assignor harmless from and against any

and itt losses,:claims, demands, liabilities, damages, costs, and expenses (inoluding, without

limitation, reasonable attorneys' and accountants' fees, court costs, and expert witnesses' ftes)

first occurring and arising under any of the Assigned Interests on or after the date of this

Assignment.

SECTION 3. MISCEI,LANEOUS

This Assigrrment shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit ofthe parties and their

rcspectivo succ"r-sors and assigns and may be exeouted in multiple counterparts, each of which

whin so executed shall be dee.mecl an original, but all such counterparts shall constitute one and

the same instrumsnt. This Assignment and the Purohase Agreement contain the entire agreement

and understanding of the PartieJ with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior

and contemporanions agreements with respect thereto. This Assignment shall be governed by and

construed in aocordanci with the laws of the State of Oregon (without regard to the prinoiples

thereof relating to conflicts of laws).

lsignatures on follow ing p age (s).1

1 - BXHIBIT B: GENERAL ASSIGNMENT AND ASSUMPTTON AGREEMENT
t 20452 I 49.2 007 0 622-00022

40



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, tlie parties have executed this Assignment as of the date first

above written,

ASSIGNOR:

AP TIMBER, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

By; ManulifelnvestmentManagement
Tinrberland and Agriculture Ino, a Delaware

corpot'ation, its Advisor

By
Name: Derek I(.
Title: Director

Solmie

ASSIGNtrE:

HAMPTON TIMBER, LLC,
an Orcgon limited liability

By:
Name: _
Title:

[signatur;e Page - Genelal Assignment and Assurnption Agreement]

41



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Assignment as of the date first

above written.

ASSIGNOR:

AP TIMBER, LLC,
a Delaware limited liability company

Byr ManulifelnvestmentManagement
TimbErland and Agrieulture Inc, a Delaware
corpol'ation, its Advisor

B
Name: Derek K. Solmie
Titler Vice President

ASSIGNEE:

HAMPTON TIMBER, LLC,
an Oregon limited liability

B
Name: Brian Vetrone
Title: Vice President - Finance & Treasurer

[Signature Page - General Assignment and Assurnption Agreementl 42



After Recording Retum To:

Flampton Timber, LLC
c/o Hampton Resources, Inc.
9600 SW Bames Road, Suite 200
Portland, Oregon 97225

LINTIL A CHANGE IS REQUESTED,
ALL TAX STATEMENTS SHALL BE
SENT TO:

Hampton Timber, LLC
clo I'Iampton Resources, Inc,
9600 SW Bames Road, Suite 200
Portland, Oregon 97225

RECORDED IN POLK COUNTY
Valerie Unger, County Clerk

REC-WD Cnt=1 Stn=7 V. UNGER

$90.00 $11.00 $10,00 s60.00 $5.00

2023-006222
081161202312:12:01 PM

$176.00

F
\

SPECIAL WARRANTY DEED

AP TIMBER, LLC,aDelaware limited liability company ("Grantor"), with an address at

c/o Manulife Investment Management Timberland and Agriculture Inc, t97 Clarcndon Street, C-
08-99, Bostono Massachusetts, 02116-5010, conveys and specially warrants to HAMPTON
TMBER, LLC, an Oregon limited liability company ("Grantee'), with an address at c/o Hampton
Resources, Inc., 9600 SW Barnes Road, Suite 200, Portland, Oregon 97225 the real property

described on Exhibit A att'ached hereto (the o'Proportyo'), free of liens and encumbrances created

or suffered by Grantor

The Properly is conveyed by Grantor and accepted by Grantee subject to those matters
described on Exhibit B attachecl hereto,

The true consideration for this conveyance is $108,624,605.77,

BEFORE SIGNING OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRUMENT, TTM PERSON
TR.ANSFERRING FEE TITLE SI{OULD INQUIRB ABOUT THE PERSON'S zuGHTS, IF
ANY, UNDER ORS 195.300, I95.301 AND I95.305 TO 195,336 AND SECTIONS 5 TO 11,

CHAPTER424, OREGON LAWS 2AOT,SECTIONS 2TO 9 AND 17, CHAPTER 855, OREGON
LAWS 20A9, AND SECTIONS 2 TA 7, CHAPTER 8, OREGON LAWS 2010. THIS
TNSTRUMENT DOES NOT ALLOW USE OF THE PROPERTY DESCRIBED IN THIS
INSTRUMENT IN VIOLATION OF APPLICABLE LAND USE LAWS AND REGIJLATIONS.
BEFORE SIGNING OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRUMENT, THE PERSON ACQUIRING FEE
TITLE TO THE PROPERTY SHOULD CFIECK WITH THE APPROPRIATE CITY OR
COTINTY PLANNING DEPARTUBNT TO VERIFY THAT THE TINIT OF LAND BEING
TRANSFERRED IS A LAWFULLY ESTABLISHED LOT ORPARCEL, AS DEFINED IN ORS
92,070 OR 215,010, TO VERIFY THE APPROVED USES OF THE LOT OR PARCEL, TO
DETERMINE ANY LIMITS O}I LAV/SUITS AGAINST FARMING OR FOREST
PRACTICES, AS DEFINED IN ORS 30.930, AND TO INQUIRts ABOUT THE RIGHTS OF

Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon) Page I

43



NEICHBORING PROPERTY OWNERS, IF ANY, IJNDER ORS 195.300, 195.301 ANg
195,305 TO 195.336 AltD $ECTIONS 5 TO 11, CHAPreFt 424, OREGON LAWS 2007,

sEcfioNs zTa 9 AND t7, CI{APTER 855, OREOONLAWS 2009, A}lD SECTIONS 2TO
7, CHAPTER 8, OREGON LAIWS aOLO,

fRemaindor of Page Intentionally Lefr Blank; Signature and Acknowledgoment Appear on the

Following Pagel

Page 2Speclal Warranty Deod (Polk County, Oregon)

44



DATED offective as ofAugust lO ,2023.

GRANTORT AP TIMBE& LLC,
a Dolawals limited. liability oompany

By; ManulifelnvestmsntManagemont
Timberland and Agrioulture Ino, a Delaware
coryoration, its Advisor

Name: Derok K, So
Title:Director

STATE OF NORTH CAROLINA )
)

couNTY OF MECKLBNBURG )

On this lag&tay of,August, 2023,beforc me, the undersigned, aNotary Publio i! Td forthe

state offfi-ft-h Carolina,luly cornmissioned and sworn, personally appeared Derek K. Solmie,

known to be the Direotor of Manulife Invostment Managoment Timberland and Agrioulture Inc,

a Detaware oorporation and advisor to AP Timber, LLC, aDelaware limited liability oompany,

the oompany that exeouted the forogoing instrument, and aoknowledged the instrumont.to be the

fros and voiuntary act and deed of that oompany for the usos and purposes t!011n gentioned,
and on oath stated that they wsro authorized to exeoute tho instrumont on behalf of the company'

WITNESS my hand and offiolal sealhereto aflixed the day and yoar first abovo written.

NOTARY State Carolina
My Commission Expires:
lJfr ro /lar-aI'IOTARY PUBL lc

vlocklonburg County

uonrmieslon Expkes
fJorlh

[Slgnature Pago- Speolal Waranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon)]

45



EXHIBIT A

Legal'I)escription of the Property

PARCBI l: (ACCOLTNT NO.:319490, MAP NO.: 087000003501)

BEGINNING AT TIIE QUARTER CORNER BETWEEN SECTIONS 22 A}tD 27,

TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RA}IGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MEzuDIAN, POLK
COUNTY, OREGON; THENCE ITEST TO THE CENTER OF TI{E LITTLE LUCKIAMUTE
RIVER; THENCE NORTHEASTERLY ALONG THE CENTER LINE OF SAID RIVER TO

THE NORTH.SOUTH CENTER LINE OF SECTION 22; THENCE SOUTH ALONG SAID

CENTER LINE TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.

PARCEL 2 : (ACCOUNT NO. : 3lg825,MAP NO. : 0S800000 1 50 1 )

TI.IE NORTH HALF OF T}IE SOUTHEAST QUARTER AND THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER
OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 22, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8

WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

TOGETHER WTH A PERPETUAL NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT OVER THE EXISTING

ACCESS ROAD, AS IT IS NOW LOCATED, OR MAY BE RELOCATED FROM TIME TO

TIME, SERVING TI{E PROPE,RTY OVER LANDS OWNED BY MERIWETHER
NORTHWEST OREGON LAND & TIMBER, LLC AS SET FORTH IN SPECIAL

WARRANTY DEED RECORDED APRIL 30, 2OO8 IN DOCUMENT NO. 2008-005597,

BOOK OF RECORDS FORPOLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PROPERTIES BURDENED BY THE EASEMENT ARE LOCATED IN SECTIONS 31, 32

AND 33, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN,
SECTIONS 22,27,28,34AND 35, TOWNSI{IP B SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE

WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE

WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, AND SECTIONS I A}{D 2, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 8

WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COIINTY, OREGON.

ALSO TOGETHER WITH RIGHTS OF ACCESS CREATED BY THE EASEMENT
AGREEMENT FOR RIGHT OF WAY AND ROAD USE CREATED BY INSTRUMENT,
INCLI.IDING THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS THEREOF, BETWEEN BOISE CASCADE

CORPORATION, WILLAMETTE INDUSTzuES, AND RICHARDSON COMPANY OF

OREGON, RECORDED ruLY 18, 1985 IN BOOK 188, PAGE 380, BOOK OF RECORDS

FOR POLK COUNTY OREGON AND RIGHT OF WAY AND ROAD USE AGREEMENT,

INCLUDING THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS THEREOF, BETWEEN UNITED STATES

DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR, BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT, AND BOISE

CASCADE CORPORATION, RECORDED ruLY $,1973IN BOOK 39, PAGE 720, BOOK

OF RECORDS FOR POLK COIINTY, OREGON.

ALSO TOGETHER WITH A RIGHT OF WAY TO USE ALL EXISTING ROADS AS SET

FORTH IN RECIPROCAL RIGHT OF WAY AGREEMENT RECORDED NOVEMBER 18,

2OO8 IN DOCUMENTNO, 2008-013540, BOOK OF RECORDS IN POLK COUNTY,

OREGON.

PARCEL 3: (ACCOUNTNO.: 319838, MAP NO.: 088000001502)

special warranty Deed @olk county, oregon) Dxhibit A - Page I

46



THE EAST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 22, TOWNSHIP 8

SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COLINTY,

OREGON.

TOGETHER WITH A PERPETUAL NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEMENT OVER THE EXISTING

ACCESS ROAD, AS IT IS NOW LOCATED, OR MAY BE R.ELOCATED FROM TIME TO

TIME, SERVTNG TFIE PROPERTY OVER LANDS OWNED BY MERIWETHER
NORTHWEST OREGON LAND & TIMBER, LLC AS SET FORTH IN SPECTAL

WARRA}ITY DEED RECORDED APRIL 30, 2OO8 IN DOCUMENT NO. 2008.005597,

BOOK OF RECORDS FOR POLK COUNTY, OREGON,

PROPERTIES BURDENED BY THE EASEMENT ARE LOCATED IN SECTIONS 31, 32

AND 33, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN,

SECTIONS 22,27,28,34 AND 35, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF T}IE

WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE

WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, AND SECTIONS 1 AND 2, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 8

WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 4: (ACCOUNT NO.; 2il8685,MAP NO.: 088000002500)

THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 35,

TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANG'E 8 WEST O.F THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COTJNTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 5: (ACCOLINT NO.: 453248,MAP NO.: 096190000200)

THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTI{WEST QUARTER OF SECTION 19,

TOWNSI{IP 9 SOUTH; RANGE 6 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COTINTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 6: (ACCOLINTNO.: 184692,MAP NO.; 096300000300)

THE DONATION LAND CLAIM OF EDWARD B WATERS AND SARAH WATERS, HIS

WIFE, BEING NOTIFICATION NO S }qDESCRIBED AS THE NORTHWEST QUARTER
AND THE NORTH HALF G-ly2) OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER (SV/ t/4) oF SECTION

30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 6 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

colINTY; OREGON.

SAVE AND EXCEPT THEREFROM THE FOI-LOWING:

BEGINNING 80 RODS NORTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30,

TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, ITANGE 6 WEST OF THE WILLAMET"TE MERIDIAN; THENCE

RIINNIN6 NORTH 42 RODS AND 7 LINKS; THENCE SOUTH 87-3/4" EAST, 29 RODS

AND 16 LINKS; THENCE sourH le-tt2" EASr e Rory AI9_?1!_ry{l rI{ENCE
NORTI{ 75-3/4' EAST 64 RODS AND 3 LINKS; THENCE SOUTH 47 RODS AND 13

LINKS; THENCE WEST 9s RODS AND 1 LINK T0 THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.

ALSO EXCEPT:

BEGINNING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER O\TE 1/4)

oF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER (SW 1/4) OF SECTION 30IN TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH,

RANGE 6 WEST OF TTIE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON, AND

Exhibii A-Page2Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon)

47



RI.JNNING THENCE NORTH O" 27,EAST 798.3 FEET TO AN IRON PIN; T}IENCE NORTI-I

75O 52, EAST 326,8 FEET TO A POINT IN T}IE COI]NTY ROAD; THENCE SOUTH 2AO 36,

EAST 426 )FEI|I;THENCE SOUTH 10o 12'EAST 381.6 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 21o 39'

EAST.I17.3 FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID NORTHEAST QUARTER (NE 1I4) OF

TIIE SOUTHWEST QUARTER (SW 1/4) OF SECTION 30; THENCE NORTH 89" 26' WEST

548.8 FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING.

ALSO SAVE AND EXCEPT:

BEGINNING AT A POINT 793,0 FEET EAST FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF

SECTION 30 IN TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 6 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN, POLK COLINTY, OREGON, AND RUNNING THENCE EAST 469,0 FEET TO 

.

A POINT IN THE COLINTY ROAD; THENCE SOUTH 182.0 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 60'
WEST 250.0 FEET; TFIENCE NORTH 39" 26'WEST 397 .5 FEET TO THE PLACE OF

BEGINNING EXCEPTING A RIGHT OF WAY EASEMENT OVER THE EXISTING AND
PRESENTLY TRAVELED ROADWAY.

ALSO SAVE AND EXCEPT:

BEGINNING AT A POINT 793,0 FEET EAST FROM THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF

SECTION 30 IN TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTI{, RANGE 6 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN, AND RLINNING THENCE SOUTH 39o 26',EAST 397.5 FEET; THENCE

NORTH 60" EAST 250 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 72FEET; THENCE SOUTH 65" WEST 300

FEET; THENCE NORTH 30o WEST 452 FEET TO THE PTACE OF BEGINNING.

ALSO EXCEPTING THEREFROM:

BEGINNING AT A POINT WHICH IS NORTH 44O 50'45'' EAST, 1306.50 FEET FROM
THE WEST QUARTER (W1/4) CORNER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE
6 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COIJNTY, OREGON; THIS POINT
BEING AN OLD TRUCK AXLE DRTVEN INTO THE GROUND; TI{ENCE NORTH 78" 47,

EAST 807,6 FEET TO A TRUCK AXLE AT THE EDGE OF BURBANK COUNTY ROAD
RIGHT OF WAY; THENCE ALONG RIGHT OF WAY NORTH 21" 4}'WEST 186.2 FEET;
THENCE STILL ALONG RIGHT OF WAY NORTH 02" 47'EAST 143.5 FEET TO A TRUCK
AXLE; THENCE SOUTH 79o 25-l/2'WEST 735.6 FEET TO A TRUCK AXLE; THENCE

SOUTI{ 01"20' WEST, 338.50 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

ALSO SAVE AND EXCEPT:

BEGINNING AT A POINT WHICH IS NORTH 54O 18' 56" EAST 1,808.6 FEET FROM THE
WEST QUARTER CORNER SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 6 WEST OF
THE WILLAMETTE MERTDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON;.I.HIS POINT'BEING THE
INTERSECTION OF A FENCE LINE AND A CREEK, MARKED BY A 1'' IRON PIPE
DRMN INTO THE GROUND; THENCE SOUTH 01o49' 13" WEST 1,092.6 FEET WFIICH
IS A POINT IN THE CENTER OF TI{E CREEK; THENCE SOUTH 77" 47' 42' WBST 23.7

FEET ALONG THE CENTER LINE OF TIIE CREEK; THENCE SOUTH 27"12' 41" WEST

91.2 FEET ALONG TI-IE CENTER LINE OF THE CREEK; THENCE SOUTH 23o 05'48"
EAST 45O,2FEET TO A POINT ON THE FENCE LINE NORTH OF THE ROAD MARKED
BY A I" IRON PIPE, AND HENCEFORTH FOLLOWING AN EXISTING FENCE LINE
MORE PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: NORTI-I 85' 15' 39" EAST 135.6

Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon) Exhibit A - Page 3

48



FEET; THENCE NORTH 75o 17'25" EAST 217 .6 FEET WHICH IS A FENCE CORNER

WOnfpU BY A l" IRON PIPE; THENCE NORTH 5o 14' 00" EAST 107.4 FEET; THENCE

NORTH 14" !4'00" EAST 162.3 FEET; THENCE NORTH Ol" L2'27" WEST 132.9 FEET;

THENCENORTH 18o 32'42" EAST 164.4 FEET; THENCENORTH 75" 42' 15" EAST 274,1

FEET, THENCE NORTH 00" 03' 37" WEST 95.0 FEET; THENCE NORTH 12" 15',10" WEST

40.5 FEET, THENCE NORTH 36o 09' 29" WEST 35.4 FEET; THENCE NORTH 30o 05n 42"

WEST 572.4FEET; THENCE NORTH 26" 38' 47" WEST 94.8 FEET WHICH IS A TRUCK

AXLE DR[VEN INTO THE GROUND; THENCE SOUTH 76"47' 00" WEST 244.9 FEET TO

THE POINT OF BEGINNING, ALL IN SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 6

WEST OF TIIE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

ALSO S^A,VE AND EXCEPT:

A PORTION.OF THAT TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO BOISE CASCADE

CORPORATION PER VOLUME}IT,PAGE 455, POLK COUNTY BOOK OF RECORDS,

tylNc IN THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH,

RAI{GE 6 WEST, WILLAMETTE MERIDIAI.I, POLK COUNTY, OREGON, MORE

PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: BEOINNING AT A I'' IRON PIPE AT THE

SOUTHWEST CORNER OF TFIAT TF,ACT OF LA}ID CONVEYED TO GERALD P.

WEISENSEE AND JEAN M. WEISENSEE, TRUSTEES UNDER THE GERALD P

WEISENSEE LIVING TRUST DATED APRIL 6,1990 PER POLK COUNTY BOOI( OF

RECORDS 324,PAGE I4OI,SAID PIPE LYING SOUTH 71" T5' 18'' EAST 1600.66 FEET

FROM AN ALUMINUM PIPE AT TI{E WEST QUARTER CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30;

T}IENCE ALONG TI{E SOUTFI LINE OF SAID WEISENSEE TRACT NORTFI 85" 24' 37"

EAST l3s,2s FEET; THENCE CONTINUING ALONG SAID SOUTH LINE NORTH 76" 26'

23'' EAST 217.04 FEET TO A 1'' PIPE AT TIIE SOUTHEAST CORNER THEREOF;

T}IENCE LEAVING SAID SOUTH LINE, SOUTH 68O 21' 59'' EAST 28.58 FEET TO THE

NORTHEAST CORNER OF THAT TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO EUGENE J. AND

BETTY L, MAY PER VOLUME 134, PAGE 331, SAID BOOK OF RECORDS, SAID

NORTHEAST CORNER LYING IN THE CENTERLINE OF COLTNTY ROAD NO 965

(BURBANK ROAD); THENCE LEAVING SAJD CENTERLINE ALONG THE NORTH LINE

bp sem MAy rnecr sourH 75o 58' 09" WEST 328,61FEET To rHE N0RTHWEST

CORNER THEREOF, LYING ON THE EAST LINE OF TI{AT TRACT OII LAND

CONVEYED TO WEISENSEE/ GRAHAM, INC PER VOLUMB 235, PAGE 2005, SAID

BOOK OF RECORDS, TI-IENCE ALONG SAID EAST LINE NORT'H OOO5' O5U WEST 12,A4

FEET TO TI"IE NORTHEAST CORNER OF SAID WEISENSEE/GRAHAM TRACT,

THENCE ALONG THE NORTI{ LINE OF SAID WEISENSEEIGRAI'IAM TRACT SOUTH

T5o t B' 23" WEST 55,37 FEET TO A 5/8" IROII ROD; THENCE LEAVING SAID NORTFI

LINA NORTH OO" 05' O5'' WEST 30.70 FEET TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.

ALSO SAVE AND EXCEPT:

THAT PORTION CONVEYED TO MICHAEL A. SCHOLZ AND JONI O. SCHOLZBY
DEED RECORDED DECEMBER 15, 2008, DOCUMENTNO. 2OO8-1425I AND RE-

RECORDED SEPTEMBER 9, 2OOI,DOCUMENT NO. 2009-10664 AND RE-RECORDED

NOVEMBER 19, 2009, DOCUMENTNO. 2009-13349.

ALSO SAVE AND EXCEPT:

Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon) Bxhlbit A - Page 4

49



A PORTION OF THAT TRACT CONVEYED TO BOISE NORTHWEST OREGON LAND &
TIMBER, LLC PER DOCUMENT 2005.001610, POLK COTJNTY RECORDS, LYING IN
THE WEST HALF OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 6 WEST,

WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COIINTY, OREGON, MORE PARTICULARLY
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT A 16'' DOUGLAS FIR TREE WITH A 5/8'' IRON ROD WITNESS

CORNER NORTH 65"43' 57U EAST 3.OO FEET, SAID TREE LYING SOUTFI 89" 1 6' 03 ''

EAST 7g3.OO FEET, SOUTH 29" 16'03'' EAST 452,00 FEET AND SOUTH 8O 58' 06" WEST

71J3 FBET FROM A BRASS CAPPED MONUMENT AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF

SAID SECTION 30; THENCE NORTH 65o 43',57" EAST 413.40 FEET TO THE
CENTERLINE OF COUNTY ROAD NO. 960s (BURBANK ROAD); THENCE ALONG
SAID CENTERLINE BY THE FOLLOWING COURSES: SOUTH 50" 4l' 34u EAST 173.57

FEET;TI{ENCE SOUTH 6" 39' 22 EAST 136.91 FEET; TI-IENCE SOUTH 5o 18'30" WEST

25L13 FEET; TIIENCE SOUTH g" 24' 03" EAST 146.03 FEET; THENCE SOUTH 18o 41' 19"

EAST 24.4.59 FEET; THENCE LEAVING SAID CENTERLINE, SOUTH 76 42'05" WEST

765.08 FEET TO A1-l/ 2" AXLE; THENCE NORTH 8o 58' 06" EAST 888.69 FEET TO THE

POTNT OF'BEGINNING, CONTAINING 12.03 ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

ALSO SAVE AND EXCEPT:

A PORTION OF THAT TRACT CONVEYED TO BOISE NORTHWEST OREGON LAND &

TIMBER, LLC PER DOCUMENT 2005.001610, POLK COUNTY RECORDS, LYING IN
TITE WEST HALF OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 6 WEST,

W]LLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COI.INTY, OREGON, MORE PARTICULARLY
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:

BEGINNING AT A1-1/ 2'' AXLE AT TI{E SOUTHWEST CORNER OF THAT TRACT

CONVEYED TO MICHAEL A. SCHOLZ A]'{D JOAN M. SCHOLZ PER VOLUME 280,

PAGEl5g3,POLKCOLTNTYBOOKOFRECORDS,LYINGSOUTH8gO16'03''EAST
7g3.}}FEET, SOUTH 29" !6t 03" EAST 452,00 FEET, SOUTH 8" 58'06" WEST 960.43

FEET, AND SOUTH 2" Tg'56" EAST 345,82 FEET FROM A BRASS CAPPED MONUMENT

AT THE NORTI-IWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 30, THENCE ALONG TI-IE SCHOLZ

SOUTH LINE, NORTH 76" 56'36'' EAST 562.56 FEET TO A POINT IN CLAYTON CREEK

AT THE NORTI{WEST CORNER OF THAT TRACT CONVEYED TO GERALD P.

WEISENSEE AND JEAN M, WEISENSEE PER VOLUME 324, PAGE 1409, SAID BOOK

OF RECORDS, LYING NORTH L" 52'32'! EAST 6.00 FEET ITROM A 5/8'' IRON ROD

WITNESS CORNER; THENCE ALONG THE WEISENSEE WEST LINE BY THE

FOLLOWING COURSES: SOUTH 1o 52' 32" WEST 1091,42 FEET;THENCE SOUTI{ 71'
50' 03" wEsT 23.70FEET; TI{ENCE SOUTH 27" 15',02" WEST 91,20 FEET; THENCE

SOUTH 23" 03'OO" EAST 45A36 FEET TO A1'' IRON PIPE AT THE WEISENSEE

SOUTHWEST CORNER; THENCE LEAVING SAID WEST LINE, NORTH 52o 50' 56"

WEST g13g FEET TO A 5/8" IRON ROD; THENCE NORTI-I 37" 46' 47" WEST 787 .89 FEET

TO A 5i8" IRON ROD; THENCE NORTH 6o 08' 42" WEST 172.49 FEET TO A 5/8" IRON

ROD; THENCE NORTH 14o 15' 26" WEST 312.80 FEET TO A 5/8" IRON ROD; THENCE

NORTI.I4O 55' 02" EAST 374,95 TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING, CONTAINING 13.T4

ACRES, MORE OR LESS.

trxhibitA-Page5Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon)

50



PARCEL 7: (ACCOLINTNO.: 153856, MAP NO.: 097000000700)

GOVERNMENT LOTS 3 AND 4 AhID THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE NORTHWEST

QUARTER OF SECTION 4, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE

WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 8: (ACCOIJNT NO.: 153872,MAP NO.: 097000001200)

TI.TE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 9,

TOWNS}ilP 9 SOUTH, RANCE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COTINTY, OREGON,

ALSO:

ALL OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN, POLK COLINTY, OREGON.

SAVE AND EXCEPT THENORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER
OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER AND THE

souTHwEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SAID SECTION 16.

PARCEL 9: (ACCOLINTNO.: 302470,MAP NO.: 097000002400)

TI-IE SOUTI{WEST QUARTER OF Trm NORTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 16,

TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COLINTY, OREGON,

PARCEL I 0: (ACCOUNT NO.: 302483,MAP NO. : 097000002700)

THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST

OF TIIE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COLINTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 11: (ACCOUNT NO.: 153g3g,MAP NO.: 097000003300)

Tr-rE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTI{WEST QUARTBR OF SECTION 26,

TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COTINTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 12: (ACCOUNTNO.: 753942,MAP NO,: 097000003400)

THE EAST ONE-HALF OF THE EAST ONE.HALF OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 9

SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COLINTY,

OREGON,

PARCEL 13: (ACCOLTNTNO.: 185714,MAP NO.: 097000003500)

THE NORTHEAST QUARTER AND THE SOUTI{ ONE-HALF OF SECTION 24,

TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTI.I, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COUNTY, OREGON,

PARCEL 14: (ACCOUNT NO.: 153955, MAP NO.: 097000003900)

THE EAST ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 26, TOWNSHIP 9

SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY,
OREGON.

ExhibttA-Page6Special Warranty Deed (Pollt'Countyr Oregon)

5l



PARCEL I 5 : (ACCOUNT NO. : 2987 13,MAP NO. ; 097000004200)

GOVERNMENT LOT 4IN SECTION 30, TOWNSTilP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE

WILLAMETTE MEzuDIAN, POLK COI.INTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 16: (ACCOI-INTNO;: I53g7I,MAP NO.: 097000004500)

GOVERNMENT LOTS 4 A}iD 5 IN SECTION 32, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST

OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 17: (ACCOUNTNO.: 302496,MAP NO.; 097000004800)

THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER, AND-THE

NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTIIEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 35, TOWNSHIP

9 SOUTH, NENCB.T WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COI"INTY,

OREGON.

PARCEL 18: (ACCOUNTNO.: 153984, MAP NO.: 097000005000)

THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER, T}IE EAST ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER,

TI{E SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE NORTI{EAST QUARTER AND THE SOUTHEAST

QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER, A!! IN SECTION 3s, TOWNSHIP 9

S-OUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY,

OREGON.

PARCEL 19: (ACCOI.INTNO: 185602, MAP NO.: 097250000100)

THE EAST ONE-HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 9

SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY'

OREGON.

PARCEL 20: (ACCOUNT NO.: 185615, MAP NO.: 097250000400)

THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE WEST ONE-HAI,F OF THE NORTI'IEAST

quanrgn IN SECTIbN 25, T6ryNSHIP 9 soUTH, RANGE 7 WEST oF THE

*nrartprrn MERIDIAN, PoLK couNTY, oREcoN'

PARCEL 21: (ACCOUNTNO.: 185628, MAP NO.: 097250000500)

BEGIMIING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH'

RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY' OREGON;

RUI{NING THENCE EAST 100 FEET; TI{ENCENOR'TH 436 FEET; THENCE WEST 100

rpei; THENCE SSUTH 436 FEET To THE PLACE oF BEGINNING.

PARCEL 22: (ACCOUNT NO.: 1 85660, MAP NO. : 097360000300)

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTI'I'

RANGE 7 WEST oF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIA}T{ IN POLK COUNTY, OREGON, AND

ituln'lll.rc r.toRrH ALoNc rHE sEcrIoN LINE 25.00 cHAINS; THENCE EAST 16'00

CHAINS; THENCE SOUTH 1'6,13 CHAINS TO THE SOUTH BOUNDARY OF COLINTY

ROAD Nb gZO; THENCE IN AN EASTERLY DIRECTION ALONG THE SOUTH

iioi.nmanv cjr SAID RoAD To A PoINT wHICH IS 6.78 CHAINS NORTH AND 38.31

cr{ArNS wEST oe THr sourHpasr coRNER oF sAID SECTION 36; TI{ENCE sourH

ExhibitA-Page7
Special Warrnnty Deed (Polk County, Oregol)

52



6.78 CHAINS TO A POINT ON THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID SECTION 36; THENCE WEST

ALONG TI{E SECTION LINE 4T.69 CHA,INS TO T}IE POINT OF BEGINNING.

SAVE AND EXCEPT:

BEGINNING AT A POINT ON THE SOUTH BOUNDARY OF COUNTY ROAD 976, SAID
POINT BEING 6.78 CHAINS NORTH A].trD 38.31 CHAINS WEST OF TTM SOUTHEAST

CORNER OF SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST, WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN; THENCE SOUTH 6.78 CHAINS TO A POINT ON THE SOUTI{ LINE OF

SECTTON 36; THENCE WEST 11.69 CHAINS; THENCE NORTH TO THE SOUTH

BOUNDARY OF COTINTY ROAD 976; THENCE EAST ALONG SOUTH BOUNDARY OF

COTINTY ROAD 976 TO POINT OF BEGINNING.

ALSO:

BEGINNING AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER OF SAID SECTION 36; THENCE EAST

ALON6 THE SECTION LINE 3630 FEET (s5 CHAINS) TO AN IRON PIPE; TIIENCE

souTH 2468.4 FEET (37,40 CHATNS) TO AN IRON PIPE AT THE NORTHWEST CORNER

oF T}M JOSEPH EDWARDS DONATION LAND CLAIM NO. 37; THENCE 468 FEET

WEST TO AN IRON PIPE; THENCE SOUTH 29o45'WEST 855 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE

WHICH IS 3 FEET NORTI{EASTERLY FROM THE EASTERLY EDGE OF THE EAST

FORK OF THE OLD SIMPSON LOGGING ROAD; THENCE ALONO EDGE OF SAID

ROAD SOUTH 4OO 15' EAST 405 FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS 3 FEET

NoRTHEASTERLY OF SAID EASTERLY EDGE OF ROAD; THENCE CONTINUING

ALONG SAID ROAD SOUTH 55" EAST 2OO FEET TO A POINT WHICH IS 3 FEET

NORTHEASTERLY FROM TI-IE EASTERLY EDGE OF SAID ROAD; THENCE SOUTH

4I"30'EAST 265 FEET ALONG SAID ROAD TO AN IRON PIPEN WHICH IS 33 FEET

NORTHEASTERLY FROM TI-IE EASTERLY EDGE OF SAID ROAD AND

APPNOXMATELY 40 FEET SOUTH OF A JUNCTION OF BAST AND WEST FORKS OF

SAID ROAD; TI-IENCE SOUTI{ 12o 30'EAST 126 FEET T0 A POINT WHICI{ IS 27 FEET

EASTERLY FROM EASTERLY EDGE OF SAID ROAD; THENCE SOUTH 8o 45'WEST

159 FEET TO A POINT WHICI{ IS 21 FEET EASTERLY FROM THE EASTERLY EDGE OF

SAID ROAD; THENCE SOUTH 16" EAST 346 FEET TO A POINT WI{ICH IS 19 FEET

EASTERLY FROM THE EASTERLY EDGE OF SAID ROAD; THENCE SOUTH 36. EAST

138 FEET TO AN IRON PIPE WHICH IS 20 FEETNORTH FROM THE CENTERIINE OF

POT,T COUNTY ROAD NO. 976 AND APPROXIMATBLY zzFEFT EAST FROM THE

JUNCTION OF THE CENTERLINE OF SAID COUNTY ROAD AND TI{E OLD SIMPSON

LOGGING ROAD; THENCE WESTERLY ALONG TIIE NORTH BOI.]NDARY OF THE

RIGHT OF WAY OF SAID COUNTY ROAD NO. 976 FOR A DISTANCE OF

APPROXIMATELY 2650 FEET TO A POINT AT THE JLTNCTION OF SAID RIGHT OF

WAY WITH THAT PROPERTY OWNED BY LEADBETTER LOGGING & LUMBER CO',

THENCE NORTH l0l4.42FEET (1s.37 CHAINS) ALONG SAID LEADBETTER

BOUNDARY TO A POINT: THENCE WEST 1056 FEET (16 CHAINS) ALONG THE

LEADBETTER BOUNDARY TO A POINT ON THE WEST SECTION LINE OF SAID

SECTION 36 (SAID pOrNT rS 25 CHAINS NORTH OF THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF

sArD SECTTON); THENCE NORTH 3630 FEET (ss CHAINS) ALONG THE SECTION

LINE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING,

DxhibitA-Page8Speclal Warranty Deed (Pollt County, Orcgon)

53



PARCEL 23: (ACCOUNTNO.: 298841,MAP NO;: 098000001900)

ALL OF SECTION 25, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN, POLK COLTNTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

THE NORTH ONE.}IALF OF THE NORTH ONE.HALF OF SECTION 36, TOWNSHIP 9

SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF TID WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COIINTY,
OREGON.

PARCEL 24: (ACCOIINT NO. 576008, MAP NO.: 098000000101)

GOVERNMENT LOTSI, 2, 3 AND 4 AND THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE NORTH ONE-

HALF OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUT}I, RANGE 8 WEST OF T}IE WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 25: (ACCOIJNTNO. 576009,IvIAP NO.: 098000000201)

THE SOUTH ONE-I{ALF OF SECTION 1, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE

W]LLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COTINTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 26: (ACCOUNT NO: 576010, MAP NO.: 098000000503)

THE EAST ONE.HALF OF SECTION 19, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RA}IGE 8 WEST OF THE

WILLAMETTE ME'zuDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, OF SECTION 20,

TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COUNTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

THE NORTH ONE HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSI{IP

9 SOUTH, RANGI, S WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COLINTY,

OREGON.

PARCEL 77: (ACCOIJNT NO. 574926,MAP NO.: 097000001001)

THE SOUTHEAST ONE-QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7

WEST OF THB WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, IN POLK COTINTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 28: (ACCOUNTNO. 576000, MAP NO.: 088000001406)

SECTION 27, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF TI{E WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

EXCEPTING TI{ERE,FROM THE SOUTH ONE.HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST ONE'

QUARTER.

ALSO:

TI-IE WEST HALF OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER, THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER'
AND THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 22,

Dxhibit A -Page 9Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon)

54



TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK
COIINTY, OREGON.

TOGETHER WITH A PEIISETUAL NON-EXCLUSIVE EASEN4ENT OVER THE EXISTING
ACCESS ROAD, AS IT IS NOW LOCATED, OR MAY BE RELOCATED FROM TIME TO

TIME, SERVING THE PROPERTY OVER LANDS OWNED BY MERIWETHER
NORTHWEST OREGON LAND & TIMBER, LLC AS SET FORTH IN SPECIAL
WARA}ITY DEED RECORDED APRIL 30, 2008, IN DOCUMENT NO. 2008.005597, BOOK
OF RECORDS FORPOLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PROPERTIES BURDENED BY T}IE EASEMENT ARE LOCATED IN SECTIONS 3I, 32

AND 33, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE MLLAMETTE MERIDIAN,
SECTIONS 22,27,28,34 AND 35, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE
WILLAMETTE MEzuDIAN, SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF TFIE

WILLAMETTE MERIDIA].I, AND SECTIONS 1 AND 2, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 8

WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COTINTY, OREGON.

ALSO TOGETHER WITH RIGHTS OF ACCESS CREATED BY THE EASEMENT
AGREEMENT FOR RIGHT OF WAY AND ROAD USE CREATED BY INSTRUMENT,
INCLUDING THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS THEREOF, BETWEEN BOISE CASCADE
COR.PORATION, WILLAMETTE INDUSTRIES A}ID RICHARDSON COMPANY OF

OREGON, RECORDED ruLY 18, 1985,IN BOOK I88, PAGE 380, BOOK OF RECORDS

FOR POLK COUNTY, OREGON, AND RIGI.IT OF WAY AND ROAD USE AGREEMENT,
INCLUDING THE TERMS AND PROVISIONS THEREOF, BETWEEN I"INITED STATES

DEPARTMENT OF INTERIOR, BUREAU OF LAND MANAGEMENT, AI.{D BOISB

CASCADE CORPORATION, RECORDED ruLY 15,1,973,IN BOOK 39, PAGE 720, BOOK

OF RECORDS FOR POLK COTINTY, OREGON.

ALSO TOGETHER WITH A RIGHT OF WAY TO USE ALL EXIST'ING ROADS AS SET

FORTH IN RECIPROCAL RIGHT OF WAY AGREEMENT RECORDED NOVEMBER 18,

2008, IN DOCIIMENT NO. 2008-013540, BOOK OF RECORDS IN POLK COIINTY,
OREGON.

PARCEL 29: (ACCOUNT NOS . 574927,576003 AND 576004, MAP NOS.: 097000001002,

o970oooo1 003 AND 097000001004)

THE NORTHWEST QUARTER AND THE SOUTH ONE-HALF OF SECTION 20,

TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE ? WEST OF THE WITLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COUNTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

TI-IE EAST ONE-HALF OP TI-IE EAST ONE-HALF, TI-IE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF

TI.IE NORTHEAST QUARTER, THE WEST ONE HALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER,
AND THE NORTHEAST QUARTER OF THE SOUTI-IWEST QUARTER ALL IN SECTION

30, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MBRIDIAN, POLK
COIJNTY, OREGON.

SAVE AND EXCEPT THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 9
SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF TI{E WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY,

ExhibitA*Page l0Special Warranty Deed (Pollt County, Oregon)

55



OREGON.

PARCEL 30: (ACCOLINTNOS. 576001 AND 576002,MAP NOS.: 097000000603 AND
0970000000604)

GOVERNMENT LOTS 1 AND 2,TIfrSOUTH ONE.HALF OF THE NORTHEAST

QUARTER AND THE SOUTH ONE.HALF, ALL IN SECTION 4, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH,

RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

GOVERNMENT LOTS I, 2 AND 3, THE EAST ONE.HALF OF THE NORTI{WEST

QUARTER, AND THE NORTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER, ALL
rN SPCTTON 30, TOWNSIIIP 9 SOUTII, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 31: (ACCOUNT NOS. 576006 AND s76A07, MAP NOS.: 097000002005 AND

097000002006)

THE WEST ONE-HALF OF THE EAST ONE-HALF, THE EAST ONE-H{,JF OF THE

NORTHWEST QUARTER, THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST

QUARTER AND THE WBST ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER, ALL IN
STCTTOhI26, TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANCE ? WEST OF THE WILTAMETTE
MERIDIAN, POLK COTINTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

GOVERNMENT LOTS 1,2,3,6,7,8,9, 10, 11,12,!3,14,15 AND 16,IN SECTION 32,

TOWNSHIP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK

COI'NTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

THENORTH ONE-HALF OF THE NORTH ONE-HALF, TI{E SOUTH ONE-HALF OF THE

NORTHEAST QUARTER AND THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE NORTHWEST

QUARTER, ALL IN SECTION 33, TOWNSHTP 9 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE

WTLANTETTE MERIDIAN, POLK COUNTY, OREGON'

PARCEL 32: (ACCOUNT NO. 57 5gg6,MAP NO. 087000004003)

THE SOUTH ONE-I{ALF OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 22, IN

TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIA}I IN POLK

COTINTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

THENORTH ONE-HALF AND THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 26, IN

TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN POLK

COUNTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

ALL OF SECTION 27,IN TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF TFIE WILLAMETTE

MERIDIAN IN POLK COTTNTY, OREGON.

ExhibitA-Page l1
Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon)

56



ALSO:

THE NORTI{WEST QUARTER, AND THE NORTH ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST

QUARTER OF SECTION 34, IN TOWNSHIP I SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE
WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

THE SOUTHBAST QUARTER OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER, THE NORTH ONE

HALF OF THE NORTHW'EST QUARTER, THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF THE
NORTHWEST QUARTER, THE NORTH ONE-HALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER,
AliD THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER, ALL IhI SECTION 23, IN TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH,
RANGE 7 WEST OF T}IE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN IN POLK COL]NTY, OREGON.

SAVE AND EXCEPT THAT CERTAIN TRACT OF LAND CONVEYED TO WILLAMETTE
VALLEY LUMBER COMPANY BY DEED RECORDED JULY I2,I92O IN VOLUME 70,

PAGE 5OO, DEED RECORDS FOR POLK COLINTY, OREGON.

ALSO, SAVE AND EXCEPT THAT PORTION OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED TRACT
LYING NORTHERLY AND WESTERLY OF THE CENTERLINE OF THE LITTLE
LUCKIAMUTE RIVER, POLK COI.INTY, OREGON.

ALSO: THE SOUTH ONE-I{ALF OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 23'

TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 7 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, POLK
COLTNTY, OREGON.

SAVE AND EXCEPT THAT PORTION OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED TRACT LYING
NORTI-IERLY AND WESTERLY OF THE CENTERLINE OF THE LITTLE LUCKIAMUTE
RIVER, POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

PARCEL 33 : (ACCOUNT NO. 57 5998, MAP NO. 88000000606)

cOVERNMENT LOTS 1,2,3 AND 4; THE SOUTI-I FIALF; AND THE SOUTI{ HALF OF

THE NORTH HALF, ALL IN SECTION 5, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE
WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN,IN POLK COLINTY, OREGON.

ALSO:

GOVERNMENT LOTS 1.,2,3,4,5,6,7, 8, AND 9; THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER; AND
THE SOUTI-I HALF OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER, ALL IN SECTION 6, TOWNSHIP 8

SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN, IN POLK COTINTY,

OREGON.

ALSO:

ALL OF SECTION 8, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8 WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE
MERIDIAN,IN POLK COITNTY, OREGoN.

PARCEL 34: (ACCOIINT NO. 575977, MAP No. 88000000603)

THE EAST HALF OF TFIE SOUTHWEST QUARTER AND THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER
oF THE SOUTI{WEST QUARTER OF SECTION 15, TOWNSHIP 8 SOUTH, RANGE 8

WEST OF THE WILLAMETTE MERIDIAN,IN POLK COLINTY, OREGON.

ExhibitA-Page12Special Warranty Deed (Polk County' Oregon)

)/



PARCEL 3 5 : (ACCOIINT NO. 575 999, IvIAP NO. 08 8000002 I 02)

TI{E SOUTH HALF A}lD THE SOUT}IWEST QUARTER OF TI"IE NORTI{EAST

QUARTER OF SECfiON 35, TOWNSHIP I SOUfiI, RAI{GE I WEST OF T}rE
WILLAMETTE MERTDIAII, IN POLK COUNTY, OREGON.

END OT EXHTBIT A

Dxhibit A-Page 13Speclat WarrantyDeed @olk County, Oregon)

58



EXHIBIT B
Title Exceptions

(a) Restrictions on the ability to build upon or use the Properly imposed

by any current or future development standards, building or zoning ordinances or any other law;

(b) Any subdivision or similar restriction arising under applicable law

(c) To the extent atract included in the Properly is bounded or traversed

by a river, stream, branch, lake or other water sourcel

(i) the rights, if any, of upper and lower riparian owners and the

rights of others to navigate such river or stream;

(ii) the right, if any, of neighboring riparian owners and the

public or others to use any public waters, and the right, if any, of the public to use

the beaches or shores for reueational purposes or to gain access thereto;

(iii) any claim of lack of title to the Property formerly or

presently comprising the shores or bottomland of navigable waters or as a result of
the change in the boundary due to accretion or avulsion; and

(iv) any portion ofthe Property which is sovereignty lands or any

other land that may lie within the bounds of navigable rivers as established by law;

(d) To the extent any portion of the Property is bounded or traversed by

a public road or maintained right of way, the rights of others, if any (whether owned in fee or by

easement), in and to any portion of the Property that lies within such road or maintained right of

way;

(e) Railroad tracks and related facilities, if ?tty (whether owned in fee

or by easement), and refated railroad easements or rights of way, if any, traversing the Property

and ihe rights of railroad companies to any tracks, siding, ties and rails associated therewith;

(0 Any restriction on the use of the Property due to environmental laws

or conservation easements, prouidrd that such conservation easements do not limit, prohibit, or

restriot in any way conrmeroial forestty, surface mining, and customary appufienant uses;

(g) Ad valorem property and other taxes (other than income taxes) that

are not delinquent;

(h) Any potential compensating, "roll back," additional or supplemenlal

taxes that may result from a redlsignation or reclassification of the Property by the applicable

county tax assessor's office resultinf (1) from the consummation of the transaction contemplated

by the agreement pursuant to which this Deed is being recorded, or (2) any act or omission of
drantee at or afterlhe closing pursuant to which this Deed is being recorded;

[xhibit B -Page 1Special Warranty Deed (Polk County, Oregon)

59



I

(i) Liens for taxes not yet due and payable;

(t) Easements, discrepancies or conflicts in boundary lines, shortages

in area, vacancies, excesses, encroachments or any other facts that a current and accurate survey

of the Properly would disclose;

(k) All oil, gas and other minerals or other substances of any kind or
character as may have beenpreviously reserved by or oonveyed to others in instruments of record,

and any leases of record concerning any of such oil, gas, other minerals or other substances in, on

or under the Properfy;

0) Rights, if any, relating to the construction and maintenance in
connection with any public utility of wires, poles, pipes, conduits and appurtenances thereto,

currently located on, under, above or across the Property;

(m) Reservations in federal patents and acts authorizing the same;

servitudes; 
(n) Indiantreaty or aboriginal rights, including easements and equitable

(o) Matters affecting title that are disclosed to Grantee and deemed

accepted by Grantee under the terms of any wtitten agreement between Grantor and Grantee;

(p) Rights of others under uuecorded agreements and real property

leases that are expressly assumed by Grantee in writing upon the making of this Deed;

(q) Rights of parties in possession of the Prope$y;

(r) Any claim of lack of access rights to fewer than 640 total acres

within the Property where (i) permission to access has been granted orally or in writing or (ii)
Grantor has otherwise historically e4ioyed access;

(s) Any condemnation in respect of the Property;

(t) The following matters affecting the Property:

(i) The property lies within and is subject to the levies and

assessments of the Polk Soil and Water Conservation District; and

(ii) Deed of Trust, Security Agreemento Assignment of Leases

and Rents and Fixture Filing and the terms and conditions thereofi Grantor: AP
Timber, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Trustee: First American Title
Insurance Company, Beneficiary: Metropolitan Life Insurance Company, a New
York corporation, dated: October 30, 2019, recordecl: October 3t,2019, recording
No.: 2019-012774,

END OF'EXHIBIT B

ExhibitB-Page2Speclal Warranty Deed (Polk County' Oregon)

60



​CONTRACT REVIEW SHEET​

​Staff Contact:​ ​Rosana Rivera​ ​Phone Number (Ext):​ ​2550​

​Department:​ ​Health Services​ ​Consent Calendar Date:​

​Contractor Name:​ ​Yamhill County Care Organization, Inc.​

​Address:​ ​807 NE Third Street​

​City, State, Zip:​ ​McMinnville, OR 97128​

​Effective Dates - From:​ ​January 01, 2026​ ​Through:​ ​December 31, 2026​

​Contract Amount:​ ​$353,298.24​

​Background:​
​Yamhill County Care Organization, Inc. (YCCO) and Polk County have partnered to give Safety Net Services​
​from BH and PH to YCCO members who are residents of Polk County. YCCO reimburses Polk County on​
​PMPM encounter rate for said safety net services and FFS basis at DMAP rates+30% for other billable​
​services.​

​Discussion:​
​Third Amendment to Agreement No. 23-40 with Yamhill County Care Organization (YCCO) for service access​
​to their enrolled members extends the current agreement an additional 12 months and sets a new term date​
​of 12/31/26. This amendment also lessens the annual budget due to decreased membership in the Polk​
​County area that went from 2508 to 2382 for a total budget decrease of $18,688.32. No PMPM rate change​
​or other language change noted.​

​Fiscal Impact:​
​This amendment awards $353,298.24 for the next calendar year. It is expected that revenue from this​
​amendment will cover expenses incurred to provide Safety Net Services to YCCO members living in Polk​
​County.​

​Recommendation:​
​It is recommended that Polk County sign this third amendment with Yamhill County Care Organization, Inc.​

​Copies of signed contract should be sent to the following:​
​Name:​ ​Rosana Rivera​ ​E-mail:​ ​hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us​

​Name:​ ​E-mail:​



1 

YCCO_ Provider Agreement 2026 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO THE LOCAL MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY, 
LOCAL PUBLIC HELATH AUTHORITY COORDINATED CARE ORGANIZTION 

AGREEMENT 

This Third Amendment to the Local Mental Health Authority, Local Public Health 
Authority Coordinated Care Organization Agreement (this “Third Amendment”) dated 
this J a nua r y  1 s t ,  2026, is entered by and between Yamhill County Care 
Organization, Inc. dba Yamhill Community Care (“YCCO”) and Polk County, acting 
by and through its Department of Health and Human Services (“County”).  

RECITALS: 

A. YCCO and the County entered into a Local Mental Health Authority; Local
Public Health Authority Coordinated Care Organization Agreement dated
January 1st, 2023.

B. The purpose of this Third Amendment is to amend the Local Mental Health
Authority, Local Public Health Authority Coordinated Care Organization
Agreement effective January 1st, 2026.

C. Capitalized terms used in this Third Amendment, but not otherwise defined in
this Third Amendment, shall have the same meaning as those in the Local
Mental Health Authority, Local Public Health Authority Coordinated Care
Organization Agreement (and corresponding amendments) and the CCO
Contract, in that order of priority.

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Effective Date.  The Effective Date of this Third Amendment shall be January
1st, 2026. 

2. Term. The Term of this Third Amendment shall be December 31st, 2026.

3. Modifications. The original Local Mental Health Authority, Local Public
Health Authority Coordinated Care Organization Agreement is hereby
amended, modified, and supplemented as set forth in this Third Amendment
and incorporated herein by this reference.

4. Ratification.  Except as expressly amended in writing and signed by both
parties, the Local Mental Health Authority, Local Public Health Authority
Coordinated Care Organization Agreement is hereby ratified and affirmed and
shall remain in full force and effect according to its terms.

Polk County Contract No. 25-212
(Amendment 3 to 23-40)



2 

YCCO_ Provider Agreement  2026 

 

Attachment C 
Compensation 

 
Rates below reflect the amounts YCCO is to pay to Polk County effective 1/1/2026. Payment 
structure shall be a flat monthly rate for Polk County residents only. These amounts include: 
 

Category PMPM Membership Annual 
Budget 

Monthly 
Payment 

LMHA/CMHP Safety Net (ORS 
430.630 and 414.153 (4) 
LMHA/CMHP required functions 
and outlined in this agreement) 

$10.27 

2,382 

$293,557.68 $24,463.14 

Mobile Crisis $0.60 $17,150.40 $1,429.20 

Peer/Community Services $0.52 $14,863.68 $1,238.64 

Public Health $0.59 $16,864.56 $1,405.38 

CHA/CHIP $0.19 $5,430.96 $452.58 

Administration fee $0.19 $5,430.96 $452.58 

Total $12.36 $353,298.24 $29,441.52 
 
The above stated monthly rate does not prohibit the Fee-For-Service billing of covered outpatient 
services, provided to YCCO members, that fall outside the activities and programs outlined above.  
 
Behavioral Health Services Rates – Reimbursement will be at one hundred percent (100%) of the 
current Oregon Medicaid Fee-for-Service (FFS) Schedule.  
 
Increased Payments for Team-Based High Acuity Medicaid Providers: 
 
Subject to the criteria below, YCCO will reimburse Participating Provider at ten percent (10%) 
above current Oregon Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS). Note that Healthier Oregon Program (HOP) 
members are excluded from the increased payments listed below. 
 
Participating Provider will be deemed to be a Team-Based High Acuity Medicaid Provider 
(“TBHA Medicaid Provider”) provided it meets one of the following criteria: 
 
A. A Community Mental Health Program providing one or more of the following services or 

programs: Assertive Community Treatment (ACT), Early Assessment and Support 
Alliance, and Intensive In-Home Behavioral Health Treatment; or 

 
 



3 

YCCO_ Provider Agreement  2026 

 

B. A Provider that meets all three of the following requirements: 
  

i. Has a Certificate of Approval from OHA; and 
ii. Derives at least fifty percent (50%) of its annual BH revenue from services provided 

to individuals enrolled in Oregon’s Medicaid program; and 
iii. Offers integrated, team-based care consisting of any combination of the following: 

On-staff psychiatric provider; integrated peer support; case management services; 
and individual, family, group, and community-based services, as clinically indicated. 

 
Co-Occurring Disorder (COD) – Services payment increase is applicable for BH Participating 
Providers approved by OHA for provision of integrated treatment of Co-Occurring Disorders 
(COD) pursuant to OAR 309-019- 0145. 
 
Payment will be calculated as follows: 
 

For BH Participating Provider of non-residential services who are Qualified Mental Health 
Associates, Peers, or Substance Use Disorders Treatment Staff as defined in OAR 309-019-0105, 
the payment increase is equal to ten percent (10%) of the applicable Behavioral Health Oregon 
Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) payment rate in effect on the date of service. 
 

For BH Participating Provider of non-residential services who are Qualified Mental Health 
Professionals, or Licenses Health Care Professionals or Mental Health Interns as defined in OAR 
309-019-0105, the payment increase is equal to twenty percent (20%) of the applicable Behavioral 
Health Oregon Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) payment rate in effect on the date of service. 
 

For BH Participating Provider of Substance Use Disorders (SUD) residential services, the 
payment increase is equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the applicable Behavioral Health Oregon 
Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) payment rate in effect on the date of service. 
 

Payments for this Tier shall be made effective the beginning date of the current calendar 
quarter following confirmation of OHA documented approval as a COD provider. 
 
Culturally and Linguistically Specific Services (CLSS) – is applicable for BH Participating 
Provider who meet OHA established criteria for delivery of CLSS. Payment level shall vary based 
on whether the provider is designated as Non-rural or Rural as defined in OAR Chapter 309, 
Division 65. 

 
Non-Rural BH Participating Provider will be paid an additional amount equal to twenty-

two percent (22%) of the applicable Behavioral Health Oregon Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) 
payment rate that is in effect on the date of the CLSS eligible service. 

 
 
 



4 

YCCO_ Provider Agreement  2026 

 

Rural BH Participating Provider will be paid an additional amount equal to twenty-seven 
percent (27%) of the applicable Behavioral Health Oregon Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) payment 
rate that is in effect on the date of the CLSS eligible service. 

 
Payments for this Tier shall be made effective the beginning date of the current calendar 

quarter following confirmation of OHA certification as a CLSS provider. Provider is responsible 
for submitting claims for CLSS eligible services with required payment related modifier. 

 
Applicable for BH Providers of SUD residential services, Applied Behavior Analysis (ABA), and 
Wraparound. Eligible Providers will be paid at no less than the applicable Behavioral Health 
Oregon Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) payment rate in effect on the date of service. 

 
Additional Provisions: 
• Service codes not encompassed by QDP requirements and/or Medicaid fee-for-service (FFS) 

maximum allowable rates will be priced, at YCCO’s discretion, by applying a comparable rate. 
The most current code sets will be recognized by YCCO in accordance with HIPAA 
regulations. Services lacking a relative value weight, an established price, or YCCO 
determined rate, will be paid at thirty-five percent (35%) of covered charges. 

• Revisions to fee schedules to accommodate quarterly and off-cycle updates will occur 
regularly and in a reasonable timeframe, given revisions to claims adjudication software. 

• All payments under this Compensation Exhibit are subject to the terms and conditions set forth 
in the Agreement, the Provider Manual and any applicable billing manual.



 

 

Page 5 – THIRD AMENDMENT TO LOCAL MENTAL HEALTH AUTHORITY, LOCAL PUBLIC 
HEALTH AUTHORITY COORDINATED CARE ORGANIZATION AGREEMENT 

 
IN WITNESS, WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Execution Date 
set forth below. 

 

POLK COUNTY 
BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

YAMHILL COUNTY CARE 
ORGANIZATION, INC. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Date: _______________________________ 
 

 
 
 
Seamus McCarthy, CEO 
807 NE Third Street 
McMinnville, OR 97128 
 
Date: _______________________________ 
 

 
 



​CONTRACT REVIEW SHEET​

​Staff Contact:​ ​Rosana Rivera​ ​Phone Number (Ext):​ ​2550​

​Department:​ ​Health Services: Public Health​ ​Consent Calendar Date:​

​Contractor Name:​ ​Oregon Health Authority​

​Address:​ ​500 Summer Street NE, E-03​

​City, State, Zip:​ ​Salem, OR 97301​

​Effective Dates - From:​ ​April 01, 2025​ ​Through:​ ​March 31, 2026​

​Contract Amount:​ ​$15,000​

​Background:​
​The Oregon Health Authority provided a funding opportunity for certified Reproductive Health Programs (RH​
​Program) to fill the gaps in access to clinical reproductive health services, education or counseling in​
​correctional facilities. Polk County Public Health applied in collaboration with Corrections and this IGA​
​186882 is that award from the state.​

​Discussion:​
​This RHCare Corrections grant is one time funding that will be used to offset costs for s​​alaries and​​benefits​
​of current staff providing medical services in the Jail,​​as well as the provision of other reproductive​​care​
​clinical services, which may include education, rapid STI tests, labs, condoms, and other clinical supplies.​

​Fiscal Impact:​
​The total for this award is $15,000​​as expected for​​FY 25-26. Funding will be used to support current staff​
​providing medical services in the Jail and does represent expansion at this time.​

​Recommendation:​
​It is recommended that Polk County sign this IGA 186882 with the Oregon Health Authority.​

​Copies of signed contract should be sent to the following:​

​Name:​ ​Rosana Rivera​ ​E-mail:​ ​hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us​

​Name:​ ​E-mail:​



186882-0 tlh Page 1 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

Grant Agreement Number 186882 

STATE OF OREGON 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL GRANT AGREEMENT 

You can get this document in other languages, large print, braille, or a format you prefer free of charge. Contact 

the Agreement Administrator at the contact information found below. We accept all relay calls. 

This Agreement is between the State of Oregon, acting by and through its Oregon Health Authority, hereinafter 

referred to as “OHA,” and 

Polk County 

850 Main Street 

Dallas, Oregon 97338 

Attention: Kari Wilhite 

Telephone: 503-623-9289 

E-mail address: hs.contract@co.polk.or.us and wilhite.kari@co.polk.or.us

hereinafter referred to as “Recipient.” 

The program to be supported under this Agreement relates principally to OHA’s 

Adolescent, Screenwise & Reproductive Health 

800 NE Oregon Street, Suite 805 

Portland, Oregon 97232 

Agreement Administrator: Lisa Ritchie-Martinez 

Telephone: 503-440-9627 

E-mail address: lisa.m.ritchie-martinez@oha.oregon.gov

1. Effective Date and Duration. This Agreement shall become effective on April 1, 2025 once all

required signatures in Section 6., below have been obtained. Unless extended or terminated earlier in

accordance with its terms, this Agreement shall expire on March 31, 2026. Agreement termination shall

not extinguish or prejudice OHA’s right to enforce this Agreement with respect to any default by

Recipient that has not been cured.

2. Agreement Documents.

a. This Agreement consists of this document and includes the following listed exhibits which are

incorporated into this Agreement:

(1) Exhibit A, Part 1: Program Description

(2) Exhibit A, Part 2: Disbursement and Financial Reporting

(3) Exhibit B: Standard Terms and Conditions 

(4) Exhibit C: Subcontractor Insurance Requirements 

There are no other Agreement documents unless specifically referenced and incorporated into 

this Agreement. 

b. In the event of a conflict between two or more of the documents comprising this Agreement, the

language in the document with the highest precedence shall control. The documents comprising

this Agreement shall be in the following descending order of precedence: this Agreement less all

exhibits, Exhibits B, A, and C.

3. Grant Disbursement Generally. The maximum not-to-exceed amount payable to Recipient under this

Agreement, which includes any allowable expenses, is $15,000.00. OHA will not disburse grant to

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C Polk County Contract No. 25-213

mailto:hs.contract@co.polk.or.us
mailto:wilhite.kari@co.polk.or.us
mailto:lisa.m.ritchie-martinez@oha.oregon.gov


 

186882-0 tlh Page 2 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

Recipient in excess of the not-to-exceed amount and will not disburse grant until this Agreement has 

been signed by all parties. OHA will disburse the grant to Recipient as described in Exhibit A. 

4. Subrecipient Determination. In accordance with the State Controller’s Oregon Accounting Manual, 

policy 30.40.00.104, OHA’s determination is that: 

 Recipient is a subrecipient      Not applicable 

Assistance Listings number(s) of federal funds to be paid through this Agreement: Not applicable 

5. Recipient Information and Certification. 

a. Recipient Information. Recipient shall provide the information set forth below.  

PLEASE PRINT OR TYPE THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION 

Recipient Name (exactly as filed with the IRS):  

 

Street address:  

City, state, zip code:  

Email address:  

Telephone: (         ) Fax: (         ) 

Recipient Proof of Insurance. Recipient shall provide the following information upon 

submission of the signed Agreement. All insurance listed herein must be in effect prior to 

Agreement execution. 

Workers’ Compensation Insurance Company:  ____________________________ 

Policy #:  __________________________  Expiration Date:  ________________ 

b. Certification. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, by signature on this Agreement, 

the undersigned hereby certifies under penalty of perjury that: 

(1) Recipient acknowledges that the Oregon False Claims Act, ORS 180.750 to 180.785, 

applies to any “claim” (as defined by ORS 180.750) that is made by (or caused by) the 

Recipient and that pertains to this Agreement or to the project for which the grant 

activities are being performed. Recipient certifies that no claim described in the previous 

sentence is or will be a “false claim” (as defined by ORS 180.750) or an act prohibited by 

ORS 180.755. The Oregon Attorney General may enforce the liabilities and penalties 

provided by the Oregon False Claims Act against the Recipient, in addition to any 

remedies that may be available to OHA under this Agreement;  

(2) The information shown in Section 5.a. “Recipient Information”, is Recipient’s true, 

accurate and correct information; 

(3) To the best of the undersigned’s knowledge, Recipient has not discriminated against and 

will not discriminate against minority, women or emerging small business enterprises 

certified under ORS 200.055 in obtaining any required subcontracts; 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C

riverar
Typewritten Text
Polk County

riverar
Typewritten Text
850 Main Street

riverar
Typewritten Text
Dallas, OR 97338

riverar
Typewritten Text
hs.contracts@co.polk.or.us

riverar
Typewritten Text
503

riverar
Typewritten Text
623-9289

riverar
Typewritten Text
(503

riverar
Typewritten Text
623-2731

riverar
Typewritten Text
SAIF

riverar
Typewritten Text
100034815

riverar
Typewritten Text
07/01/2026



186882-0 tlh Page 3 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

(4) Recipient and Recipient’s employees and agents are not included on the list titled

“Specially Designated Nationals” maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of

the United States Department of the Treasury and currently found at:

https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/SDN-List/Pages/default.aspx;

(5) Recipient is not listed on the non-procurement portion of the General Service

Administration’s “List of Parties Excluded from Federal procurement or Non-

procurement Programs” found at: https://www.sam.gov/SAM;

(6) Recipient is not subject to backup withholding because:

(a) Recipient is exempt from backup withholding;

(b) Recipient has not been notified by the IRS that Recipient is subject to backup

withholding as a result of a failure to report all interest or dividends; or

(c) The IRS has notified Recipient that Recipient is no longer subject to backup

withholding.

(7) Recipient’s Federal Employer Identification Number (FEIN) or Social Security Number

(SSN) provided to OHA is true and accurate. If this information changes, Recipient is

required to provide OHA with the new FEIN or SSN within 10 days.

RECIPIENT, BY EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT, HEREBY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT 

RECIPIENT HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT, UNDERSTANDS IT, AND AGREES TO BE BOUND 

BY ITS TERMS AND CONDITIONS. 

6. Signatures. This Agreement and any subsequent amendments may be executed in several counterparts,

all of which when taken together shall constitute one agreement binding on all parties, notwithstanding

that all parties are not signatories to the same counterpart. Each copy of the Agreement and any

amendments so executed shall constitute an original.

Polk County

By:

Authorized Signature Printed Name 

Title Date 

State of Oregon, acting by and through its Oregon Health Authority 

By: 

Authorized Signature Printed Name 

Title  Date 

Approved for Legal Sufficiency: 

Not required per OAR 137-045-0030(1)(b) 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C

https://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/sanctions/SDN-List/Pages/default.aspx
https://www.sam.gov/SAM


 

186882-0 tlh Page 4 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

EXHIBIT A 

Part 1 

Program Description 

1. Purpose 

OHA recognizes that people detained in corrections facilities often do not have access to clinical 

reproductive health services, education, or counseling. This Agreement funds RHCare agencies that 

have formal agreements with their local corrections facilities to provide these services. 

Services must be provided using a trauma-informed, inclusive, culturally responsive, and client-driven 

approach that helps clients clarify their needs and wants, promotes personal choice and risk reduction, 

and takes into account the cultural and socioeconomic factors of the client and psychosocial aspects of 

reproductive health. 

2. Program Activities  

Funding must be used for the purposes of ensuring access to clinical reproductive health services for 

individuals in a correctional facility. 

a. Allowable activities must include the provision of face-to-face counseling and education and 

clinical reproductive health services at a correctional facility.  

b. Clinical reproductive health services must include: 

• pregnancy testing with all options counseling; 

• preconception health services; 

• STI screening and treatment services in accordance with the 2022 Oregon STI Screening 

Recommendations and CDC's STI Treatment Guidelines 2021; and/or 

• contraceptive services. 

c. Recipient must provide supplies in accordance with the services offered and in alignment 

with RHCare Reimbursement Supply List. This may include: 

• either a limited or full range of contraceptive method 

• folic acid, and 

• STI treatment medications. 

d. Recipient must evaluate activities provided and include client input and correctional facility 

partners. 

3. Allowable Expenditures 

• Costs to start the project (e.g. staff time, medical supplies for exams) 

• Staff time spent on counseling, education, and provision of clinical services 

• Educational materials 

• Indirect rate related to the above (max 10% of the above) 

• Contraceptive methods, folic acid, STI tests, treatment medications, and other supplies related to 

clinical services provided. 

4. Unallowable Expense 

Funding may not be used for: 

• Abortion-related services.   

5. Additional Project Requirements: 

• Payment will be based on submission of quarterly invoices. 

• Recipient must submit a final report at the end of the project period. This report will need to 

incorporate an evaluation component that includes input from clients and corrections facility 

partners. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 5 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

EXHIBIT A 

 

Part 2 

Disbursement and Financial Reporting 

1. Disbursement of Grant Funds. 

a. During the period specified in Section 1., “Effective Date and Duration”, of this Agreement, 

OHA will disburse to Recipient, a maximum not-to-exceed amount as specified in Section 3., 

“Grant Disbursement Generally” of this Agreement, to be disbursed as follows: 

b. OHA will fund Recipient as follows: 

(1) Recipient must submit quarterly reimbursement requests. 

(2) OHA will disburse funds quarterly upon OHA approval of quarterly reimbursement 

requests. 

(3) Recipient must submit a final report 30 days after the close of the project period.  This 

report must incorporate an accumulation of all evaluations from clients and corrections 

facility partners. 

(4) Failure to submit reimbursement requests will result in non-reimbursement. 

2. Travel Expense 

No travel expenses are authorized or approved under this Agreement.  

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 6 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

EXHIBIT B 

Standard Terms and Conditions 

1. Governing Law, Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon without regard to principles of conflicts of law. Any 

claim, action, suit or proceeding (collectively, “Claim”) between OHA or any other agency or 

department of the State of Oregon, or both, and Recipient that arises from or relates to this Agreement 

shall be brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County for the 

State of Oregon; provided, however, if a Claim must be brought in a federal forum, then it shall be 

brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the United States District Court for the District of 

Oregon. In no event shall this Section be construed as a waiver by the State of Oregon of the jurisdiction 

of any court or of any form of defense to or immunity from any Claim, whether sovereign immunity, 

governmental immunity, immunity based on the eleventh amendment to the Constitution of the United 

States or otherwise. Each party hereby consents to the exclusive jurisdiction of such court, waives any 

objection to venue, and waives any claim that such forum is an inconvenient forum. This Section shall 

survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

2. Compliance with Law. Recipient shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, regulations, 

executive orders and ordinances applicable to the Recipient and this Agreement. This Section shall 

survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

3. Independent Parties. The parties agree and acknowledge that their relationship is that of independent 

parties and that Recipient is not an officer, employee, or agent of the State of Oregon as those terms are 

used in ORS 30.265 or otherwise. 

4. Grant Funds; Disbursements.  

a. Recipient is not entitled to compensation under this Agreement by any other agency or 

department of the State of Oregon. Recipient understands and agrees that OHA’s participation in 

this Agreement is contingent on OHA receiving appropriations, limitations, allotments or other 

expenditure authority sufficient to allow OHA, in the exercise of its reasonable administrative 

discretion, to participate in this Agreement. 

b. Disbursement Method. Disbursements under this Agreement will be made by Electronic Funds 

Transfer (EFT). Upon request, Recipient shall provide its taxpayer identification number (TIN) 

and other necessary banking information to receive EFT disbursement. Recipient shall maintain 

at its own expense a single financial institution or authorized disbursement agent capable of 

receiving and processing EFT using the Automated Clearing House (ACH) transfer method. The 

most current designation and EFT information will be used for all disbursements under this 

Agreement. Recipient shall provide this designation and information on a form provided by 

OHA. In the event that EFT information changes or the Recipient elects to designate a different 

financial institution for the receipt of any disbursement made using EFT procedures, the 

Recipient shall provide the changed information or designation to OHA on an OHA-approved 

form. OHA is not required to make any disbursement under this Agreement until receipt of the 

correct EFT designation and disbursement information from the Recipient. 

5. Recovery of Overpayments. Any funds disbursed to Recipient under this Agreement that are expended 

in violation or contravention of one or more of the provisions of this Agreement “Misexpended Funds” 

or that remain unexpended on the earlier of termination or expiration of this Agreement “Unexpended 

Funds” must be returned to OHA. Recipient shall return all Misexpended Funds to OHA promptly after 

OHA’s written demand and no later than 15 days after OHA’s written demand. Recipient shall return all 

Unexpended Funds to OHA within 14 days after the earlier of termination or expiration of this 

Agreement. OHA, in its sole discretion, may recover Misexpended or Unexpended Funds by 

withholding from payments due to Recipient such amounts, over such periods of time, as are necessary 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 7 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

to recover the amount of the overpayment. Prior to withholding, if Recipient objects to the withholding 

or the amount proposed to be withheld, Recipient shall notify OHA that it wishes to engage in dispute 

resolution in accordance with Section 14 of this Exhibit. 

6. Ownership of Work Product. Reserved.  

7. Contribution. 

a. If any third party makes any claim or brings any action, suit or proceeding alleging a tort as now 

or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260 (“Third Party Claim”) against a party (the “Notified Party”) 

with respect to which the other party (“Other Party”) may have liability, the Notified Party must 

promptly notify the Other Party in writing of the Third Party Claim and deliver to the Other 

Party a copy of the claim, process, and all legal pleadings with respect to the Third Party Claim. 

Either party is entitled to participate in the defense of a Third Party Claim, and to defend a Third 

Party Claim with counsel of its own choosing. Receipt by the Other Party of the notice and 

copies required in this paragraph and meaningful opportunity for the Other Party to participate in 

the investigation, defense and settlement of the Third Party Claim with counsel of its own 

choosing are conditions precedent to the Other Party’s liability with respect to the Third Party 

Claim. 

b. With respect to a Third Party Claim for which the State is jointly liable with the Recipient (or 

would be if joined in the Third Party Claim), the State shall contribute to the amount of expenses 

(including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and 

reasonably incurred and paid or payable by the Recipient in such proportion as is appropriate to 

reflect the relative fault of the State on the one hand and of the Recipient on the other hand in 

connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 

amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the State on 

the one hand and of the Recipient on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among 

other things, the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to 

correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 

amounts. The State’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to the same extent it would 

have been capped under Oregon law if the State had sole liability in the proceeding. 

c. With respect to a Third Party Claim for which the Recipient is jointly liable with the State (or 

would be if joined in the Third Party Claim), the Recipient shall contribute to the amount of 

expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually 

and reasonably incurred and paid or payable by the State in such proportion as is appropriate to 

reflect the relative fault of the Recipient on the one hand and of the State on the other hand in 

connection with the events which resulted in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 

amounts, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative fault of the 

Recipient on the one hand and of the State on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, 

among other things, the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity 

to correct or prevent the circumstances resulting in such expenses, judgments, fines or settlement 

amounts. The Recipient’s contribution amount in any instance is capped to the same extent it 

would have been capped under Oregon law if it had sole liability in the proceeding. 

This Section shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

8. Indemnification by Subcontractors. Recipient shall take all reasonable steps to require its 

contractor(s) that are not units of local government as defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to indemnify, 

defend, save and hold harmless the State of Oregon and its officers, employees and agents 

(“Indemnitee”) from and against any and all claims, actions, liabilities, damages, losses, or expenses 

(including attorneys’ fees) arising from a tort (as now or hereafter defined in ORS 30.260) caused, or 

alleged to be caused, in whole or in part, by the negligent or willful acts or omissions of Recipient’s 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 8 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

contractor or any of the officers, agents, employees or subcontractors of the contractor (“Claims”). It is 

the specific intention of the parties that the Indemnitee shall, in all instances, except for Claims arising 

solely from the negligent or willful acts or omissions of the Indemnitee, be indemnified by the 

contractor from and against any and all Claims. This Section shall survive expiration or termination of 

this Agreement. 

9. Default; Remedies; Termination. 

a. Default by Recipient. Recipient shall be in default under this Agreement if: 

(1) Recipient fails to perform, observe or discharge any of its covenants, agreements or 

obligations set forth herein;  

(2) Any representation, warranty or statement made by Recipient herein or in any documents 

or reports relied upon by OHA to measure compliance with this Agreement, the 

expenditure of disbursements or the desired outcomes by Recipient is untrue in any 

material respect when made; 

(3) Recipient (1) applies for or consents to the appointment of, or taking of possession by, a 

receiver, custodian, trustee, or liquidator of itself or all of its property, (2) admits in 

writing its inability, or is generally unable, to pay its debts as they become due, (3) makes 

a general assignment for the benefit of its creditors, (4) is adjudicated a bankrupt or 

insolvent, (5) commences a voluntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code (as now 

or hereafter in effect), (6) files a petition seeking to take advantage of any other law 

relating to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or composition or 

adjustment of debts, (7) fails to controvert in a timely and appropriate manner, or 

acquiesces in writing to, any petition filed against it in an involuntary case under the 

Bankruptcy Code, or (8) takes any action for the purpose of effecting any of the 

foregoing; or 

(4) A proceeding or case is commenced, without the application or consent of Recipient, in 

any court of competent jurisdiction, seeking (1) the liquidation, dissolution or winding-

up, or the composition or readjustment of debts, of Recipient, (2) the appointment of a 

trustee, receiver, custodian, liquidator, or the like of Recipient or of all or any substantial 

part of its assets, or (3) similar relief in respect to Recipient under any law relating to 

bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, winding-up, or composition or adjustment of 

debts, and such proceeding or case continues undismissed, or an order, judgment, or 

decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing is entered and continues unstayed and 

in effect for a period of sixty consecutive days, or an order for relief against Recipient is 

entered in an involuntary case under the Federal Bankruptcy Code (as now or hereafter in 

effect). 

b. OHA’s Remedies for Recipient’s Default. In the event Recipient is in default under Section 9.a., 

OHA may, at its option, pursue any or all of the remedies available to it under this Agreement 

and at law or in equity, including, but not limited to: 

(1) termination of this Agreement under Section 9.c.(2); 

(2) withholding all or part of monies not yet disbursed by OHA to Recipient; 

(3) initiation of an action or proceeding for damages, specific performance, or declaratory or 

injunctive relief; or 

(4) exercise of its right of recovery of overpayments under Section 5. of this Exhibit B. 

These remedies are cumulative to the extent the remedies are not inconsistent, and OHA may 

pursue any remedy or remedies singly, collectively, successively or in any order whatsoever. If a 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 9 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

court determines that Recipient was not in default under Section 9.a., then Recipient shall be 

entitled to the same remedies as if this Agreement was terminated pursuant to Section 9.c.(1). 

c. Termination. 

(1) OHA’s Right to Terminate at its Discretion. At its sole discretion, OHA may terminate 

this Agreement: 

(a) For its convenience upon 30 days’ prior written notice by OHA to Recipient; 

(b) Immediately upon written notice if OHA fails to receive funding, appropriations, 

limitations, allotments or other expenditure authority at levels sufficient to 

continue supporting the program; or 

(c) Immediately upon written notice if federal or state laws, regulations, or guidelines 

are modified or interpreted in such a way that OHA’s support of the program 

under this Agreement is prohibited or OHA is prohibited from paying for such 

support from the planned funding source. 

(d) Immediately upon written notice to Recipient if there is a threat to the health, 

safety, or welfare of any person receiving funds or benefitting from services under 

this Agreement “OHA Client”, including any Medicaid Eligible Individual, under 

its care. 

(2) OHA’s Right to Terminate for Cause. In addition to any other rights and remedies OHA 

may have under this Agreement, OHA may terminate this Agreement immediately upon 

written notice to Recipient, or at such later date as OHA may establish in such notice if 

Recipient is in default under Section 9.a. 

(3) Mutual Termination. The Agreement may be terminated immediately upon mutual 

written consent of the parties or at such other time as the parties may agree in the written 

consent. 

(4) Return of Property. Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason whatsoever, 

Recipient shall immediately deliver to OHA all of OHA’s property that is in the 

possession or under the control of Recipient at that time. This Section 9.c.(4) survives the 

expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

(5) Effect of Termination. Upon receiving a notice of termination of this Agreement or upon 

issuing a notice of termination to OHA, Recipient shall immediately cease all activities 

under this Agreement unless, in a notice issued by OHA, OHA expressly directs 

otherwise. 

10. Insurance. All employers, including Recipient, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 

656.027, shall comply with ORS 656.017 and shall provide workers' compensation insurance coverage 

for those workers, unless they meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). Recipient 

shall require subcontractors to maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit C, which is attached hereto. 

11. Records Maintenance, Access. Recipient shall maintain all financial records relating to this Agreement 

in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, Recipient shall maintain any 

other records, books, documents, papers, plans, records of shipments and payments and writings of 

Recipient, whether in paper, electronic or other form, that are pertinent to this Agreement, in such a 

manner as to clearly document Recipient’s performance. All financial records, other records, books, 

documents, papers, plans, records of shipments and payments and writings of Recipient whether in 

paper, electronic or other form, that are pertinent to this Agreement, are collectively referred to as 

“Records.” Recipient acknowledges and agrees that OHA and the Oregon Secretary of State’s Office 

and the federal government and their duly authorized representatives shall have access to all Records to 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 10 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

perform examinations and audits and make excerpts and transcripts. Recipient shall retain and keep 

accessible all Records for the longest of: 

a. Six years following final disbursement and termination of this Agreement; 

b. The period as may be required by applicable law, including the records retention schedules set 

forth in OAR Chapter 166; or 

c. Until the conclusion of any audit, controversy or litigation arising out of or related to this 

Agreement. 

12. Information Privacy/Security/Access. If this Agreement requires or allows Recipient or, when 

allowed, its subcontractor(s), to access or otherwise use any OHA Information Asset or Network and 

Information System in which security or privacy requirements apply, and OHA grants Recipient, its 

subcontractor(s), or both access to such OHA Information Assets or Network and Information Systems, 

Recipient shall comply and require its subcontractor(s) to which such access has been granted to comply 

with the terms and conditions applicable to such access or use, including OAR 943-014-0300 through 

OAR 943-014-0320, as such rules may be revised from time to time. For purposes of this Section, 

“Information Asset” and “Network and Information System” have the meaning set forth in OAR 943-

014-0305, as such rule may be revised from time to time. 

13. Assignment of Agreement, Successors in Interest. 

a. Recipient shall not assign or transfer its interest in this Agreement without prior written consent 

of OHA. Any such assignment or transfer, if approved, is subject to such conditions and 

provisions required by OHA. No approval by OHA of any assignment or transfer of interest shall 

be deemed to create any obligation of OHA in addition to those set forth in this Agreement. 

b. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties, 

their respective successors, and permitted assigns. 

14. Resolution of Disputes. The parties shall attempt in good faith to resolve any dispute arising out of this 

Agreement. In addition, the parties may agree to utilize a jointly selected mediator or arbitrator (for non-

binding arbitration) to resolve the dispute short of litigation. This Section shall survive expiration or 

termination of this Agreement.  

15. Subcontracts. Recipient shall not enter into any subcontracts for any part of the program supported by 

this Agreement without OHA’s prior written consent. In addition to any other provisions OHA may 

require, Recipient shall include in any permitted subcontract under this Agreement provisions to ensure 

that OHA will receive the benefit of subcontractor activity(ies) as if the subcontractor were the 

Recipient with respect to Sections 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 15, 16, and 17 of this Exhibit B. OHA’s 

consent to any subcontract shall not relieve Recipient of any of its duties or obligations under this 

Agreement. 

16. No Third Party Beneficiaries. OHA and Recipient are the only parties to this Agreement and are the 

only parties entitled to enforce its terms. Nothing in this Agreement gives, is intended to give, or shall be 

construed to give or provide any benefit or right, whether directly, indirectly or otherwise, to third 

persons any greater than the rights and benefits enjoyed by the general public unless such third persons 

are individually identified by name herein and expressly described as intended beneficiaries of the terms 

of this Agreement. This Section shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

17. Severability. The parties agree that if any term or provision of this Agreement is declared by a court of 

competent jurisdiction to be illegal or in conflict with any law, the validity of the remaining terms and 

provisions shall not be affected, and the rights and obligations of the parties shall be construed and 

enforced as if the Agreement did not contain the particular term or provision held to be invalid. This 

Section shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 11 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

18. Notice. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any communications between the 

parties hereto or notices to be given hereunder shall be given in writing by personal delivery, facsimile, 

e-mail, or mailing the same, postage prepaid to Recipient or OHA at the address or number set forth in 

this Agreement, or to such other addresses or numbers as either party may indicate pursuant to this 

Section. Any communication or notice so addressed and mailed by regular mail shall be deemed 

received and effective five days after the date of mailing. Any communication or notice delivered by e-

mail shall be deemed received and effective five days after the date of e-mailing. Any communication or 

notice delivered by facsimile shall be deemed received and effective on the day the transmitting machine 

generates a receipt of the successful transmission, if transmission was during normal business hours of 

the Recipient, or on the next business day if transmission was outside normal business hours of the 

Recipient. Notwithstanding the foregoing, to be effective against the other party, any notice transmitted 

by facsimile must be confirmed by telephone notice to the other party. Any communication or notice 

given by personal delivery shall be deemed effective when actually delivered to the addressee. 

OHA: Office of Contracts & Procurement 

 500 Summer Street NE, E-03 

 Salem, OR 97301 

 Telephone: 503-945-5818 

 Fax: 503-378-4324 

This Section shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

19. Headings. The headings and captions to sections of this Agreement have been inserted for identification 

and reference purposes only and shall not be used to construe the meaning or to interpret this 

Agreement. 

20. Amendments; Waiver; Consent. OHA may amend this Agreement to the extent provided herein, the 

solicitation document, if any from which this Agreement arose, and to the extent permitted by applicable 

statutes and administrative rules. No amendment, waiver, or other consent under this Agreement shall 

bind either party unless it is in writing and signed by both parties and when required, approved by the 

Oregon Department of Justice. Such amendment, waiver, or consent shall be effective only in the 

specific instance and for the specific purpose given. The failure of either party to enforce any provision 

of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver by that party of that or any other provision. This Section 

shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement. 

21. Merger Clause. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties on the subject 

matter hereof. There are no understandings, agreements, or representations, oral or written, not specified 

herein, regarding this Agreement. 

22. Limitation of Liabilities. NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE TO THE OTHER FOR ANY 

INCIDENTAL OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS 

AGREEMENT. NEITHER PARTY SHALL BE LIABLE FOR ANY DAMAGES OF ANY SORT 

ARISING SOLELY FROM THE TERMINATION OF THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY PART 

HEREOF IN ACCORDANCE WITH ITS TERMS. 

 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 12 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

EXHIBIT C 

Subcontractor Insurance Requirements 

Local Government shall require its first-tier Contractor(s) (Contractor) that are not units of local government as 

defined in ORS 190.003, if any, to: 

i) obtain the insurance specified under TYPES AND AMOUNTS and meet the requirements under 

ADDITIONAL INSURED, CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE, NOTICE OF 

CANCELLATION OR CHANGE, and CERTIFICATES OF INSURANCE before the Contractor(s) 

perform under contracts between Local Government and the Contractors (the "Subcontracts"), and 

ii) maintain the insurance in full force throughout the duration of the Subcontracts. The insurance must be 

provided by insurance companies or entities authorized to transact the business of insurance and issue 

coverage in the State of Oregon and that are acceptable to Agency. 

Local Government shall not authorize Contractors to begin work under the Subcontracts until the insurance is in 

full force. Thereafter, Local Government shall monitor continued compliance with the insurance requirements 

on an annual or more frequent basis. Local Government shall incorporate appropriate provisions in the 

Subcontracts permitting it to enforce Contractor compliance with the insurance requirements and shall take all 

reasonable steps to enforce such compliance. Examples of "reasonable steps" include issuing stop work orders 

(or the equivalent) until the insurance is in full force, terminating the Subcontracts as permitted by the 

Subcontracts, or pursuing legal action to enforce the insurance requirements. In no event, shall Local 

Government permit a Contractor to work under a Subcontract when the Local Government is aware that the 

Contractor is not in compliance with the insurance requirements. As used in this section, a "first-tier" Contractor 

is a Contractor with which the Local Government directly enters into a contract. It does not include a 

subcontractor with which the Contractor enters into a contract. 

If Contractor maintains broader coverage and/or higher limits than the minimums shown in this insurance 

requirement exhibit, Agency requires and shall be entitled to the broader coverage and/or higher limits 

maintained by Contractor. 

INSURANCE TYPES AND AMOUNTS 

WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND EMPLOYERS’ LIABILITY: 

All employers, including Contractor, that employ subject workers, as defined in ORS 656.027, shall comply 

with ORS 656.017 and shall provide Workers' Compensation Insurance coverage for those workers, unless they 

meet the requirement for an exemption under ORS 656.126(2). Contractor shall require and ensure that each of 

its subcontractors complies with these requirements. If Contractor is a subject employer, as defined in ORS 

656.023, Contractor shall also obtain Employers' Liability Insurance coverage with limits not less than 

$500,000 each accident. 

If Contractor is an employer subject to any other state’s workers’ compensation law, Contactor shall provide 

Workers’ compensation Insurance coverage for its employees as required by applicable workers’ compensation 

laws including Employers’ Liability Insurance coverage with limits not less than $500,000 and shall require and 

ensure that each of its out-of-state subcontractors complies with these requirements. 

As applicable, Contractor shall obtain coverage to discharge all responsibilities and liabilities that arise out of or 

relate to the Jones Act with limits of no less than $5,000,000 and/or the Longshoremen’s and Harbor Workers’ 

Compensation Act. 

  

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 13 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY: 

Contractor shall provide Commercial General Liability Insurance covering bodily injury and property 

damage in a form and with coverage that are satisfactory to the State of Oregon. This insurance must 

include personal and advertising injury liability, products and completed operations, contractual liability 

coverage for the indemnity provided under this Contract, and have no limitation of coverage to designated 

premises, project, or operation. Coverage must be written on an occurrence basis in an amount of not less 

than $1,000,000.00 per occurrence and not less than $2,000,000.00 annual aggregate limit. 

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY: 

 Required  Not required 

Contractor shall provide Automobile Liability Insurance covering Contractor’s business use including coverage for 

all owned, non-owned, or hired vehicles with a combined single limit of not less than $1,000,000.00 for bodily 

injury and property damage. This coverage may be written in combination with the Commercial General Liability 

Insurance (with separate limits for Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability). Use of personal 

Automobile Liability Insurance coverage may be acceptable if evidence that the policy includes a business use 

endorsement is provided. 

PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY: 

 Required  Not required  

Contractor shall provide Professional Liability Insurance covering any damages caused by an error, omission or 

any negligent acts related to the services to be provided under the Contract/Subcontract by the Contractor and 

Contractor’s subcontractors, agents, officers or employees in an amount not less than $1,000,000.00 per claim 

and not less than $2,000,000.00 annual aggregate limit. 

If coverage is provided on a claims made basis, then either an extended reporting period of not less than 24 

months shall be included in the Professional Liability Insurance coverage, or the Contractor and subcontractors 

shall provide continuous claims made coverage as stated below. 

EXCESS/UMBRELLA INSURANCE: 

A combination of primary and Excess/Umbrella insurance may be used to meet the required limits of insurance. 

When used, all of the primary and Excess or Umbrella policies must provide all of the insurance coverages 

required herein, including, but not limited to, primary and non-contributory, additional insured, Self-Insured 

Retentions (SIRs), indemnity, and defense requirements. The Excess or Umbrella policies must be provided on 

a true “following form” or broader coverage basis, with coverage at least as broad as provided on the underlying 

insurance. No insurance policies maintained by the Additional Insureds, whether primary or Excess, and which 

also apply to a loss covered hereunder, are to be called upon to contribute to a loss until the Contractor’s 

primary and Excess liability policies are exhausted. 

If Excess/Umbrella insurance is used to meet the minimum insurance requirement, the Certificate of Insurance 

must include a list of all policies that fall under the Excess/Umbrella insurance. 

ADDITIONAL COVERAGE REQUIREMENTS: 

Contractor’s insurance shall be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance. Contractor shall pay for 

all deductibles, self-insured retention (SIR), and self-insurance, if any. 

ADDITIONAL INSURED: 

All liability insurance, except for Workers’ Compensation, Professional Liability, Directors and Officers 

Liablity and Network Security and Privacy Liability (if applicable), required under the Subcontract must 

include an Additional Insured Endorsement specifying the State of Oregon, its officers, employees and agents 

as Additional Insureds, including additional insured status with respect to liability arising out of ongoing 

operations and completed operations, but only with respect to Contractor's services to be performed under the 

Subcontract. Coverage must be primary and non-contributory with any other insurance and self-insurance. 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C



 

186882-0 tlh Page 14 of 14 

OHA IGA Grant Agreement (reviewed by DOJ) Updated: 7/30/2024 

Regarding Additional Insured status under the General Liability policy, the State of Oregon requires Additional 

Insured status with respect to liability rising out of ongoing operations and completed operations. The 

Additional Insured Endorsement with respect to liability arising out of Contractor’s ongoing operations must be 

on or at least as broad as ISO Form CG 20 10 and the Additional Insured endorsement with respect to 

completed operations must be on or at least as broad as ISO form CG 20 37. 

WAIVER OF SUBROGATION: 

Contractor shall waive rights of subrogation which Contractor or any insurer of Contractor may acquire against 

the Agency or State of Oregon by virtue of the payment of any loss. Contractor must obtain any endorsement 

that may be necessary to affect this waiver of subrogation, but this provision applies regardless of whether or 

not the Agency or State of Oregon has received a waiver of subrogation endorsement from the Contractor or the 

Contractor’s insurer(s). 

CONTINUOUS CLAIMS MADE COVERAGE: 

If any of the required liability insurance is on a claims made basis and does not include an extended reporting 

period of at least 24 months, then Contractor shall maintain Continuous Claims Made coverage, provided the 

effective date of the Continuous Claims Made coverage is on or before the effective date of the Contract, for a 

minimum of 24 months following the later of: 

(i) Contractor’s completion and Agency/Local Government’s acceptance of all Services required under the 

Contract, or 

(ii) Agency or Contractor’s termination of this Contract, or 

(iii)The expiration of all warranty periods provided under this Contract. 

CERTIFICATE(S) AND PROOF OF INSURANCE: 

Local Government shall obtain from the Contractor a Certificate(s) of Insurance for all required insurance 

before Contractor delivers any goods and performs any Services required under this Contract. The Certificate(s) 

must list the State of Oregon, its officers, employees, and agents as a certificate holder and as an endorsed 

Additional Insured. The Certificate(s) of Insurance must also include all required endorsements or copies of the 

applicable policy language effecting coverage required by this Contract. If Excess/Umbrella Insurance is used 

to meet the minimum insurance requirement, the Certificate of Insurance must include a list of all policies that 

fall under the Excess/Umbrella Insurance. As proof of insurance, Agency/Local Government has the right to 

request copies of insurance policies and endorsements relating to the insurance requirements in this Contract. 

NOTICE OF CHANGE OR CANCELLATION: 

The Contractor or its insurer must provide at least 30 days’ written notice to Local Government before 

cancellation of, material change to, potential exhaustion of aggregate limits of, or non-renewal of the required 

insurance coverage(s). 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENT REVIEW: 

Contractor agrees to periodic review of insurance requirements by Agency/Local Government under this 

agreement and to provide updated requirements as mutually agreed upon by Contractor and Agency/Local 

Government. 

STATE ACCEPTANCE: 

All insurance providers are subject to Agency/Local Government acceptance. If requested by Agency/Local 

Government, Contractor shall provide complete copies of insurance policies, endorsements, self-insurance 

documents and related insurance documents to Agency/Local Government’s representatives responsible for 

verification of the insurance coverages required under this Exhibit. 

 

Docusign Envelope ID: 4519A8AF-5B3C-440F-B54A-7BFAF281144C




